## How Do Health Behaviours Acquired at School Translate into the Home? The Exploration of a Photovoice Project Among Students in APPLE Schools

by

Christine Marie McKernan

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Health Promotion

School of Public Health University of Alberta

© Christine Marie McKernan, 2016

#### ABSTRACT

The prevalence of sedentary behaviours, physical inactivity, and poor diets is a major public health concern in Canada and worldwide. School and home environments play a significant role in influencing such behaviours, and are ideal settings for health promotion interventions. Educational approaches such as Comprehensive School Health (CSH) recognize the importance of the partnership between the school and home to achieve optimal success. The purpose of this research was to utilize and explore a photovoice project which examined how students involved in a CSH intervention, the Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools (APPLE Schools), perceived the impact of this intervention on the home environment. Qualitative methods were used to address two objectives: 1) to gain an understanding of how students perceive the healthy eating and active living behaviours acquired in an APPLE School are translated into the home environment; and 2) to explore the utilization of a student-centered classroom photo project as a tool for teachers to determine if schoollearned behaviours are reaching the home.

Objective 1 employed focused ethnography as a method, and photovoice was used as the data generating strategy. Grade 5 and 6 students (n=25) from three APPLE Schools in the Edmonton area of Alberta, Canada participated in photo taking and subsequent one-on-one interviews which explored their perceptions of how involvement in APPLE Schools impacted their home environment. Interviews were structured as per the photovoice guidelines, and were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. Data collection and latent content analysis occurred concurrently. Student participants aided in the analytic process during a follow-up session to ensure accurate representation of the findings through member checking. Two main themes emerged: students are internalizing APPLE Schools philosophy, and students are driving change

ii

to create a healthy home culture. The underlying theme of leadership and decisional ownership was evident in the role that students took in addressing their health and the health of those around them. Results demonstrated that students were driving positive changes in the home environment through expanding their healthy habits by trying new things, catalyzing changes to the home food environment, engaging others in healthy eating and active living (HEAL) behaviours, and modifying unhealthy behaviours.

Objective 2 utilized a descriptive qualitative method in order to examine teacher perceptions of the process of a classroom photo project (objective 1, photovoice) as a means to determine if school-learned behaviours are reaching the home. Data generation involved analyzing researcher field notes and conducting follow-up teacher interviews (n=3). Through latent content analysis, three themes emerged which highlighted the strengths, weaknesses, and future directions of using the photovoice project in the classroom. Overall, the photovoice project appeared to be a feasible and valuable way for teachers to understand how school-learned behaviours translate home.

Knowledge translation and exchange (KTE) was achieved using a variety of techniques, including the creation of photobooks and parent newsletters, presentations to the students about the findings, one-on-one meetings with the teachers, presentations at academic conferences, and in the future, publication of manuscripts.

The findings of this research demonstrated the importance of fostering student leadership and decisional ownership in order to empower students to create, sustain, and drive changes in health behaviours within the home. As such, leadership should be considered a foundational element in the CSH framework. Further, health education teachers in all school settings could

iii

strive to foster student leadership and decisional ownership in order to ensure healthy lifestyle behaviours are adopted and sustained. Additionally, this research highlighted the capacity within children to promote HEAL and drive behaviour changes amongst their family members. Finally, the use of a novel photovoice project resulted in a means of exploring and strengthening the collaboration between the school and the home using solely student insight and involvement. This method can be used by teachers in a variety of settings to better understand and meet the diverse needs of students in order to optimize overall success.

## PREFACE

This Masters thesis is original work produced by Christine McKernan. The two research projects which are included in this thesis received ethics approval from the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board, under the project name "Implementation of Make the Healthy Choice the Easy Choice (APPLE Schools)" No. Pro00035108\_REN3 (original ethics obtained on December 6, 2012; renewed on November 4, 2015; renewal expires on November 6, 2016). The student photovoice project was also approved by the University of Alberta Faculty of Education Cooperative Activities Program (obtained July 7, 2015).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Kate Storey, for her ongoing support, assistance, and wealth of expertise. I have been truly fortunate to have had such a kind and hardworking mentor help me through the stages of this research project and in graduate school as a whole. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Paul Veugelers and Dr. Doug Gleddie, for sharing their knowledge and insight in order to aid in my success. I owe a great deal of gratitude to the APPLE Schools communities that partnered with me in this project: in particular the Grade 5 and 6 students and teachers, as well as the school administrators who support APPLE Schools and accommodated this research project. Further, I would like to thank the APPLE Schools management team (Jenn Flynn, Marg Schwartz, and Erin Wright) for their continuous support in ensuring this project was a success. I am also extremely grateful for the guidance and feedback provided by Harneet Chahal throughout the challenging stages of my analysis and writing. I would like to thank Alberta Innovates Health Solutions for funding this research under the Return on Investments for Kids' Health (ROI4Kids) collaborative research project. Finally, I would like to thank the following funders for their financial support in order to attend various research conferences: the University of Alberta Graduate Students Association; the University of Alberta Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research; the University of Alberta School of Public Health; and the Women and Children's Health Research Institute.

On a personal note, I would like to acknowledge my family for their ongoing love and encouragement. To my wonderful group of girlfriends, thank you for always being there with open ears and a glass of wine to get me through stressful times. Finally, I would like to acknowledge my boyfriend, Pierre, for keeping me on track with completing this thesis and reminding me of the adventures that lie ahead.

ABSTRACT	ii
PREFACE	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Overview	1
1.2 Child Health Status and Settings for Health Promotion in Canada	1
1.3 APPLE Schools	3
1.4 Rationale	4
1.5 Research Purpose and Objectives	6
1.6 Thesis Attributions	6
1.7 Thesis Organization	9
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	10
2.1 Child Nutrition, Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Status in Canada	10
2.1.1 Healthy eating among Canadian children: status, determinants and outcomes	10
2.1.2 Physical activity among Canadian children: status, determinants and outcomes	14
2.1.3 Sedentary behaviours among Canadian children: status, determinants and outcomes .	18
2.1.4 Overweight and obesity in Canadian children: status, determinants, outcomes and po	
solutions	21
2.2 The Role of the Home Environment in Promoting HEAL in Children	
2.2.1 The physical environment of the home	24
2.2.1.1 HEAL within the home: resource availability and accessibility	24
2.2.1.2 Physical environment of the neighbourhood	
2.2.2 The social environment of the home	
2.2.2.1 Parenting style	
2.2.2.2 Family customs and practices	
2.2.3 Socioeconomic status	
2.2.3.1 Neighbourhood SES	
2.2.3.2 Family SES	
2.3 The Child's Role in Shaping Family Behaviours in the Home	
2.3.1 The child's influence on HEAL in the home	

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3.2 Intergenerational learning	41
2.3.3 School programs translating into the home environment	41
2.3.3.1 General evidence from school-based programs and interventions	
2.3.3.2 Evidence from school-based health interventions	
2.4 Comprehensive School Health	
2.5 The Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools (APPL	E Schools) 50
2.5.1 APPLE Schools recruitment and participation	
2.5.2 Research and evaluation	51
2.5.2.1 Outcome evaluation	
2.5.2.2 Process evaluation	
2.6 Study Significance	
CHAPTER 3: COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL HEALTH AND ACHIEVING CHANGE ENVIRONMENT: INSIGHTS FROM A STUDENT PHOTOVOICE PROJECT	
3.1 Background	
3.1.1 Setting: APPLE Schools	
3.2 Methods	61
3.2.1 Research paradigm and theoretical perspective	61
3.2.2 Research method and approach	
3.2.2.1 Focused ethnography	
3.2.3 Participants	
3.2.3.1 School selection	
3.2.3.2 Sampling	64
3.2.3.4 Ethics	
3.2.4 Data generating strategy	
3.2.4.1 Photovoice	
3.2.4.2 Stages of data collection	
3.2.4.2.1 Classroom brainstorming & photo-taking	
3.2.4.2.2 Interviews.	
3.2.4.2.3 Member-checking.	70
3.2.4.3 Field notes & reflective journaling	
3.2.5 Data analysis	71
3.2.6 Rigour	73
3.3 Results	75

3.3.1 Student leadership and decisional ownership	76
3.3.2 Students are internalizing the APPLE Schools philosophy	77
3.3.2.1 Health habits are rooted in school experiences	78
3.3.2.2 Commitment to healthy lifestyle habits for long term success	81
3.3.3 Students are driving change to create a healthy home culture	82
3.3.3.1 Empowerment to expand healthy habits by trying new things	82
3.3.3.2 Catalyzing changes in the home food environment	85
3.3.3.3 Engaging others in HEAL	87
3.3.3.4 Awareness and modification of unhealthy choices	90
3.3.4 Summary	93
3.4 Discussion	94
3.4.1 Implications	100
3.4.2 Strengths and limitations	101
3.4.3 Conclusion	102
CHAPTER 4: USING A STUDENT-CENTERED PHOTOVOICE PROJECT TO EXPLORE HOW SCHOOL HEALTH BEHAVIOURS TRANSLATE HOME: STRENGTHS, LIMITATIONS, AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	104
4.1 Background	104
4.1.1 Setting: APPLE Schools	106
4.1.2 The photovoice project	107
Step 1: Management team meeting	108
Step 2: Preliminary administrator and teacher meeting	108
Step 3: Classroom session #1	109
Step 4: Student interviews	110
Step 5: Member checking	110
Step 6: Dissemination of findings	111
4.2 Methods	111
4.2.1 Methodological approach	111
4.2.2 Participants and ethics	112
4.2.3 Data generation	112
4.2.3.1 Teacher interviews	112
4.2.3.2 Field notes	113
4.2.4 Analysis	114
4.3 Results	115

4.3.1 Strengths of the photovoice project	
4.3.1.1 Genuine student participation	
4.3.1.2 Strengthened communication between the school and home	
4.3.1.3 Addressing multiple learning domains	
4.3.2 Limitations of the photovoice project	
4.3.2.1 Cost	
4.3.2.2 Privacy	
4.3.2.3 Parental support	
4.3.3 Future directions of the photovoice project	
4.4 Discussion	
4.4.1 Limitations	
4.4.2 Conclusion	
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	
5.1 Summary of Findings	
5.1.1 Objective 1 summary	
5.1.2 Objective 2 summary	
5.2 Interpretation of Findings	
5.3 Strengths and Limitations	
5.4 Implications	
5.4.1 Recommendations for Future Research	146
5.4.2 Recommendations for Practice	147
5.5 Knowledge Translation and Exchange	
REFERENCES	151
APPENDIX A: Project Information Letter for Teachers and Administrators	
APPENDIX B: Grade 5 Curricular Links	
APPENDIX C: Parent Information Letter	
APPENDIX D: Parental Consent Form	
APPENDIX E: Classroom Brainstorming Session Overview	
APPENDIX F: Photo-taking Instructions	
APPENDIX G: Interview Guide	
APPENDIX H: School Newsletter with Project Results	
APPENDIX I: Photobooks	
APPENDIX J: Teacher Information Letter and Consent Form	

APPENDIX K: Teacher Interview Guide
-------------------------------------

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Stages of data collection	68
Figure 2. Results of a photovoice project examining the impact of APPLE Schools on the home	
environment	76
Figure 3. "Putting first things first"	77
Figure 4. "Growing milk"	78
Figure 5. "Cook"	79
Figure 6. "Nice, tasty drink"	83
Figure 7. "Healthy strategies"	85
Figure 8. "Always have a rainbow lunch"	87
Figure 9. "Basketball with brothers"	89
Figure 10. "We're supposed to stay active"	91
Figure 11. "A healthy snack"	92
Figure 12. Photovoice project timeline for school "A"	107

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

APPLE Schools: Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools

AVHPSP: Annapolis Valley Health Promoting Schools Project

BMI: Body Mass Index

CBPR: Community-Based Participatory Research

CHMS: Canadian Health Measures Survey

CSEP: Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology

CSH: Comprehensive School Health

DPA: Daily Physical Activity

FTE: Full-Time Equivalent

HEAL: Healthy Eating and Active Living

JCSH: Joint Consortium for School Health

KTE: Knowledge Translation and Exchange

MVPA: Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity

PHAC: Public Health Agency of Canada

REAL Kids Alberta: Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta

ROI4Kids: Return on Investment for Kids' Health

SES: Socioeconomic Status

SHF: School Health Facilitator

SPH: School of Public Health

WHO: World Health Organization

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Overview**

Chapter one serves to introduce and outline the thesis. This chapter will review the rationale for the research, including current lifestyle behaviours in Canadian children and health promotion settings in Canada, and provide an introduction to the Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools (APPLE Schools). As well, this chapter will provide an overview of the research purpose and objectives, thesis attributions, and overall organization of this document.

#### 1.2 Child Health Status and Settings for Health Promotion in Canada

The prevalence of poor diets, physical inactivity, and sedentary behaviour in Canadian children continues to be a public health problem (Freeman, Coe, & King, 2014). The majority of children's diets do not reflect that of Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide (Health Canada, 2011b, 2012), physical activity levels do not reach the age-recommended minimums advised by the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines (Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2011a; Colley et al., 2011), and sedentary behaviours exceed that of the Canadian Sedentary Behaviours Guidelines (Barnes, Colley, & Tremblay, 2012; Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2011b). As such, the risk of both short and long term adverse health outcomes such as diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, and certain cancers are increased, and the overall prevalence of overweight and obesity in Canadian children continues to grow (Roberts, Shields, de Groh, Aziz, & Gilbert, 2012; Sahoo et al., 2015). A variety of complex and interconnected factors influence lifestyle behaviours in children, and as such changing these behaviours is often difficult.

Both the school and the home are ideal settings for health promotion efforts targeting children, as kids spend the majority of their time within these two places (Epstein, 2011). However, multifaceted health promotion interventions which incorporate both environments simultaneously are particularly vital for influencing lifestyle behaviours, as children's health decisions are supported from multiple individuals and locations (Langford et al., 2015b; Sobol-Goldberg, Rabinowitz, & Gross, 2013; Wang et al., 2013).

In recent years, health promotion efforts have increasingly focused on the school setting, as children can be broadly reached through schools (Fung et al., 2012; World Health Organization, 1998). From an educational standpoint it is important to link health behaviours to educational outcomes to rationalize the time spent promoting health. Children's diet quality is associated with academic performance (Florence, Asbridge, & Veugelers, 2008), and research suggests that physical activity may enhance students' academic performance (Dwyer, Sallis, Blizzard, Lazarus, & Dean, 2001; Faught, Montemurro, Storey, & Veugelers, 2016). Studies also conclude that despite less time being spent studying these subjects, increasing the amount of class time allocated to physical activity results in students maintaining their academic performance (Ahamed et al., 2007; Trudeau & Shephard, 2008), while also getting the added health benefits that result from being active (Bailey, 2006). As such, there is good evidence to justify health promotion efforts in schools. However, in order for school-based health promotion interventions to be effective, it is important for such effects to be supported by the home. Although deemed important, the relationship between the school and home is often difficult to establish and measure (Baranowski et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006; Reynolds et al., 2000; Sormunen, Tossavainen, & Turunen, 2011).

Relevant research examining the translation of school-learned behaviours into the home is lacking and primarily includes studies which targeted school-based environmental programs (Ballantyne, Fien, & Packer, 2001b; Larsson, Andersson, & Osbeck, 2010; Legault & Pelletier, 2000; Vaughan, Gack, Solorazano, & Ray, 2003). Given the increase in health promotion interventions in schools and the potential impact these interventions can have on the home environment, it is important to examine if topics learned in school are translated home. Student development is maximized when the school and home work together to support children's behaviours (Cox, 2005; Epstein, 1992), and comprehensive interventions which include parent support are linked to greater success (Sobol-Goldberg et al., 2013). It is important maximize the effectiveness of school-based health promotion initiatives in order to justify the investment of time, money, and resources from schools. Understanding the translation of school-based interventions into the home is therefore of great value from both a research and educational standpoint. However, there is limited research regarding the extent to which school-based health promotion projects translate into the home environment.

## **1.3 APPLE Schools**

APPLE Schools is a health promotion intervention that exists in 50 school communities across the province of Alberta, Canada. APPLE Schools takes a comprehensive school health (CSH) approach to health promotion in order to create, support, and sustain healthy school communities in an integrated and holistic manner (APPLE Schools, 2008). Schools aims to shift their entire culture to one that embraces healthy eating and active living (HEAL), and engages stakeholders in the school, home, and community (APPLE Schools, 2015; Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). A unique characteristic of APPLE Schools is that schools are initially provided with dedicated staff time in order to support and create healthy changes within the

school. In collaboration with the school community, school health facilitators (SHF) are responsible for learning and understanding what the specific health needs of the school are, and engage students, teachers, administrators, and parents to facilitate a shift in school culture. As such, each APPLE School is distinctly unique as the intervention is based on schools' contextual needs and requirements.

Extensive process and outcome evaluation of APPLE Schools has been conducted in order to determine the effectiveness of the project and to understand a variety of stakeholder roles in the project's implementation and sustainability (Fung et al., 2012; Roberts et al., 2015; Storey, Cunningham, Spitters, Schwartz, & Veugelers, 2012b; Storey, Spitters, Cunningham, Schwartz, & Veugelers, 2011; Tran, Ohinmaa, Kuhle, Johnson, & Veugelers, 2014; Vander Ploeg, Maximova, McGavock, Davis, & Veugelers, 2014a). APPLE Schools has been successful in promoting HEAL behaviours in children, and as such has been recognized by the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC): Canadian Best Practices Portal and the National Institutes of Health: Research-tested Intervention Programs (National Cancer Institute: Research Tested Intervention Programs, 2015; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2011). Previous studies involving the implementation of APPLE Schools have explored the roles of the teachers, SHF, and administrators (Roberts et al., 2015; Storey et al., 2012b; Storey, Montemurro, Schwartz, Farmer, & Veugelers, 2015; Storey et al., 2011). These studies have provided important insight into our understanding of each stakeholder position. The role of the student is vital yet thus far unexplored, therefore further investigation into the students' perspectives is necessary in order to maximize implementation success.

#### **1.4 Rationale**

Implementation research is necessary to inform and improve APPLE Schools by providing an understanding of the process of implementation as well as to determine the role of key stakeholders within the project. Students' needs influence and shape the implementation of APPLE Schools, and as such an exploration into their perspectives on the project is highly warranted. The school and home greatly influence and determine child health behaviours, and it is also known that children's influence within the home environment has become more significant over time (Epstein, 2011; Flurry, 2007). Further, school and home partnerships are essential in order to promote the utmost success for both students and teachers (Epstein, 1992; Starkman, 2006). It is thought that because the CSH framework recognizes the importance of integrated school, home, and community support (Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health, 2008), efforts in the school to promote health will be translated to the home environment. However, it has been frequently recognized that the most challenging objective for CSH projects is engaging family members in these interventions (Langford, Bonell, Jones, & Campbell, 2015a). As APPLE Schools recognize the importance of multi-component health promotion efforts targeting the school, home, and community, students may play a key role in facilitating the translation of health promoting behaviours into the home. The relationship between APPLE Schools and the home environment must therefore be explored in order to determine the extent to which health behaviours learned at school are present within the home environment.

When teachers understand the unique and diverse needs of their students, they are able to adapt their teaching styles and lessons to foster greater student success (Starkman, 2006). Parent-teacher relations are typically utilized as the central means for schools to collaborate with the home (Crozier, 1998), however these relations are often infrequent and do not capture the needs of the entire student body (Bergnehr, 2015). Exploring student-centered approaches to

understanding this relationship may provide valuable insight into how we can strengthen the partnership between school and home. Incorporating students' perceptions may also allow for insight into if and how behaviours acquired at school are translated into the home. An exploration of novel approaches to incorporating student understandings is therefore required in order to investigate this phenomenon in addition to relying purely on teacher-parent relations.

#### **1.5 Research Purpose and Objectives**

This research will be driven by qualitative inquiry and will align with a participatory approach. Through focused ethnography, students' perspectives will be gathered using the photovoice data generating strategy (which involves photo taking and semi-structured interviews) in order to explore how students perceive their involvement in a CSH project, APPLE Schools, impacts select health behaviours in the home environment. A descriptive qualitative method will be used to explore the implications of using photovoice from both an educational and research standpoint. Detailed researcher field notes, journaling, and follow-up interviews with the teachers will serve as the data generating strategy. The research objectives of this thesis are to:

- Gain an understanding of how students perceive the HEAL behaviours acquired in an APPLE School are translated into the home environment.
- 2. Explore the utilization of a student-centered classroom photo project as a tool for teachers to determine if school-learned behaviours are reaching the home.

## **1.6 Thesis Attributions**

This thesis is a component of my Master of Science in Health Promotion from the University of Alberta School of Public Health (SPH). The SPH has worked closely with APPLE Schools since 2008, as an SPH research team was responsible for the initial conceptualization of the

intervention and is tasked with conducting the ongoing research and evaluation. Since its inception, a strong partnership between APPLE Schools and the SPH has been maintained. This relationship resulted in support and insight from the APPLE Schools management team throughout the process of conducting my thesis research. APPLE Schools has proven to be an effective school-based health promotion intervention; research has demonstrated its impact on improving physical activity levels and dietary patterns in children, as well as decreasing the prevalence of overweight and obesity in children who attend such schools (Fung et al., 2012). Due to the strength of previous research to support the effectiveness of APPLE Schools on children's HEAL behaviours, I have had the unique opportunity to explore a topic that is novel to both our understanding of CSH specifically, and our broad understandings of school-based health promotion interventions.

My thesis research fits within a larger five year research project titled Return on Investment for Kids' Health (ROI4Kids). ROI4Kids consists of six objectives, and aims to evaluate schoolbased health promotion projects in order to evaluate their effectiveness, estimate their costsavings, optimize their implementation, and enhance knowledge dissemination and use (School of Public Health, 2016a). Specifically, my findings contribute to objective 3: optimizing the process of implementing and delivering school health programs and policies (School of Public Health, 2016b). My initial research question was formulated with this objective in mind, in addition to understanding the values of CSH and APPLE Schools and the scope of previous research conducted on the project. Objective 1 aligns with focused ethnography, because it involves the exploration of the culture of a defined population of interest, APPLE Schools, in the context of a specific research question. I chose to utilize photovoice as my data generating strategy as the approach has been used successfully in previous participatory research with

children, it aligns with the community-based participatory research (CBPR) nature of APPLE Schools, and through discussions with my supervisor, we agreed that using visual means may be an effective way to capture children's perceptions in order to explore the research question. My research intends to add to the overall understandings of APPLE Schools by exploring the mechanisms and extent to which behaviours fostered in an APPLE School are translated into the home. These findings will provide greater insight into the process of successfully implementing both APPLE Schools and CSH projects in general.

The concept of objective 2 emerged as the photovoice project was being conceptualized. As well, in conducting the photovoice project I was impressed with the level of student engagement and quality of responses that were provided. It was clear that the use of photovoice was pivotal to the success of the research. After discussions with my committee about the photovoice project, we agreed that photovoice may be a feasible way for teachers and educators in general to determine how school lessons are translated home. As such, I contacted the teachers for follow-up interviews in order to gather their overall feedback about participating in the project in additional to my field notes and journals.

The two research projects within this thesis were shaped, conducted, and completed by myself as original work. With the support and guidance of my supervisor and committee members, I was responsible for conceptualizing the original idea for this research, formulating the research questions, deciding on the methods, obtaining ethical approval, and conducting the data collection, analysis, and writing. As such, all stages of this research were driven by my decisions and actions. I facilitated each of the sessions with the school communities, and was actively involved in all stages of the planning and decision-making processes. All forms of knowledge translation were produced by myself and distributed with my knowledge and

agreement. As a result, this thesis presents original data that was developed and conducted in its entirety by myself and my thesis committee.

#### **1.7 Thesis Organization**

This paper-based thesis is organized into five chapters, of which chapters three and four represent stand-alone manuscripts which will independently address the above two objectives. Chapter two provides a comprehensive review of pertinent literature relating to this thesis topic. Topics in the literature review include: the status, determinants, and outcomes of select child health behaviours (diet, physical activity, and sedentary behaviours); the role of the home environment in influencing child health behaviours; the child's role in influencing and changing the home environment; an exploration of the CSH framework; the intervention of interest: APPLE Schools; and finally, the significance of the current thesis research. This thesis concludes with a final chapter which summarizes the full body of literature, research findings, and provides implications and an exploration of future directions for this research. References and appendices are located at the end of the thesis.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Child Nutrition, Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Status in Canada

Eating a healthy diet and being physically active are important lifestyle behaviours that must be supported in children and youth as a means of improving growth and development, health status, and overall quality of life (Health Canada, 2014; Sparling, Franklin, & Hill, 2013). Monitoring sedentary behaviours is also of great importance, as reduced sedentary behaviours are associated with positive health effects which are independent to that of simply increasing physical activity levels (Tremblay, Colley, Saunders, Healy, & Owen, 2010; Tremblay et al., 2011b). By not adhering to healthy lifestyles, many children and youth experience poor health outcomes, lower quality of life, and are at an increased risk of overweight and obesity (Lobstein et al., 2015). The sections below will provide an overview of the overall nutrition, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour status of Canadian children and youth, as well as the determinants and health implications of these lifestyle behaviours and trends.

#### 2.1.1 Healthy eating among Canadian children: status, determinants and outcomes

Canadians are encouraged to eat a healthy and balanced diet as per the age-specific guidelines set by Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide (Health Canada, 2011b). Canada's Food Guide was introduced in 1992, and since then has evolved into its most current guidelines released in 2007 (Katamay et al., 2007). The present daily intake recommendations for children aged 9-13 years include the following: 6 servings of Vegetables and Fruit, 6 servings of Grain Products, 3-4 servings of Milk and Alternatives, and 1-2 servings of Meat and Alternatives (Health Canada, 2011b). Health Canada also provides healthy eating recommendations to parents such as to provide children with small, nutritious snacks and meals throughout the day; offer a variety of foods from each of the food groups; use water to quench thirst; be patient with

a child's food choices and allow for autonomy in food selection; and be a good role model for healthy eating (Health Canada, 2011a). Unfortunately, strong evidence supports the fact that the diets of Canadian children do not reflect these current guidelines (Black & Billette, 2013; Garriguet, 2007; Shields, 2005, 2006). Recent results from a provincial health survey of Grade 5 children in Alberta, Canada concluded that the following percentage of children were meeting the recommended number of food guide servings per day: Vegetables and Fruit, 30%; Grain Products, 15%; Milk and Alternatives, 54%; Meat and Alternatives, 84% (REAL Kids Alberta, 2015). This evidence demonstrates the fact that diet trends in Canadian children and youth are of public health concern. The Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) conducted in 2004 concluded that children and adolescents have major improvements to make in their dietary habits. Between 60% and 70% of children and youth do not consume enough Vegetables and Fruit, while only one third of children and youth consume the recommended servings of Milk and Alternatives per day (Garriguet, 2007). It is important to note that these conclusions are based on comparisons with the previous food guidelines in Canada, which have been since updated in 2007 (Katamay et al., 2007). Results from the CCHS also indicated that 20% of Canadian children aged 1 to 8 years and 30% of adolescence aged 9 to 18 years were exceeding their daily energy intake (Health Canada, 2012). The study concluded that children and adolescents were below adequate intakes of vitamin A, vitamin D, magnesium, phosphorus, calcium, potassium and fibre, while sodium levels were consistently above the upper recommended limit (Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, 2014, 2015b; Health Canada, 2012). Additionally, only 32% of males and 47% of females over the age of 12 years reported consuming at least five servings of Vegetables and Fruit per day (Statistics Canada, 2015). A 2007 independent report found that only 25% of Canadian children were getting the minimum

recommended daily serving of Grain Products, 50% of children were meeting the recommended guidelines for Vegetables and Fruit, and approximately 30% of children were consuming one or more soft drinks per day (Breakfast for Learning, 2013). Findings also showed that approximately 30% of Vegetable and Fruit intake was accounted for by the consumption of fruit juice (Black & Billette, 2013).

Children's dietary behaviours are influenced by a wide range of individual, social, economic, and physical determinants (Taylor, Evers, & McKenna, 2005). At the individual level, children's preferences for taste and their nutritional knowledge influence their food selections, as do biological factors such as age and gender (Taylor et al., 2005). Children's diet choices are highly dependent on their parents or caregivers, as they are the gatekeepers to their child's health (Natale et al., 2014). Parents are typically responsible for food purchasing, meal selection, and preparation and as such are responsible for the overall home food environment including what, when, and how much their child eats on a regular basis (Couch, Glanz, Zhou, Sallis, & Saelens, 2014; Ventura & Birch, 2008). Parental encouragement, role modelling, personal food preferences, and involvement of the child in meal preparation have also been shown to highly influence child food choices (Chu, Storey, & Veugelers, 2014; Faught, Vander Ploeg, Chu, Storey, & Veugelers, 2015; Scaglioni, Salvioni, & Galimberti, 2008). Family socioeconomic status (SES) has been linked to outcomes of child nutrition and dietary intake, as children from higher SES households are more likely to have healthier dietary behaviours such as higher vegetable intake and lower sugar-sweetened beverage consumption (Ahmadi, Black, Velazquez, Chapman, & Veenstra, 2015). A possible explanation for this could be that in low income neighbourhoods, there tends to be less variety and availability of healthy food options

such as fresh produce (Latham & Moffat, 2007), while the abundance of fast-food restaurants in these areas is typically much greater (Larson, Story, & Nelson, 2009).

More broadly, schools, and in particular the social and physical environments, also play a significant role in influencing eating behaviours of children (Browning, Laxer, & Janssen, 2013). In Canada, however, research has found that only 53% of schools have implemented healthy eating programs and/or school health committees, and that the majority of schools have vending machines, are located nearby a convenience store, or are within one kilometre of a fast-food restaurant (Browning et al., 2013). Research into the implementation of a federal policy on healthy eating in schools has also been explored (Leo, 2007; Olstad & Ball, 2015), as provinces and territories in Canada are currently independently responsible for developing and implementing such policies with their school systems (Vine & Elliott, 2014). As such, recommendations for standardizing, implementing, and funding school nutrition programs has been suggested in a variety of studies in order to promote and improve healthy eating habits in children and youth (Downs et al., 2012; Fung, McIsaac, Kuhle, Kirk, & Veugelers, 2013; Leo, 2007; Mâsse & de Niet, 2013).

Healthy eating is linked to many positive health outcomes, including maintaining a healthy body weight, preventing high blood pressure and high cholesterol, reducing the risk of many diseases such as diabetes, cancers, heart disease and oral health, and promoting overall optimal growth and performance (Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, 2015b). It has been established that diet quality is related to overall academic performance (Florence et al., 2008), and correspondingly, schools which provide nutritional support such as breakfast programs have been shown to result in increased school performance (Frisvold, 2015; Hoyland, Dye, & Lawton, 2009). Higher quality diets, such as diets high in vegetables and fruit and

nutrient-dense foods are also associated with greater positive mental health outcomes (O'Neil et al., 2014). Thus, maintaining a healthy diet in all living environments is important. Although research is limited, the childhood food environment may influence eating habits into adulthood thus suggesting the long-term implications of the dietary behaviours that develop in childhood (Schwartz & Puhl, 2003). Healthy eating behaviours should therefore be carefully instilled throughout childhood and adolescence by using a multi-sectoral approach including the school, home, and community to ensure diet behaviours are encouraged in an inclusive and comprehensive manner (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2010; Wang et al., 2013).

#### 2.1.2 Physical activity among Canadian children: status, determinants and outcomes

Daily physical activity is encouraged for all Canadians. The Public Health Agency of Canada recommends following the age-appropriate guidelines established by the Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology (CSEP) (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2014). The Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines for Children and Youth state that children aged 5-17 years should acquire a minimum of sixty minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) each day, including at least three days of vigorous activity and at least three days of muscle and bone strengthening activities per week (Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2011b). MVPA refers to activities that are four to seven times the intensity that children require at rest, and as such are activities which increase the heart rate and cause an individual to sweat or breathe heavier to an extent that the individual may be out of breath (Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2015). Unfortunately, the number of children and youth who achieve the CSEP recommended daily activity levels is staggeringly low. The 2015 ParticipACTION Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth reported only 9% of Canadian children and youth are getting sixty minutes of MVPA activity per day, which is a slight improvement from the reported 7% of children in 2009 (Colley et al., 2011; Tremblay, Barnes, & Janson, 2015). While demonstrating small improvements, these findings align with similar reports which state that trends in child and youth physical activity have remained consistently low over the past twenty years (Booth, Rowlands, & Dollman, 2015). Additionally, the Canadian Physical activity Levels Among Youth (CANPLAY) study found that the number of steps that children and youth take per day has actually decreased from an average of 11,500 - 11,700 steps between 2005-2007 to 11,000 steps between 2011-2014 (Canadian Fitness & Lifestyle Research Institute, 2014) and the most recently published report by the Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) found that 97% of MVPA that is done by children is at a moderate level as opposed to vigorous (Colley et al., 2011). These statistics clearly demonstrate the need for improved activity in terms of frequency, duration, type, and intensity in children and youth.

Physical activity levels in children are influenced by a variety of biological, psychological, sociocultural, and environmental factors, including sex, age, parent support, peer influence, family SES, and the physical environment (Sallis, Prochaska, & Taylor, 2000; Sterdt, Liersch, & Walter, 2014). Previous research has shown that boys are consistently more active than girls; the CHMS found that on average, boys obtained 11 to 14 more minutes of MVPA per day than girls (Colley et al., 2011). However, physical activity levels tend to decrease in both genders as children move into adolescence (Canadian Fitness & Lifestyle Research Institute, 2014; Tremblay et al., 2015). Studies have shown that parents' positive support can be a greater determining factor for their child's physical activity adherence than role modelling (Erkelenz, Kobel, Kettner, Drenowatz, & Steinacker, 2014; Trost & Loprinzi, 2011), and parental encouragement and parent engagement in physical activity with their child has been shown to result in higher reported physical activity in these children (Vander Ploeg, Maximova, Kuhle, Simen-Kapeu, & Veugelers, 2012). Although the relationship between parental support and physical activity levels has been shown to be greater amongst boys compared to girls, parental support, involvement, and care positively influence physical activity levels in both genders (Vander Ploeg et al., 2013). Peers also play a significant role in determining physical activity levels. Barkley et al. (2014) found that children who participated in an activity session with a friend had 54% greater average accelerometer counts than children who played by themselves, and many other studies have concluded that peers' perceptions of physical activity plays a significant role in determining a child's activity level (Barkley et al., 2014; Fitzgerald, Fitzgerald, & Aherne, 2012; Macdonald-Wallis, Jago, & Sterne, 2012; Maturo & Cunningham, 2013). It is well established that the physical environment plays a substantial role in determining activity levels in children and youth (Carroll-Scott et al., 2013; Davison & Lawson, 2006; Janssen & Rosu, 2015; Oliveira, Moreira, Abreu, Mota, & Santos, 2014). Many factors of the physical (built) environment, including availability of green space, sidewalks and trails, residential density, safety, proximity of parks and playgrounds, and neighbourhood design can play a role in determining the level of active transport and free and structured play that occurs within a child's neighbourhood (Ding, Sallis, Kerr, Lee, & Rosenberg, 2011; Sallis & Glanz, 2006). The 2015 ParticipACTION Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth stresses the importance of outdoor free play in order to increase both the duration and intensity of children's activity levels (Tremblay et al., 2015). The report recommends an increase in active outdoor play for all children and youth, as unsupervised and potentially "risky" outdoor play has been shown to have positive effects on children's activity levels and overall health.

Schools also play a significant role in determining children's physical activity levels (Kretschmann, 2014; Tremblay et al., 2015). Schools provide opportunities for children to be

physically active during recess time, physical education class, intramural and interscholastic sports, and in free time settings before and after school (Physical & Health Education Canada, 2016). As a result, children typically get a significant amount of their physical activity each day during school hours (Alderman, Benham-Deal, Beighle, Erwin, & Olson, 2012; Dessing et al., 2013; Gidlow, Cochrane, Davey, & Smith, 2008). Within the province of Alberta, a daily physical activity (DPA) initiative was implemented in schools in 2005 by Alberta Education in order to ensure children are active on a daily basis. This policy states that "school authorities shall ensure that all students in grade 1 to 9 are physically active for a minimum of 30 minutes daily through activities that are organized by the school" (Alberta Education, 2008, p. 8). This policy and its guiding principles of inclusion, variety, and student autonomy allow for increased opportunities for students to be physically active throughout the day in order to increase the likelihood of them reaching the 60 minutes of activity per day recommended by CSEP's Physical Activity Guidelines. Further, Alberta Education recommends that 10% of the school year time be allocated to Health, Life Skills, and Physical Activity subjects (Alberta Education, 2015).

It is evident that low levels of activity in children and youth continues to be an ongoing health issue, specifically because insufficient activity can lead to a variety of adverse health issues and cardio metabolic risk factors (Ekelund et al., 2012; Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010). Benefits of regular physical activity include building and maintaining healthy bones and muscles, improved psychological wellbeing, decreased risk of chronic diseases such as heart disease, high blood pressure and diabetes, maintenance of a healthy body weight, and enhanced academic performance (Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, 2015c; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2008). Although the CSEP guidelines provide specific recommendations (i.e. minutes) for physical activity, research has also shown that even modest

increases in exercise should not be discounted, as they too have positive health benefits (Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010). In this regard, small improvements in children's physical activity levels should be celebrated, even if they do not fully adhere to the CSEP recommendations.

Some studies suggest that physical activity levels in childhood may predict or influence activity levels in adulthood, but these findings are mixed (Bélanger et al., 2015; Telama et al., 2014). However, regular daily physical activity has many positive implications for children and youth, including reducing the risk of high blood pressure, metabolic syndrome, depression, and overweight and obesity (Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010). As such, the need for intervention approaches which promote and encourage regular physical activity in the school, home, and community is vital in order to increase activity levels in children and mitigate the adverse health effects that exist when physical activity is not consistently achieved (van Sluijs, McMinn, & Griffin, 2008).

# 2.1.3 Sedentary behaviours among Canadian children: status, determinants and outcomes

As lifestyle trends in children and youth continue to be examined, new recommendations have emerged. In addition to promoting an increase in daily physical activity, the importance of encouraging less sedentary behaviour has also been acknowledged. Sedentary behaviours are defined as "postures or activities that require very little movement" (Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2015) or "activities that do not increase energy expenditure substantially above the resting level" (Pate et al., 2006). Children's sedentary behaviours most commonly consist of screen time activities such as television viewing, using the computer, and playing video games, but can also include non-screen activities such as using motorized transportation,

reading a book, doing homework, and eating (Engelen et al., 2015; Herman et al., 2015a; LeBlanc et al., 2015a; LeBlanc et al., 2015b; Tremblay et al., 2011b).

Too much sedentary behaviour results in health issues that are independent of those relating to a lack of physical activity, and as such CSEP implemented the Canadian Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines in 2011 (Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2012; Tremblay et al., 2011b). The guidelines for children and youth aged 5 to 17 years are as follows:

- reduce recreational screen time to no more than 2 hours per day
- limit sedentary transport, sitting, and indoor time as much as possible throughout the day (Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2012).

Active transport and play are encouraged before and after school and during leisure time, while modest improvements to sedentary behaviour levels are to be acknowledged and encouraged for children who significantly exceed the screen time recommendations. The most current research regarding sedentary behaviour in Canadian children and youth comes from the 2007-2009 CHMS, which states that the average child spends 8.6 hours per day in sedentary behaviours, equating to 507 minutes (girls) to 524 minutes (boys), or 62% of a child's waking day (Colley et al., 2011). These national findings mirror the estimated 8.6 hours per day of child sedentary behaviours that are recorded on a world-wide basis (LeBlanc et al., 2015b). A recent study on screen time behaviours found slightly more favourable results, concluding that only one-third (37%) of children aged 5-13 years exceed the suggested daily screen time recommendations (Pujadas Botey, Bayrampour, Carson, Vinturache, & Tough, 2016). Concern grows because similar to how physical activity levels may decrease as a child gets older, sedentary behaviours are shown to increase as a child ages (Rutten, Boen, & Seghers, 2014). Sedentary behaviour stems from a variety of lifestyle trends in children and youth which will be explored below, and

contribute to the increased concerns regarding adverse child health status in Canada (Chakravarthy & Booth, 2003; Rey-López, Vicente-Rodríguez, Biosca, & Moreno, 2008; Tremblay et al., 2011b).

Sedentary lifestyles in children have been linked to a variety of factors, including parental SES and role modelling, the number of televisions in the home, household automobile ownership, and electronics in the bedroom (LeBlanc et al., 2015b). Research has shown that the home environment plays a significant role in determining sedentary behaviours in children. Rutten et al. (2015) and Tandon et al. (2012) found that children in lower SES households had both greater access to electronic devices (video games, televisions) in their bedrooms as well as more restrictive rules about physical activity and outdoor play, and as result overall screen time and consequently sedentary behaviours were higher (Rutten, Boen, & Seghers, 2015; Tandon et al., 2014). Sedentary behaviour is shown to be greater in all children, regardless of SES, when a television or computer is present in the bedroom (LeBlanc et al., 2015b). Additionally, parental and family role modelling has been shown to greatly influence both sedentary and physical activity behaviours in children (Granich, Rosenberg, Knuiman, & Timperio, 2011) such that when families are active together, the child's overall sedentary behaviour is significantly lower and physical activity levels are also improved (Xin, Qing-Min, Yan-Jun, Jun, & Li-Ming, 2015). Similar to recommendations for increasing daily physical activity, a review by Gray et al. suggests that more time outdoors should be encouraged as a means of decreasing sedentary behaviours (Gray et al., 2015).

The associated health impacts of sedentary behaviour differ from that of not acquiring enough daily MVPA (Hamilton, Hamilton, & Zderic, 2004; Tremblay et al., 2011a). Screen time is significantly related to an increase in metabolic syndrome, to the extent that the chances of

having metabolic syndrome are two to three times greater in youth when screen time is over three hours per day compared to youth who only spend one hour per day in front of a screen in sedentary pursuits (Mark & Janssen, 2008). Sedentary behaviour has been linked to poor bone and vascular health, increased risk of diabetes and some cancers, and poorer psychosocial health (Pate, O'Neill, & Lobelo, 2008; Tremblay et al., 2011a). Additionally, screen-based sedentary behaviours have been associated with additional negative health outcomes such as metabolic dysfunction, increased risk of diabetes, increased blood pressure, reduced bone mineral density and vascular health, as well as decreased overall self-rated health (Hamburg et al., 2007; Herman, Hopman, & Sabiston, 2015b; Iannotti, Kogan, Janssen, & Boyce, 2009; Tremblay et al., 2010). The current trends in sedentary behaviours in Canadian children and their corresponding negative health impacts signify the importance of reducing sedentary behaviours in children and youth. Innovative and comprehensive approaches to decreasing sedentary behaviours in children and youth are of utmost importance in order to improve the health status of Canadian children and promote healthy lifestyle behaviours in the future. Interventions which take a multifaceted approach to promoting healthy living through balanced eating, active living, and reducing sedentary activities are ideal in order to achieve improved health by means of addressing all three of the lifestyle behaviours explored in this section in a unified manner (Sparling et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013).

# 2.1.4 Overweight and obesity in Canadian children: status, determinants, outcomes and potential solutions

Childhood overweight and obesity are major public health problems in Canada and worldwide. According to the 2009 to 2011 CHMS, 19.8% of Canadian children are currently living with overweight and 11.7% with obesity, which equates to 1.6 million, or over 30% of

Canadian children and youth aged 5 to 17 years (Roberts et al., 2012). Children with obesity are at a greater risk of developing type 2 diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, many types of cancer, bone and joint problems, sleep apnea, and mental health issues associated with stigmatization and bullying (Alberta Health Services, 2010; Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, 2015a). Obesity is also known to track into adulthood, making children with obesity much more likely to have overweight or obesity in adulthood compared to healthy weight children (Singh, Mulder, Twisk, van Mechelen, & Chinapaw, 2008). Additionally, Hirko et al. found that all-cause and cause-specific mortality ratios were 19% and 64% higher for adults who were overweight or obese as adolescents, respectively (Hirko et al., 2015). It is therefore imperative that healthy lifestyle behaviours begin in childhood in order to ensure quality of life is maintained across the lifespan.

Overweight and obesity stem from a variety of diverse and complex factors, including biological, social, and psychological influences. The World Health Organization (WHO) recognizes that the global increase in overweight and obesity is caused by a number of factors, in particular a shift in diets consisting of an increased intake of energy dense, nutrient poor foods, decreased physical activity, and increased sedentary behaviours (World Health Organization, 2016c). It is evident that Canadian children are not meeting the recommended guidelines for these three health behaviours, and as such interventions targeting these factors are of great importance. Fostering healthy eating and active living (HEAL) behaviours is therefore an important component of such interventions.

Interventions and research involving lifestyle factors relating to childhood overweight and obesity are focused heavily on school-based health promotion programs, however the need for such interventions to include components of both the home and community environments has

been identified as a crucial factor for success (Wang et al., 2013). It is also critical to understand how these settings are working together to support health promotion initiatives in a uniform manner, as school-based interventions which include a family or home component are shown to be particularly vital for the promotion of physical activity in children and youth (Sobol-Goldberg et al., 2013; van Sluijs et al., 2008). Nevertheless, research has identified that engagement with families is often a challenging element of school-based health interventions, and as such opportunities for family involvement need to be further explored (Langford et al., 2015a). Understanding the role of the parents and family is essential in order to appreciate how the home environment shapes and influences child health behaviours. This, in turn, can help to inform the significance of the home environment in the overall success of school-based health interventions and school learning in general.

#### 2.2 The Role of the Home Environment in Promoting HEAL in Children

Children spend the majority of their time in either the school or the home environment, so it is understandable that these settings significantly influence their HEAL behaviours. The home environment plays a distinct role in developing and influencing children's behaviours, yet partnerships between the school and home are essential because these two environments often foster a mutual and overlapping influence (Epstein, 2011; Epstein, 1992). A child's home is increasingly recognized as an informal site for learning and adapting health practices (Quarmby & Dagkas, 2015), and as such the family guides overall health behaviours and outcomes (Gruber & Haldeman, 2009). The physical and social environments of the home will be explored in greater detail in this section in respect to their influence on children's HEAL behaviours.
# 2.2.1 The physical environment of the home

The physical environment influences and shapes daily lifestyle patterns, and consists of one's home, neighbourhood, and the physical components of the surrounding community such as buildings, roads, and nearby facilities (Sallis & Glanz, 2006). Therefore, the physical environment of the home consists not only of the resources within the home (things such as foods, sporting equipment and electronics) and physical layout of the house, but also includes the features of the surrounding neighbourhood. The constructs of the physical home environment will be explored in this section in order to identify their role in determining children's HEAL behaviours.

#### 2.2.1.1 HEAL within the home: resource availability and accessibility

The opportunities and options available to a child in their physical environment play an important role in determining eating habits and physical activity levels in the home. In regards to nutrition and dietary intake, availability and accessibility of food choices in the home environment play a significant role in determining a child's diet. Food availability is defined as the presence of a certain food within the environment, while accessibility refers to the state in which the foods have been prepared, presented, and/or maintained in order to promote consumption (Hearn et al., 1998). The types of foods which parents purchase and make available in the home environment impact their child's food choices and overall dietary quality and intake. This is particularly true in terms of vegetable and fruit consumption, as availability and accessibility are strong predictors of consumption (Amuta, Jacobs, Idoko, Barry, & McKyer, 2015; Blanchette & Brug, 2005; Cullen et al., 2003; Hearn et al., 1998). For children with a strong preference for fruits, fruit juices, and vegetables, Cullen et al. (2003) found that availability of these food choices within the home environment was a strong predictor of

consumption. In children with low fruit, fruit juice, and vegetable preferences, both the availability and accessibility of these options was necessary within the home in order to predict consumption (Cullen et al., 2003). In some studies, availability and accessibility have been shown to be more powerful determinants of dietary habits than child taste preference (Neumark-Sztainer, Story, Hannan, & Rex, 2003; Story, Kaphingst, Robinson-O'Brien, & Glanz, 2008). It is important to note, however, that availability and accessibility influence both healthy and unhealthy eating practices. Research into children's fruit and vegetable intakes and soft drink consumption revealed that intakes are higher in both regards when there is a greater availability within the home (Kunin-Batson et al., 2015; Reinaerts, De Nooijer, Candel, & De Vries, 2007; Verloigne, Van Lippevelde, Maes, Brug, & De Bourdeaudhuij, 2012). Children who have access to soft drinks and sugar sweetened beverages less frequently in the home are less likely to consume them, as the availability and ease of access are reduced (Grieken, Renders, Gaar, Hirasing, & Raat, 2015; Verloigne et al., 2012). As such, children's food choices are strongly influenced by the availability and accessibility of the foods within the home environment, thus demonstrating the significance of the physical environment of the home.

Access to activity and recreational resources such as sports equipment within the home have been shown to predict child physical activity, while an increase in media and electronic devices in the home such as televisions, computers, and game consoles has been correlated with greater child sedentary behaviours (Maitland, Stratton, Foster, Braham, & Rosenberg, 2013). Media equipment in the home, and particularly in the bedroom, has been linked to a decrease in child physical activity, an increase in sedentary behaviour, poor diet, weight gain and shortened sleep duration (Chahal, Fung, Kuhle, & Veugelers, 2013; Maitland, Stratton, Foster, Braham, & Rosenberg, 2014; Tandon et al., 2014). However, equipment that can be used for physical activity, in particular the ownership of permanent resources such as a basketball net or a backyard garden, can reduce sedentary behaviours in children in their home environment (Maitland et al., 2014; Millstein et al., 2011). Additionally, the physical build of the home has also been shown to influence activity levels. The size, space, and design of the home and backyard can influence physical activity and sedentary behaviours, as providing space for children to involve themselves in active play leads to increased physical activity levels (Maitland et al., 2014). Unfortunately access to such physical environments is not always available and is generally not something that can be easily changed, especially in socioeconomically disadvantaged households. However, Maitland et al.'s systematic review of the home physical environment concluded that the social environment of the home also plays a significant role in influencing activity levels and may actually be a stronger influencing factor in determining overall activity levels (Maitland et al., 2013). The role of the social environment will be addressed in greater detail later in the section. Another important physical environment is the neighbourhood, which has also been shown to greatly influence children's physical activity and provides an additional setting for children to involve themselves in such pursuits (Sallis & Glanz, 2006).

## 2.2.1.2 Physical environment of the neighbourhood

The physical environment of the home consists not only of the resources within the home and physical layout of the house, but also includes the features of the surrounding neighbourhood. In relation to nutrition behaviours, the food environment surrounding the home can influence children's eating habits based on the prevalence and proximity of fast food restaurants, convenience stores, grocery stores, and other food outlets (He et al., 2012; Laxer & Janssen, 2014; Zenk et al., 2009). A systematic review which explored the relationship between

the food environment and child consumption of healthy and unhealthy foods found that a moderate relationship exists between the two (Engler-Stringer, Ha, Gerrard, & Muhajarine, 2014). Studies have identified an adverse correlation between neighbourhood fast food and convenience store availability and dietary outcomes such as increased sugar-sweetened beverage intake (Laska, Hearst, Forsyth, Pasch, & Lytle, 2010), poor vegetable consumption in adolescent boys (Jago, Baranowski, Baranowski, Cullen, & Thompson, 2007), and poor eating habits and higher body mass index scores (Carroll-Scott et al., 2013). Further, research supports that individuals living in neighbourhoods with greater access to supermarkets and grocery stores have better diets and lower obesity outcomes as compared to individuals living in close proximity to convenience stores (Larson et al., 2009; Zenk et al., 2009). Children living in neighbourhoods with greater perceived access to shops that sell modestly priced fresh produce have also been associated with increased vegetable and fruit intake, lower fat intake, higher overall diet quality, and lower overweight and obesity prevalence (Veugelers, Sithole, Zhang, & Muhajarine, 2008). Although built environment studies do not often target child eating behaviours in particular, the consumption habits within an area can be related to all members of the community, including children. Additionally, it often assumed that parents primarily determine what foods are made available in the home (Lindsay, Sussner, Kim, & Gortmaker, 2006), and their food purchasing decisions are influenced by the neighbourhood food environment. It is therefore evident that neighbourhood demographics and accessibility of food sources do play a role in influencing child eating habits and overall diet quality.

The neighbourhood setting also plays an important role in determining physical activity levels of children and youth, as a child's daily physical activity takes place in the home, school, and community (Kneeshaw-Price et al., 2013; Tremblay et al., 2015). The significance of the

neighbourhood in promoting physical activity was demonstrated in a study by Kneeshaw-Price et al. (2013). Results showed that children spend only 18% of their time inside the home doing MVPA, while 42% of their time in the neighbourhood was spent doing MVPA. Additionally, time spent being active within the neighbourhood was even greater than time spent being active at other physical activity related venues such as private or public recreation centres (Kneeshaw-Price et al., 2013). Consistent with the Canadian ParticipACTION recommendations, children who have opportunities for unsupervised outdoor free play and active travel without an adult are shown to have greater daily physical activity levels (Gray et al., 2015; Schoeppe, Duncan, Badland, Oliver, & Curtis, 2013; Tremblay et al., 2015). As such, free play within the neighbourhood has been encouraged as a means of maximizing the duration, frequency, and intensity of children's physical activity (Kneeshaw-Price et al., 2013; Tremblay et al., 2015). Neighbourhood safety may also play a significant role in determining physical activity (Holt et al., 2009; Kneeshaw-Price et al., 2013; Stanley, Boshoff, & Dollman, 2013). Kneeshaw-Price et al.'s (2015) study of the relationship between child MVPA and neighbourhood crime in San Diego, California found that children living in the lowest crime areas had almost 40 minutes more MVPA per day than children who live in the highest crime areas within the city. However, the relationship between safety and physical activity was most significantly impacted by parents' perceptions and their overall influence on their child's free play within the neighbourhood (Datar, Nicosia, & Shier, 2013; Kneeshaw-Price et al., 2013). Additionally, children are more active and less sedentary when they have good access to playgrounds, parks and recreational facilities (Veugelers et al., 2008), and the same trends are true when children are perceived to be satisfied with their neighbourhoods (Carson, Kuhle, Spence, & Veugelers, 2010). Further, high perceptions of sidewalks and parks have been linked to increased rates of active transport to

school, lower sedentary behaviour levels, and increased overall physical activity in children (Carson et al., 2010). Thus, in addition to having the support from parents, a neighbourhood environment that is clean, safe, and walkable is important for ensuring free outdoor play and active transport are encouraged to their greatest extent and with minimal barriers (Davison & Lawson, 2006; Piercy et al., 2015).

#### 2.2.2 The social environment of the home

The family social environment plays a key role in determining health behaviours in children. Many studies link children's behaviours regarding eating habits (Faught et al., 2015; Natale et al., 2014; Webber & Loescher, 2013), physical activity levels (DiLorenzo, Stucky-Ropp, Vander Wal, & Gotham, 1998; Verloigne et al., 2012), and sedentary behaviours (Salmon, Timperio, Telford, Carver, & Crawford, 2005) to that of their parents and family. There are many diverse social factors which influence children's health behaviours in the home environment, however the most modifiable (O'Connell, Davis, & Bauer, 2015) and highly focused on (Alberta Government, 2011; American Academy of Pediatrics, 2016) are parenting style, and parent and family customs. As such, the next two sections will explore the role of parenting style and family customs and practices in relation to children's HEAL behaviours.

# 2.2.2.1 Parenting style

Parents are the providers of food and resources for their children, and as such they play an important role as gatekeepers to their child's health (Natale et al., 2014). Parenting styles have been shown to affect children's nutrition behaviours both in the short and long term (Collins, Duncanson, & Burrows, 2014; Hubbs-Tait, Kennedy, Page, Topham, & Harrist, 2008). Parenting styles are often conceptualized under two dimensions: demandingness, which includes control, supervision, and rules and restrictions; and responsiveness, which includes parental

involvement, encouragement, and acceptance of child behaviours (Hughes, Power, Fisher, Mueller, & Nicklas, 2005). Within these two dimensions, four general parenting styles have been identified: authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and uninvolved. These styles can be applied to how parents influence their child's eating habits (Frankel et al., 2014; Hughes et al., 2005). Authoritative parenting is linked to parental modeling and monitoring of food intake, and involves a greater deal of parental support and child-centred approaches to eating habits (Collins et al., 2014; Hubbs-Tait, Topham, Harrist, Kennedy, & Page, 2008; Hughes et al., 2005). As a result, authoritative parenting styles are effective in promoting an ideal environment for children to develop self-regulation and internal cues to eating habits, and are shown to positively influence child eating habits (Collins et al., 2014; Hughes et al., 2005; Rhee, 2008). Authoritative parenting has also resulted in better dietary habits in children such as higher consumption of fruits and vegetables and fewer unhealthy snacks (Kremers, Brug, Vries, & Engels, 2003; Pearson, Atkin, Biddle, Gorely, & Edwardson, 2010). Adversely, authoritarian parenting styles involve high parental restriction and control, which may lead to increased pressure on the child and decreased responsiveness (Collins et al., 2014; Hughes et al., 2005). This form of parenting has been shown to result in poor eating habits by the child, heightened responses to high fat and less healthy foods, and potentially higher overall caloric consumption (Carnell, Benson, Driggin, & Kolbe, 2014; Collins et al., 2014; Niemeier & Hektner, 2012). Indulgent parents are highly responsive, however their responses are not always developmentally appropriate for the child and as a result parents may not provide support or boundaries for their child's eating habits and may often simply "give in" to their child's food requests (Black & Aboud, 2011; Hughes, Shewchuk, Baskin, Nicklas, & Haiyan, 2008). As such, the indulgent or permissive parenting style has been linked to higher body mass index (BMI) scores in children

(Frankel et al., 2014; Hughes et al., 2005). Finally, an uninvolved or neglectful parent sets few expectations, support, or guidance for the child's eating behaviours, and poor dietary behaviours in children are a predicted result (Hughes et al., 2008). As such, the level of demandingness and responsiveness of the parent feeding practices greatly influences a child's eating habits, and parenting style should be acknowledged within health promotion efforts as a key influence of healthy eating behaviours in children.

Similar to how parenting styles affect children's eating habits, authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and uninvolved parenting styles have also been shown to contribute to different physical activity and sedentary behaviour outcomes for children. Authoritative parenting styles, associated with high support/high challenge parenting, have been linked to higher fitness task goal orientation in children as compared to parents who provided low support and low challenge to their children (Kimiecik & Horn, 2012). Additionally, authoritative parenting has been shown to lead to the highest level of daily MVPA in children from single parent households, compared to other parenting styles (Saunders, Hume, Timperio, & Salmon, 2012). As authoritarian parenting is often associated with high control and power assertion, research has shown that children (particularly girls) from such environments participate in a high frequency and duration of organized sports (Saunders et al., 2012). Despite this finding, research has also found that hyper-parenting styles, which involve parents being heavily involved in their child's activities and lifestyle choices, are associated with a lower frequency and overall levels physical activity (Janssen, 2015). As such, authoritarian parenting may be promising in respect to children's participation in organized sports, but it may not positively encourage free play and daily unstructured physical activity. Permissive (indulgent) parenting has been shown to result in higher MVPA levels in girls and an overall higher volume of physical activity in boys

(Hennessy, Hughes, Goldberg, Hyatt, & Economos, 2010; Jago et al., 2011) compared to other parenting styles, while uninvolved parenting styles have been linked to low levels of daily physical activity in children (Hennessy et al., 2010). Based on a review of the current body of literature exploring parenting styles and child physical activity outcomes, the findings are somewhat varied amongst the research. This inconsistency could be result of the influence of other factors such as the gender of the child, the number of parents, or the marital status of parents (Langer, Crain, Senso, Levy, & Sherwood, 2014; Lau et al., 2015; Saunders et al., 2012; Schary, Cardinal, & Loprinzi, 2012). Despite the variability within research findings, it is clear that parents do play an influential role in determining child physical activity and sedentary behaviour levels, and parenting styles may be a key determinant of this.

# 2.2.2.2 Family customs and practices

Beyond solely the influence of the parents, family customs and shared rituals play a key part in determining and developing eating behaviours of children (Tinsley, 2003). This section will outline some general family practices which influence children's HEAL behaviours. Family mealtimes are seen as key pedagogic opportunities for parents to influence and educate their children about healthy eating habits, as communal food values shared by the family are shown to influence children's eating behaviours and self-regulation skills (Quarmby & Dagkas, 2015; Wit et al., 2015). It is well established that children's diets are better both in the short and long term when families eat meals together on a regular basis (Burgess-Champoux, Larson, Neumark-Sztainer, Hannan, & Story, 2009; Woodruff & Hanning, 2008), and eating family meals greater than five times per week has also been shown to reduce sugar-sweetened beverage consumption and increase vegetable and fruit intake in children aged 6-11 years compared to children who eat with their families less frequently (Fink, Racine, Mueffelmann, Dean, & Herman-Smith, 2014). Additionally, parents who role model healthy eating practices such as having salad at family dinner or eating fruit as a snack increase the likelihood of children reaching the recommended daily intakes of fruits and vegetables (Draxten, Fulkerson, Friend, Flattum, & Schow, 2014). Children who are actively involved in home meal preparation have also been shown to have healthier diets, including greater consumption of fruits and vegetables (Chu et al., 2013; Van Der Horst et al., 2007). Involvement in mealtime preparation has been linked to an increase in preference for vegetables and fruits, and an overall increase in child self-efficacy for making healthier food choices (Chu et al., 2014). However, an increase in the prevalence of television use during mealtime has been shown to potentially compromise both the level of interaction between family members during meal time, and also the overall diet quality of children at family mealtime (Woodruff & Hanning, 2008). In terms of breakfast eating habits, children have been shown to more commonly eat breakfast in two-parent homes and in families where the parents also eat breakfast in the morning (Pearson et al., 2010). It is important to note, however, that children do not play a completely passive role at their mealtime behaviours. Even from a young age, children have the autonomy to make consumption choices and are often adept at undermining their parents' food suggestions or offerings during family dinner time (Brewis & Gartin, 2006; Skafida, 2013). Uptake of healthy foods can be influenced by a variety of things such as child preference, age, parenting style, SES, and other diverse social factors (Brewis & Gartin, 2006; Fink et al., 2014; Sweetman, McGowan, Croker, & Cooke, 2011). Knowing what we do about the importance of the family in children's eating behaviours, instilling children with the knowledge and willfulness to autonomously make healthful choices and consume family meals provided by a guardian may be an important determinant to improve the overall quality of child eating habits.

Family member co-participation in children's physical activities has shown to be the leading factor in increasing frequency and duration of MVPA, as well as reducing leisure time sedentary behaviours (Xin et al., 2015). Screen time is the primary cause of sedentary behaviour (Spanier, Marshall, & Faulkner, 2006), therefore it is understandable that children are more sedentary in households that have a higher frequency of electronic media devices, in families that utilize screen time as a family leisure activity, and when children watch television with their parents (Granich et al., 2011; Hardy et al., 2006; Kunin-Batson et al., 2015; Verloigne et al., 2012). Alternatively, home etiquette such as establishing rules around screen time and wholefamily participation in sports are found to be positive determinants of physical activity and reduced sedentary behaviour levels in children and youth (Atkin et al., 2015; Verloigne et al., 2012). Higher perceived family functioning amongst family members (i.e., feelings of acceptance and understanding within the family) result in less sedentary behaviour, greater physical activity, and more MVPA for adolescents especially on weekdays (Atkin et al., 2015), while weekend physical activity levels are shown to be greater in children who have more siblings and are exposed to more family encouragement and social support (McMinn, Griffin, Jones, & van Sluijs, 2013). However, it has also been suggested that further research is needed to explore the association between family and parent dynamics and child activity outcomes in order to establish more consistent findings and understandings (Mitchell et al., 2012). Regardless of the nature of the relationship between family and child activity outcomes, it is clear that family practices have a significant influence on a child's physical activity and sedentary behaviour levels, and as such the family should be taken into consideration when planning and implementing healthy lifestyle programs both inside and outside of the home environment.

Other factors such as support, encouragement, involvement, and facilitation are strong predictors of child physical activity. A study by Erkelenz et al. (2014) concluded that although the prevalence of overweight and obesity was lower in children whose parents were active, it is the supportive nature of the parenting which plays a greater role in influencing activity behaviours as opposed to role modelling (Erkelenz et al., 2014). Similar studies have also found that greater levels of support are linked to higher levels of MVPA (Gustafson & Rhodes, 2006; Langer et al., 2014). As such, it has been recommended that child-centered HEAL interventions consider both parenting style and the amount and quality of parental support that is provided as modifiable factors which influence child lifestyle behaviours (Langer et al., 2014; Saunders et al., 2012; Schary et al., 2012).

## 2.2.3 Socioeconomic status

Socioeconomic status (SES) refers to an individual's social and economic position, and is a reflection of their education, income, and occupation. These factors are recognized as important determinants of health, as education, income, and social status have been directly linked to overall health status (Mikkonen & Raphael, 2010; World Health Organization, 2016a). Many studies conclude the need to invest more resources into low SES communities in order to promote healthy lifestyle behaviours, as children from low SES households and communities are significantly more likely to be overweight or obese compared to children living in mid or high SES environments (McMurray et al., 2000; Moffat, Galloway, & Latham, 2005; Simen-Kapeu & Veugelers, 2010). It is necessary to consider the effects of SES on both the neighbourhood and the family in order to understand their impact on children's health behaviours and outcomes.

## 2.2.3.1 Neighbourhood SES

The neighbourhood food environment plays a significant role in determining food purchasing behaviours and consumption patterns. Greater availability and proximity to supermarkets is shown to result in generally healthier diets (Moore, Diez Roux, Nettleton, & Jacobs, 2008), while increased neighbourhood exposure to fast food outlets is associated with increased consumption of these foods and overall poorer diet quality (Moore, Diez Roux, Nettleton, Jacobs, & Franco, 2009). Trends in food environments are shown to greatly vary depending on the SES of the area. Studies frequently site that low SES neighbourhoods have the highest proportion of convenience stores (Canto, Engler-Stringer, & Muhajarine, 2015) and fast food restaurants (Larson et al., 2009), while access to grocery stores are typically poorest in these areas (Walker, Keane, & Burke, 2010). These neighbourhood disparities and spatial inequalities in access to fresh and readily available healthy food options commonly result in the establishment of "food deserts" in both rural and urban settings (Walker et al., 2010) Further, research has suggested that even when grocery stores are available in low SES areas, the quality of the foods available is poorer than in large supermarkets, the foods at these stores are generally more expensive (Jetter & Cassady, 2006; Walker et al., 2010), and there is lower availability of fresh produce in low SES neighbourhood supermarkets (Latham & Moffat, 2007). As such, it has been recognized that low income consumers may face additional challenges in maintaining a healthy diet compared to their mid to high SES counterparts due to SES factors that inherently shape the neighbourhood food environment (Jetter & Cassady, 2006).

SES has also been shown to influence the neighbourhood environment in regards to opportunities for physical activity. Multiple studies have shown that there are significantly more physical activity facilities in higher SES areas (Gordon-Larsen, Nelson, Page, & Popkin, 2006;

Powell, Slater, Chaloupka, & Harper, 2006), which may be one explanation for why the rates of involvement in organized sports are much lower in low SES homes (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2003). Gordon-Larsen et al.'s study determined for every 100% increase in the proportion of people in a community with a college degree or greater, there is more than a twofold increase in facility access in that area (Gordon-Larsen et al., 2006). Additionally, a study of high and low SES neighbourhoods in Melbourne, Australia determined that high SES areas had a variety of features that made them more attractive compared to low SES communities. These features included the increased prevalence of picnic areas, walking and cycling trails, drinking fountains, water features, and trees to provide shade (Crawford et al., 2008). Findings such as these provide support and reasoning behind the fact that children in high SES neighbourhoods are more active, particularly in neighbourhood streets, parks, sports facilities, and outside in general (Bürgi, Tomatis, Murer, & de Bruin, 2016).

#### 2.2.3.2 Family SES

Studies have explored parental SES in relation to children's diet intake and quality, and conclude that higher SES households result in healthier diet trends. Higher parental SES is associated with a variety of healthier food habits in children. Children consume less healthy foods such as fish and vegetables and fruit, eat more fast food, and are more likely to skip breakfast when they reside in low SES households (Sotos-Prieto et al., 2015). Alternatively, children from high SES homes tend to have better overall diet scores, consume more vegetables and fruit, and are more likely to eat breakfast on a regular basis (Sotos-Prieto et al., 2015; Yannakoulia et al., 2016). Further, SES is linked to parenting behaviours relating to children's consumption. Socio-economically advantaged parents tend to enforce restrictions about eating meals in front of the television more so that socioeconomically disadvantaged parents (Simen-

Kapeu & Veugelers, 2010). As such, the SES of parents and families can greatly predict the dietary outcomes in children, and is an important factor which influences dietary behaviours that develop in childhood.

Similar to the relation between family SES and dietary outcomes in children, SES plays a significant role in influencing children's physical activity levels. Higher parental education and income are associated with increased levels of care and encouragement in children's physical activity levels (Simen-Kapeu & Veugelers, 2010). Findings also demonstrate that children spend more time in sedentary pursuits such as watching television and playing video games when they live in low SES households (McMurray et al., 2000), and that low SES households are also more likely to set restrictions on outdoor play which may lead to a decrease in physical activity levels and an increase in sedentary behaviours (Rutten et al., 2015; Tandon et al., 2014). Although some studies suggest the positive correlation between high SES and physical activity, others are not as positive. Simen-Kapeu & Veugelers (2010) found that higher SES parents are less likely to engage in physical activity with their children, which also decreases their ability to role model these behaviours in the home (Simen-Kapeu & Veugelers, 2010). Multiple studies support the relationship between high SES and lower sedentary behaviour in the home (Brodersen, Steptoe, Boniface, & Wardle, 2007; McMurray et al., 2000), however these studies have also identified that children's physical activity levels are higher in low SES households compared to high SES households (McMurray et al., 2000). These studies also conclude that physical activity levels decline consistently as children move from childhood into adolescence, regardless of SES (Brodersen et al., 2007). As such, the relationship between family SES and children's physical activity levels highlights positive aspects of both high and low SES environments.

# 2.3 The Child's Role in Shaping Family Behaviours in the Home

While it is evident that the home environment impacts HEAL behaviours, children also play a role in influencing health behaviours in the home. Correlations between children and parents eating habits often exist (Oliveria et al., 1992), and the mere presence of children in the home has also been shown to increased parents' caloric consumption and fat intake (Laroche, Hofer, & Davis, 2007). As such, it is important to understand the child's role in shaping HEAL behaviours within the home.

## 2.3.1 The child's influence on HEAL in the home

Children play an important role in influencing parent and family perceptions and behaviours in regards to both healthy eating and active living (Flurry, 2007; Jenkins, 1979; Labrecque & Ricard, 2001; Norgaard, Bruns, Christensen, & Mikkelsen, 2007). In the 1990s and into the 21st Century, the organization of Western family dynamics has transformed significantly due to changes in the social, economic, and consumer environment (Flurry, 2007). "New" families are much smaller in size and more greatly influenced by social ties and external influences than traditional families once were (Flurry, 2007). The egalitarian structure of new families ensures that children's diverse and socially influenced opinions are recognized within the family. This, in turn, allows children to have a much more significant influence on consumption decisions, particularly in regards to food shopping and purchasing decisions that were once primarily made by parents (Flurry, 2007; Hunter, 2002). Studies in the early 21<sup>st</sup> Century estimated that children influence as great as 80% of their family's food purchasing budget, while one in three American families reported their children often or always dominate their dinner or grocery purchasing decisions (Hunter, 2002). It has also been suggested that grocery shopping is a joint process between child and parent, despite parents' perceptions that

the only significant influence that children have on purchasing is their actual presence and assistance in providing ideas and help at the stores (Norgaard et al., 2007). In terms of eating out at restaurants, children also play a significant role in the decision process to choose to eat out, as well as deciding on the location in which the family will eat (Labrecque & Ricard, 2001). Research has found that children often underestimate their influence in determining family eating behaviours, while parents overestimate this influence (Labrecque & Ricard, 2001). It is apparent that children play a major role in influencing family food purchasing and eating decisions, and their potential as catalysts for changes in the home environment should therefore be regarded.

Beyond influencing eating habits, children also impact other aspects of family decision making. Children have been shown to be highly influential in determining such things as how families spend recreational and vacation time (Jenkins, 1979). More recent research has revealed that children are playing an ever-increasing role in determining and moderating family-orientated decisions regarding things such as automotive and electronic purchases (Flurry, 2007). Children may also influence opportunities for sedentary behaviour, as they impact the likelihood of adults acquiring internet access in the home (Eynon & Helsper, 2015) which may lead to an increase in screen time for all family members. Although research is limited, the suggested broad scope of activities and purchasing choices that children influence in terms of family decision making implies that children play an important role in determining parental choices and influencing how a family chooses to engage in physical activity, recreational, and sedentary behaviours. As this body of literature is heavily saturated with research regarding the family's impact on the child's behaviours, further exploration into the role of the child's influence on family activity patterns is warranted.

# 2.3.2 Intergenerational learning

Children can be a catalyst for social change, as they have the ability to promote intergenerational learning across a variety of settings and environments. Intergenerational learning can be understood as the translation of knowledge, beliefs, and practices from one generation to another, such as from children to their parents, for mutual benefit (Ballantyne, Connell, & Fien, 1998; Gadsden & Hall, 1996). Such transfers of knowledge and behaviours have been recognized as a powerful means of understanding and addressing social issues and creating change in both children and their families. Intergenerational learning can improve the strength of the child's desire to turn learning into action, expose adults to new knowledge and actions, empower children to make changes in their home environment, and support families and communities through the emphasis of active involvement in such projects (Ballantyne et al., 1998). In particular, children's roles in intergenerational learning regarding environmental issues such as air and water pollution, conservation, natural history, and biodiversity have been documented in terms of how children's knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours were able to create changes within the home environment (Ballantyne et al., 2001b; Duvall & Zint, 2007; Vaughan et al., 2003). Further evidence of intergenerational learning are apparent within the upcoming areas of this section.

#### **2.3.3 School programs translating into the home environment**

It is well established that schools are ideal settings for child-targeted intervention approaches (Clarke, Fletcher, Lancashire, Pallan, & Adab, 2013; Fung et al., 2012; Langford et al., 2015b), and the importance of school and home collaboration has been recognized as a necessary component to intervention success (Sobol-Goldberg et al., 2013; Sormunen et al., 2011). Children acquire a significant level of knowledge and understanding of issues such as health and the environment in the school setting, and have the ability to model and share these learned behaviours with their guardians in the home environment (Ballantyne et al., 1998; Gadsden & Hall, 1996). However, understanding how school-based interventions transfer to the home environment has proved a challenging objective for many researchers (Baranowski et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006; Reynolds et al., 2000).

#### 2.3.3.1 General evidence from school-based programs and interventions

Research regarding the child's role of translating school-learned behaviours home is evident in relation to environmental education programs targeting things such as biodiversity. recycling and waste management, and water and air pollution (Ballantyne et al., 2001b; Duvall & Zint, 2007; Grodzińska-Jurczak, Bartosiewicz, Twardowska, & Ballantyne, 2003; Larsson et al., 2010; Legault & Pelletier, 2000; Vaughan et al., 2003). Most findings from school-based programs suggested modest improvements were made in terms of parental knowledge of such issues and as such demonstrate the ability for children to informally share knowledge with their families and effectively conduct intergenerational communication and learning (Duvall & Zint, 2007; Grodzińska-Jurczak et al., 2003; Legault & Pelletier, 2000; Vaughan et al., 2003). A study by Ballantyne et al. (2001) was able to identify the ability for students to modify their home environment in that students "discussed with their parents actions that could be taken in the home and local community" and instructed their family to make changes based on the what they had learned in their respective school programs (Ballantyne, Fien, & Packer, 2001a, p. 12). Although findings were relatively weak, Evans, Gill and Marchant (1996) also concluded that after their involvement in an environmental program, children were able to create positive changes in their parent's recycling habits (Evans, Gill, & Marchant, 1996). These promising findings demonstrate children's ability to disseminate knowledge and influence the home

environment in regards to environmental issues and behaviours. As such, the need to extend our understandings of children's influence on the household to fields of research beyond just that of environmentalism has been suggested (Larsson et al., 2010).

# 2.3.3.2 Evidence from school-based health interventions

A number of quantitative research findings regarding school-based healthy eating and/or active living programs established that although these programs improved the overall health status of children, it can be a challenging objective to conclude that these results were actually sustained and supported within the home environment (Baranowski et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006; Reynolds et al., 2000). 24-hour food recall questionnaires are often used to demonstrate that child eating habits typically improve with school health promotion interventions, however it is difficult to objectively conclude that these improved eating habits are sustained in other environments. For example, the results of a 24-hour food recall questionnaire in a study by Reynolds et al.'s (2000) indicated that there was an overall increase in fruit and vegetable consumption for students participating in a school-based health intervention even though the observed intake of fruits and vegetables at the lunchtime cafeteria remained the same. The authors concluded that a possible explanation for these results could be that children were choosing to eat more healthy foods in their home environment, therefore suggesting that the home environment was positively influenced by the intervention (Reynolds et al., 2000). Baranowski et al. (2000) and Lytle et al. (2006) also concluded that although modest postintervention improvements were made regarding students' dietary intakes in their studies, the "(impact on) home consumption practices remains an elusive objective" which warrants further investigation (Baranowski et al., 2000, p. 107). A successful pre-post trial using pedometers to capture physical activity in school-aged children was conducted by Vander Ploeg et al. (2014),

and concluded that a school-based health promotion intervention positively impacted children's activity levels both during and outside of school time (Vander Ploeg, McGavock, Maximova, & Veugelers, 2014b). After two years of exposure to this school-based health promotion intervention, physical activity levels were increased during both school hours, and in the evenings and weekends when physical activity is typically lowest (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014b). The study demonstrated the ability for a school-based health promotion intervention to sustain changes in physical activity behaviours beyond the school environment, however the nature and mechanisms of such changes must be explored further.

Within current literature, the translation of school health programs to the home has often been explored by predominately utilizing a parental component in both the intervention and evaluation process. In research by both Baranowski et al. (2000) and Lytle et al. (2006), the school-based health programs of interest contained a highly significant intervention portion targeting the parents; tools such as newsletters, written behavioural reminders, and recipe suggestions were provided to parents in order to ensure healthy behaviours were present at home. In both of these studies, there was little ownership on the students to influence such behaviours at home, and the results of such interventions showed only modest improvements to overall child and parent health knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours (Baranowski et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006). Research into a school health program for kindergarten students demonstrated that parents, who were provided with a variety of educational tools and workshops, improved their eating habits and overall readiness to change attitude within the home environment (Rausch, Berger-Jenkins, Nieto, McCord, & Meyer, 2015). While this research did not demonstrate the ability for children to change their home environment, the authors noted the critical importance of common messaging in order for such behaviours to be sustained in a child's life (Baranowski

et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006; Rausch et al., 2015). Of the limited studies which explored the topic of school-based health promotion translating into the home, results were commonly based off of parental perceptions (Baranowski et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006), and had a distinguishable home or parental component (Reynolds et al., 2000). Therefore, an exploration of this phenomenon from the perspective of the child is warranted in order to establish this understanding and build on the current body of literature.

The following studies were successfully able to highlight the child's role in driving change in both the home and the community. Aldinger et al. (2008) examined the changes in knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours of children involved in a comprehensive school health (CSH) program in China, specifically drawing attention to the role of the child as a catalyst for change in the home environment. Through interviews with students, parents, teachers, and administrators, Aldinger et al. (2008) found that children attending intervention schools improved their health related behaviours, attitudes, and knowledge, and were able to influence and modify their home environments. Changes at home included conversations and a transfer of health knowledge from child to parent, children persuading their parents to cease poor lifestyle habits such as smoking, and replacing their own personal bad habits with good ones (Aldinger et al., 2008). It is important to note that Aldinger et al. explained that the phenomenon of the child as a change calalyst may have been unique to the context of the study, as this research took place in China during the one-child policy. Mukhopadhyay and Bhatnagar (2005) assessed how school children living in vulnerable areas in rural India became catalysts for health change and improvements, and in doing so became health promoters within their communities with support from school health strategies (Mukhopadhyay & Bhatnagar, 2005). Partnering with their school community, students were actively involved in performing community needs assessments of key

health issues and identified access to safe drinking water, proper hygiene and vaccinepreventable diseases as issues that their school health programs should focus on. As a result, students became "an active force for behaviour change in the community" and were able to communicate and educate their communities about topics such as sources, use, and storage of clean water (Mukhopadhyay & Bhatnagar, 2005, p. 149). This demonstrates the ability for children to learn positive health behaviours within their school environment in order to become catalysts for change in their homes and communities. Finally, Gadhoke et al.'s pre-intervention formative research on a school-based obesity prevention program concluded that children often shared health behaviours with their families in the home, and as such were acting as change agents in the home environment (Gadhoke, Christiansen, Swartz, & Gittelsohn, 2015). Children and adults from American Indian households on two reservations participated in interviews and focus groups, and concluded that children promoted physical activity and healthy eating behaviours in their households by "sharing knowledge they gained from school, engaging in healthy behaviors, and by speaking up and encouraging their caregivers to do the same" (Gadhoke et al., 2015, p. 354). Although limited, such research demonstrates the ability for children to transfer their school-learned knowledge into the home and effectively promote and maintain healthy lifestyle choices in both the school and home environment. Future efforts using diversified participants and methods may be useful to continue building on these understandings.

# 2.4 Comprehensive School Health

Schools are effective settings for implementing and facilitating health promotion interventions targeting children and youth (Clarke et al., 2013; Fung et al., 2012; Langford et al., 2015b; Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health, 2009). A large portion of children spend a significant amount of time over a prolonged number of years in schools. As such,

schools are institutions which are in continuous contact with children and therefore have the ability to educate, shape, and influence health behaviours that develop (Peterson & Fox, 2007). Within Canada, the CSH framework has guided many school-based health promotion interventions (Alberta Health Services, 2016; Arnold, Patton, Pearce, & Whellams, 2012). The Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health (JCSH) is a federal, provincial, and territorial government partnership which promotes optimal health and learning for all Canadian children, and in doing so recognizes the interdependence of health and education by supporting and utilizing the CSH framework (Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health, 2008). Emerging in the 1990s in Canada, CSH is an internationally recognized framework and is guided by principles constructed in the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion, the Declaration of the Fourth International Conference on Health Promotion, and the WHO's Expert Committee on Comprehensive School Health Education and Promotion (Arnold et al., 2012; Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health, 2008; World Health Organization, 1986a, 1998). The Canadian JCSH model of CSH "addresses school health in a planned, integrated, and holistic way in order to support improvements in student achievement and well-being," and recognizes four foundational pillars which make up CSH: 1) social and physical environments; 2) teaching and learning; 3) policy; and 4) partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016).

The CSH framework aims to support the development of sustainable healthy school environments, and does so by taking a multifaceted, intersectoral approach (Veugelers, 2010). In order to successfully implement CSH, collaboration between a variety of stakeholders in the school, home, and community must be established in order to ensure mutual responsibility and sustainable progress is established and maintained (Roberts et al., 2015; Stolp, Wilkins, & Raine,

2015; Storey et al., 2012b; Storey et al., 2011). This involves participation and buy-in from students, parents, teachers, administrators, and the entire school community. The flexible nature of CSH allows schools to assess what their health needs and priorities are, and consequently cater the planning, implementation, and evaluation of these approaches in a manner that suits these unique needs (Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, 2009; Veugelers & Schwartz, 2010). On an international basis, the terms Coordinated School Health, Whole School, Whole Community, Whole Child (WSCC) and Health Promoting Schools are synonymous with CSH, and as such will be referred to under the umbrella term CSH throughout this thesis.

CSH intends to provide educational and health benefits for students, as well as foster healthy attitudes and behaviours (Alberta Learning, 2002, p. 31). As a result, CSH promotes both short term changes in healthy living habits in children, and long term prevention of chronic disease onset (Veugelers & Schwartz, 2010). CSH has been shown to be an effective approach to changing a variety of health behaviours in children, spanning from physical activity and nutrition to smoking and bullying (Langford et al., 2015a; Stewart-Brown, 2006). Research has demonstrated that children attending schools which utilize the CSH framework have lower incidences of overweight and obesity, are more physical active, have lower sedentary behaviour levels, and overall better diet quality compared to children who were not exposed to such interventions (Fung et al., 2012; Veugelers & Fitzgerald, 2005). In addition to research on the effectiveness of CSH in a school setting over the short term, further findings into the life course effects of CSH interventions have also been investigated. Tran et al. (2014) calculated the life course BMI trajectories based on a provincial CSH intervention and concluded that the impact of this program would result in lower levels of overweight and obesity in adulthood which in turn would reduce in overall associated economic costs of poor health over the lifespan (Tran et al.,

2014). As such, scaling up CSH interventions in order to reach more students would be beneficial, both in terms of health outcomes and cost-savings. Additionally, CSH-driven programs are of great value in that they have been shown to positively influence academic outcomes of children and youth (Murray, Low, Hollis, Cross, & Davis, 2007), however further research into this topic is required (Langford et al., 2014).

CSH encourages the development of "programmes that promote health, extending the teaching beyond health knowledge and skills to take account of the school social and physical environment and to develop links with the community" (Stewart-Brown, 2006, p. 7). CSH aims to create and maintain a mutually collaborative support system involving school, home, and community partners (Alberta Health Services, 2016; St Leger, 1999) in order to ensure students are supported from multiple environments (Allensworth, Wyche, Lawson, & Nicholson, 1995). Although students are undoubtedly at the center of the CSH approach (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016), the inclusive nature of this framework strives to ensure that all stakeholders will benefit from their involvement. The WHO Global School Health Initiative recognizes that schools which utilize CSH strive to promote health not only amongst students, but also throughout the entire school community by positively engaging school personnel, family, and community members in order to create healthy living, learning, and working environments (Jones & Furner, 1998). As such, it is imperative to explore the effectiveness of CSH not only within the schools, but also within the context of the home and community environments. Further research into the scope of CSH is necessary in order to gain a greater understanding of how CSH not only shapes the school environment, but also the role it plays in influencing other areas of children's daily lives.

# **2.5** The Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools (APPLE Schools)

The Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools (APPLE Schools) is a school-based health promotion intervention which utilizes the CSH framework in order to support the development of healthy school communities (APPLE Schools, 2008). APPLE Schools was implemented in 2008 in 10 Alberta schools and has since expanded to include 50 school communities across the province. The project was modelled after the Annapolis Valley Health Promoting Schools Program (AVHPSP), a successful CSH approach to creating healthy school environments in the province of Nova Scotia, Canada (Edwards, Bligh, & Munro, 2004). APPLE Schools promote principles such as healthy eating, active living, and knowledge and empowerment of healthy living practices in students by fostering school environments that foster "healthy kids in healthy schools" (APPLE Schools, 2015). The purpose of APPLE Schools is to "improve healthy eating and active living among elementary aged children; to increase the capacity of the school community to address health-related behaviours and to foster a healthy school environment" (Schwartz, Karunamuni, & Veugelers, 2010, p. 3).

# 2.5.1 APPLE Schools recruitment and participation

APPLE Schools collaborates with schools based of a variety of factors, comprised of:

- inclusion of Grade 5 within the school configuration;
- the need for a healthy lifestyle intervention (a ranking system was used, which considered factors such as SES);
- willingness and ability to participate in ongoing research and evaluation;
- ability to structurally and resourcefully accommodate a school health facilitator (SHF);

• willingness to include the SHF as a member of school staff and participate in meetings with other APPLE Schools stakeholders (Schwartz et al., 2010, p. 5).

APPLE schools are in demand and requests to participate in the program are common, however school selection continues to be based on the criteria identified above.

#### 2.5.2 Research and evaluation

APPLE Schools is informed by ongoing evidence-based research and evaluation, and aligns with community-based participatory research (CBPR). A key component of APPLE Schools is that dedicated staff time in the form of a SHF is provided in each of the intervention schools. The SHF's role is to facilitate the development and implementation of a school-specific plan for CSH. This often includes a range of inclusive, health-focused activities. The SHF is trained in the implementation of CSH, and as such aids in establishing school activities and initiatives which embody the CSH framework and all four pillars (Storey et al., 2015). This individual also ensures that activities are implemented in a manner that prioritizes sustainability within the school environment. The SHF plays a vital role in establishing an APPLE School, however it is important to note that buy-in has to be achieved from the collective school community (teachers, students, administrators, staff members, parents, community members) in order for a successful APPLE School to be sustainable (Roberts et al., 2015; Storey et al., 2012b; Storey et al., 2015). Many schools have now reached the maintenance phase of the project, whereas schools do not have a dedicated full-time equivalent (FTE) assigned to facilitating the school-specific plan for CSH. Typically, schools have teams of staff, parents, students, and/or community members that share the responsibilities, planning, and implementation of a healthy school action plan which includes various activities supporting a healthy school environment.

The school plan is facilitated by an in-school staff person (i.e., a health champion), who receives training and support from APPLE Schools project staff throughout the year.

APPLE schools are diverse by nature. Every APPLE school is different, as the activities, events, and approaches utilized to create a healthy school environment are dependent on the unique needs and barriers of each school community (APPLE Schools, 2015; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2011). Centered around physical activity, nutrition, and increasing community capacity within the school, examples of school activities include taste-testing of healthy foods, classroom gardens, initiatives to support free play, and parent information nights (APPLE Schools, 2015; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2015; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2011; Schwartz et al., 2010).

Since its pilot in 2008, various aspects of APPLE Schools have been evaluated using both process and outcome evaluation. Research into APPLE Schools "is related to nutrition, lifestyle, socio-economic factors and intervention programs to influence new health policies and programs for chronic disease prevention" (APPLE Schools, n.d.-a). Evaluation results are always shared with school communities in order to inform practice, provide ongoing feedback to stakeholders, and shape future school action plans. Both the process and outcome evaluation of APPLE Schools will be described in more detail within this section.

# 2.5.2.1 Outcome evaluation

Outcome evaluation measures the effects of an intervention or treatment, and "answer(s) questions concerning whether the program successfully achieved its goals and objectives" (Judd, Frankish, & Moulton, 2001; Nutbeam & Bauman, 2006, p. 31). Outcome evaluation determines the effectiveness of a program, which can be achieved by determining the extent to which the

program's goals were successfully met or whether the predicted impact of a program was established (Nutbeam & Bauman, 2006; Patton, 2008).

Between 2008 and 2013, APPLE Schools was systematically evaluated using a variety of outcome measures. Grade 5 students at APPLE Schools were annually surveyed about a variety of their health behaviours using a modified tool similar to the Raising healthy Eating Active Living Kids Alberta (REAL Kids Alberta) evaluation. REAL Kids Alberta was a provincial evaluation study conducted by a team at the University of Alberta School of Public Health (SPH) in order to assess the impact of Alberta Health's Healthy Weights Initiative and to monitor and collect data on child lifestyle behaviours and health outcomes across the province (REAL Kids Alberta, 2011). Information regarding factors such as dietary habits, physical activity levels, sleep habits, screen time, height, weight, and BMI were collected through surveys administered to Grade 5 students, parents, and principals. Data was collected in even numbered years between 2008 and 2014 (i.e., 2008, 2010, 2012 and 2014), and provided a provincially representative look at children's health behaviours over this timespan. APPLE Schools was evaluated on a yearly basis in a similar manner by utilizing a modified version of the REAL Kids Alberta survey with additional questions pertaining to project involvement. Consistent with REAL Kids Alberta, Grade 5 students, parents, and administrators were included in this evaluation in order to compare APPLE Schools students' results directly with that of provincially reported data. Findings from this evaluation were shared with school communities through annual school reports, and this data has been used in a variety of published literature on the effectiveness of APPLE Schools (Bastian, Maximova, McGavock, & Veugelers, 2015; Fung et al., 2012; Tran et al., 2014; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014a; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014b).

APPLE Schools has been evaluated in terms of its impact on physical activity in multiple manners. Research into APPLE Schools has also shown that it is an effective approach to health promotion in children: students who attend an APPLE school have significantly better physical activity, nutrition, and healthy body weight outcomes compared to students attending other Alberta Schools (Fung et al., 2012; Tran et al., 2014; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014a; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014b). Further research has also revealed that involvement in APPLE Schools reduces health inequalities that exist within children attending intervention schools, as students who were less physically active at baseline saw greater improvements in their activity levels compared to those who were already sufficiently active (Bastian et al., 2015; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014a). Vander Ploeg et al. (2014) also found that involvement in APPLE Schools resulted in students being more physically active during the evenings and weekends, suggesting that children sustain positive school-based physical activity habits beyond the school environment (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014b). As such, this demonstrates the ability for school-learned behaviours to transfer outside of the school and into the home. The sustainability of students' healthy eating behaviours beyond the school environment has yet to be explored, and a greater understanding of how and to what extent these behaviours are present outside of the school contexts requires further investigation.

## 2.5.2.2 Process evaluation

Process evaluation is defined as research which "answer(s) questions concerning the process of implementation, and recording the extent to which the program was implemented as planned" (Nutbeam & Bauman, 2006, p. 31). Process evaluation is a necessary component of intervention research because it gives insight into why certain outcomes were or were not achieved, provides a greater understanding of how intervention components are interrelated, and

can inform and improve theory-based intervention (Steckler et al., 2002). Information from process evaluation can also be used when interpreting program outcomes and when planning future intervention efforts in a similar format or field (Dehar, Casswell, & Duignan, 1993). As such, ongoing process evaluation of APPLE Schools is vital to ensure the project is implemented in a manner that embodies the CSH framework and continues to nurture successful changes within school environments.

As part of the APPLE Schools process evaluation, research has focused on determining the roles of key stakeholders within the project in order to create a better understanding of these roles and to inform future efforts. The role of the teachers, SHFs and administrators have been examined in order to identify their position and the impact of their roles within the implementation and execution of APPLE Schools (Roberts et al., 2016; Roberts et al., 2015; Storey, Cunningham, Spitters, & Schwartz, 2012a; Storey et al., 2012b; Storey et al., 2015; Storey et al., 2011). Previous APPLE Schools process evaluation research has also highlighted the success and challenges of both the implementation and sustainability of APPLE Schools (Storey et al., 2012a; Storey et al., 2012b; Storey et al., 2015) which aids in ensuring informed decision making for future endeavours. Together, the results of these findings have helped to establish a better understanding of these roles within APPLE Schools, as well as the facilitators and barriers to implementation and sustainability. These findings have also provided information regarding key components necessary for APPLE Schools to succeed (Storey et al., under review). Previous process evaluation involving key stakeholders has not included the students attending an APPLE School. As students are at the center of this school-based health promotion intervention, it is vital to gain a comprehensive understanding of their perspectives to inform project implementation. Additionally, implementation research involving the reach of

APPLE Schools into the home environment has yet to be explored. As the school and home are both critical environments which influence children's lifestyle behaviours, process evaluation regarding the extent to which students maintain their health choices beyond the school is of vital importance in order to understand the implementation success of the program.

# 2.6 Study Significance

APPLE Schools is an effective school-based health promotion intervention which takes a CSH approach to building and sustaining healthy school communities in a holistic and supportive manner (APPLE Schools, 2008). As such, continued research using both process and outcome evaluation methods is necessary in order to gain a greater understanding of the effectiveness of both the implementation and results of this project.

Previous process evaluation research has explored the roles of at a variety of stakeholders within APPLE Schools, however the role the students has yet to be examined qualitatively. Students play an important role within an APPLE School, and as such it is important to gain a clear understanding of their perceptions and involvement in the project. Additionally, the home environment is a critical environment for the promotion and adaptation of lifestyle behaviours (Quarmby & Dagkas, 2015). The importance of the home environment in effectively sustaining health behaviours in the school is highlighted by a guiding principal for CSH, which states the need for "participation and support of families and communities at large" (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). Previous quantitative research has identified that positive changes in physical activity patterns are sustained beyond the school environment (Bastian et al., 2015), however further investigation into the mechanisms of how HEAL behaviours are translated into the home is needed in order to gain a deeper understanding of the impact of APPLE Schools into

the home environment will be vital to ensure a rich understanding of the extent to which the project impacts students' lives, and the mechanisms by which this is established. These understandings may also provide valuable insight into how and why APPLE Schools is a particularly successful CSH intervention. It is necessary to incorporate the perspective of the child in order to establish this understanding and build on the current body of literature on this topic. This research project aims to explore if and how involvement in a school-based health promotion intervention, APPLE Schools, affects student and family behaviours in the home environment. The mechanisms of this approach will also be explored in order to determine the effectiveness of a specific method to explore this phenomenon.

# CHAPTER 3: COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL HEALTH AND ACHIEVING CHANGE IN THE HOME ENVIRONMENT: INSIGHTS FROM A STUDENT PHOTOVOICE PROJECT

# 3.1 Background

Current lifestyle trends in behaviours relating to healthy eating and active living (HEAL) in Canadian children are a major public health concern (Freeman et al., 2014), as diets, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour levels do not reflect our national guidelines for achieving optimal health and disease prevention (Black & Billette, 2013; Tremblay et al., 2015). Children develop their health behaviours as a result of a variety of influences, however the school and home are recognized as the most significant environments to shape these behaviours (Epstein, 2011). As such, these two settings are commonly utilized for child-based health promotion intervention efforts relating to HEAL behaviours.

A significant body of research has focused on the complex factors by which parents and families affect a child's healthy lifestyle habits (Gruber & Haldeman, 2009; Lindsay et al., 2006), as both the physical and social environments of the home play an undeniable role in shaping a child's HEAL behaviours (Gruber & Haldeman, 2009; Quarmby & Dagkas, 2015). Emerging research, however, recognizes that cultural trends in Western society have shifted over time and as a result, children play an increasingly powerful role in influencing and shaping behaviours within the traditional family (Flurry, 2007). Children have been shown to influence the knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours of parents and family members through intergenerational learning in a variety of areas and issues, and are increasingly being shown to facilitate behaviour changes within the home (Aldinger et al., 2008; Ballantyne et al., 1998; Duvall & Zint, 2007; Gadhoke et al., 2015; Gadsden & Hall, 1996; Vaughan et al., 2003).

environmental issues (Ballantyne et al., 2001b; Duvall & Zint, 2007; Grodzińska-Jurczak et al., 2003; Larsson et al., 2010), however the role of the child in changing health behaviours within the home has been a more challenging objective. This may be due to the complexity of both the home environment and the factors that influence healthy lifestyle behaviours, and the need to identify a valid tool to assess the relationship between these particular HEAL-promoting environments (Baranowski et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006; Richter et al., 2000).

While comprehensive approaches to school-based health promotion is necessary (Fung et al., 2012; Langford et al., 2015b; Sobol-Goldberg et al., 2013), there is limited knowledge and understanding of whether HEAL behaviours learned at school translate to the home. A guiding principle for most school-based health promotion frameworks such as comprehensive school health (CSH) is the impact and reach of the program beyond the school environment (APPLE Schools, n.d.-b; Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). Further, school and family partnerships are essential in order to support children from multiple environments and to foster the utmost success (Epstein, 1992). Given the importance of these two environments and the capacity for the child to bridge these two settings, it is necessary to establish a greater understanding of the extent to which children's school environments can impact the home. Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore a CSH intervention, the Alberta Project Promoting activing Living and health Eating in Schools (APPLE Schools), in relation to its reach into the home environment. By utilizing students' perspectives, this research intended to understand how participation in APPLE Schools impacted health behaviours at home.

# **3.1.1 Setting: APPLE Schools**

Schools are environments where children spend a large portion of their daily lives, and as such have been deemed ideal settings for health promotion efforts targeting children and youth
(Fung et al., 2012; Peterson & Fox, 2007). Worldwide, the CSH framework, also known internationally "health promoting schools" or in the United States as "coordinated school health," has been recognized by the World Health Organization (WHO)'s Global School Health Initiative as an effective approach to school-based health promotion (Alberta Health Services, 2016; Arnold et al., 2012; World Health Organization, 2016b). In Canada, the Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health (JCSH) defines CSH as "an internationally recognized framework for supporting improvements in students' educational outcomes while addressing school health in a planned, integrated and holistic way" (Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health, 2008). Within the province of Alberta, Canada, the CSH framework informs the school health intervention of interest for this research project: APPLE Schools.

APPLE Schools is a school-based health promotion project that exists in 50 schools across the province of Alberta, Canada (APPLE Schools, 2015). APPLE Schools aims to foster healthy school communities, and "students' active living and healthy eating habits [are] supported through sustainable changes to school, home and community environments" (APPLE Schools, n.d.-a). A unique feature of APPLE Schools is that schools receive dedicated staff time in the form of a school health facilitator (SHF). The SHF is trained in the implementation of CSH, and as such aids in understanding the specific needs of the school community in order to promote and sustain HEAL behaviours. APPLE Schools is informed by ongoing research and evaluation, and as such aligns with community-based participatory research (CBPR). Outcome evaluation of APPLE Schools revealed that students improved eating behaviours, were less likely to be overweight or obese, and were more physically active both during and outside of school hours as a result of their involvement in the project (Fung et al., 2012; Tran et al., 2014; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014b). Process evaluation has explored different stakeholder roles within APPLE Schools in order to determine the barriers and facilitators to implementation and sustainability (Roberts et al., 2015; Storey et al., 2012b; Storey et al., 2015).

A guiding principle for both CSH and APPLE Schools is the impact and reach of schoolbased health promotion projects beyond just the school environment (APPLE Schools, n.d.-a; Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). Previous research into APPLE Schools has determined that improvements in students' physical activity are sustained outside of school hours (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014b), however the broader mechanisms and scope of these and other healthy lifestyle behaviours has yet to be explored in the home environment. Process evaluation regarding how students internalize, share and influence the home environment as a result of their involvement in an APPLE School is also vital in order to understand the strengths and overall impact of the project. These gaps in our understandings formed the foundation of the current research project.

### 3.2 Methods

## 3.2.1 Research paradigm and theoretical perspective

This study was guided by qualitative methods, as the purpose was to gain an understanding of a culture and phenomenon by utilizing students' own accounts of their behaviours (Richards & Morse, 2007). A constructivist perspective informed this research, which assumes a relativist ontology and a subjectivist epistemology (Denzin & Lincoln, 2005). A relativist ontology accepts the nature of reality as "multiple, intangible mental constructions, socially and experientially based, local and specific in nature" and is reliant on upon the individuals who foster these constructions (Guba & Lincoln, 1994, pp. 110-111). The researcher, in turn, is presenting one possibility of many multiple truths which may exist (Mayan, 2009). Aligning with the participatory underpinnings of both APPLE Schools and the research method used in this study, a subjectivist epistemology assumes that the researcher and participants are co-creators of knowledge and understanding (Denzin & Lincoln, 2005; Guba & Lincoln, 1994; Mayan, 2009).

#### 3.2.2 Research method and approach

### 3.2.2.1 Focused ethnography

Focused ethnography was utilized as the overarching method for this research. Ethnographic research involves studying the particular culture of a group in order to understand and relay the beliefs, values, and behaviours of a defined population on a certain topic of interest (Mayan, 2009; Richards & Morse, 2007). Focused ethnography is utilized when the culture of interest being addressed uses a specific research question, and is "conducted within a particular context or organization among a small group of people to inform decision-making" (Mayan, 2009, p. 39). The project aimed to explore students' perceptions of their role in transferring, sustaining, and catalyzing changes into the home environment based on the HEAL behaviours they adapted in an APPLE School. In order to understand the perspective of a targeted subcultural group in relation to this topic, a focused ethnographic approach was best suited (Richards & Morse, 2007).

Focused ethnographies often take place near the researcher's own working and living environment, therefore the use of three Edmonton area schools aligned with the convenience of participant selection often associated with this method (Higginbottom, Pillay, & Boadu, 2013). The time frame for focused ethnographies is often short term and non-continual (Knoblauch, 2005), which was also consistent with the timeline of this research project as there are time limitations to working with and in schools. However as Knoblauch et al. note, this short-term interaction should not be deemed superficial, as focused ethnographies often require intensive

data analysis of the wide range of data collected in such a short period of time (Knoblauch, 2005). Finally, this project resounded with a focused ethnographic approach as "findings are anticipated to have meaningful and useful application in community" (Higginbottom et al., 2013, p. 2). The results of this type and topic are critically important to CSH stakeholders and were highly anticipated by APPLE Schools.

#### 3.2.3 Participants

## 3.2.3.1 School selection

A meeting between the researcher and members of the APPLE Schools management team took place in the fall of 2015 in order to discuss potential APPLE Schools to partner with for the present research. The APPLE Schools management team had firsthand knowledge of the school communities, and as such were able to identify schools that would be willing to take on this research project. The researcher was connected with the school administrators via email, and project information was subsequently provided to both the administrators and teachers (Appendix A) prior to the administrator granting approval for the project. An in-person meeting with each of the Grade 5 teachers and administrators took place prior to data collection in order to ensure the school staff were acquainted with the researcher, project objectives, timeline, and participation requirements. Grade 5 curricular links were provided to the teachers (Appendix B), so as to demonstrate the relevance of the project to their classroom curriculum. Teachers were also given a list of classroom health-related activities that could be done with the developed photos, as all students would receive a copy of their photos to keep regardless of participation in the research.

While saturation determined sample size (Mayan, 2009), it was estimated based on previous research utilizing photovoice with school-aged children that 20 to 30 participants would

be required (Genuis, Willows, & Jardine, 2015; Heidelberger & Smith, 2015; Jennings & Lowe, 2014; Mayan, 2009; Wang, 2006). As such, this was the range of participants that was sought for this project. In order to ensure 20-30 participants were recruited, the researcher estimated that three classes would be needed. It was anticipated that some students would forget to take photos or get their consent forms signed, some students may be sick, and some students may lose or forget their cameras at home. Further, including three classes from three different APPLE Schools ensured that there was representation from a diverse range of communities. All three participating schools were located within the Edmonton area of Alberta, Canada.

## 3.2.3.2 Sampling

Once the teachers and administrators from each school agreed to participate in the project, all students in the three contributing classes were invited to participate. Students were purposively selected from three of the 50 APPLE Schools. Purposive sampling is a common sampling technique used in focused ethnography, and involves the researcher selecting specific participants based on their experiences and knowledge relating to a certain topic (Crookes & Davies, 1998; Higginbottom et al., 2013). Purposive sampling was utilized because this research project required the involvement of a specific target population (Trochim & Donnelly, 2007): APPLE Schools students who were able to share their experiences in the project and could discuss how these experiences translated home. Based on previous research involving APPLE Schools, Grade 5 students (aged 9-11 years) were selected to align with their participation in the outcome evaluation. While Grade 5 children are typically prepubescent, they have developed the cognitive ability to be valid participants in research (Riding & Mathias, 1991; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014a). As such, students at this age have the ability to grasp the concept of the research project and can provide meaningful and honest responses in an interview setting. The reasoning

behind having both Grade 5 and Grade 6 students involved in the project was for inclusivity purposes: two of the three consenting classrooms were "split" classes (consisting of both Grade 5 and 6 students), however it was important to ensure that all students in the participating classes had the opportunity to be involved in the project. Students were given parental consent forms (Appendix C) to be completed prior to their involvement in the project. To further ensure inclusivity, all students were given a disposable camera and were informed that they would receive a copy of their photos to keep. However, only those students who had provided both parental consent and verbal assent were followed up with a one-on-one interview for research purposes.

The final sample size was determined when saturation amongst participant responses was achieved, and no new data emerged (Mayan, 2009). Of the 25 students who participated in the project, 12 were from "School A," 8 were from "School B," and 5 were from "School C." Gender distribution amongst students was even, with 13 male and 12 female students participating. Students ranged in age from 9 to 11 years old, and the majority of students (n=19) were in the fifth grade. This majority was to be expected as only two of the three classrooms were Grade 5/6 split classes, and one was solely Grade 5. Fifteen students stated that they resided in houses, while ten students reported living in an apartment or townhouse. The duration of student attendance in an APPLE School ranged from a few months (having moved schools at the start of the school year in September) to 6 years (attending the school since kindergarten). Two students had previously attended a different APPLE School within the province. The family demographics of the students ranged from single-parent homes to large families with multiple siblings and relatives residing in the dwelling.

## 3.2.3.4 Ethics

Ethics approval was granted through the Human Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta, as well as approval from the Cooperative Activities Program through the Faculty of Education. As a condition of the research ethics approval, students were not permitted to take any photos of people. This message was relayed to students when they received their cameras, and after being developed the researcher reviewed all photos and removed any pictures of people prior to returning the photos to the students. Parental consent, as well as verbal student assent, was required from all participants. Students were informed that they could withdraw their involvement from the project at any time during the data collection process with no negative consequences. Both verbal and photographic results were conveyed in a manner which ensured student anonymity, and no names were linked to quotes or pictures when results were shared.

### 3.2.4 Data generating strategy

#### 3.2.4.1 Photovoice

Photovoice is a data generating strategy which utilizes photos to tell a story or capture visual understandings of an individual's lived world (Wang & Burris, 1997). Photovoice is often used in ethnographic studies, and aligns with the participatory nature of this project (Mayan, 2009; Powers & Knapp, 2011). Developed by Wang and Burris in the 1990's, photovoice was originally utilized as a research method for engaging those with little power or decisional ownership (Wang & Burris, 1994, 1997) as photovoice originated from the theoretical underpinnings of critical consciousness and empowerment, feminist theory, and community-based approaches to documentary photography (Wang, 2006; Wang & Burris, 1994, 1997). Paulo Freire's logic of using visual images to allow individuals to critically think about and discuss their community is utilized in photovoice in order to empower participants to take control

of how their views are depicted (Wang & Burris, 1994, 1997). In alignment with feminist theory, photovoice was initially developed by researchers exploring the voice of rural Chinese village women who work laboriously but traditionally had no voice in personal or policy decisions (Wang, Burris, & Ping, 1996). The scope of photovoice has now spread to a much wider range of social issues and participant demographics, however the concept of feminist theory still aligns with photovoice through the belief that power comes from those who have a voice (Wang & Burris, 1997). Finally, documentary photography supports photovoice as a participatory approach, as it "puts cameras directly in the hands of people who otherwise would not have access, and allows them to be recorders, and potential catalysts, in their own communities" (Wang & Burris, 1994, p. 175). Through the act of photo-taking, individuals play an active role in providing a personal voice to address personal issues and catalyzing and community change (Wang & Burris, 1997).

The nature of photovoice is flexible and can be adapted to a variety of settings, however photovoice is well-suited and frequently used in health research involving children and youth (Findholt, Michael, & Davis, 2011; Heidelberger & Smith, 2015; Postma, Peterson, Ybarra Vega, Ramon, & Cortes, 2014; Wang, 2006). There are three main objectives of photovoice: to depict everyday realities of participants, to promote conversations and understandings around concerns facing the participant or community, and to reach policy makers (Mayan, 2009; Wang, 2006). Through the process of photo-taking and interview or focus group discussion, participants are in control of how they represent themselves and their ideas (Mayan, 2009). In order to examine the translation of students' behaviours from the school environment and into the home, photovoice was used as the data generating strategy for this research.

## 3.2.4.2 Stages of data collection

Data collection involved three stages, as outlined in Figure 1. Data collection took place in November and December 2015.



Figure 1. Stages of data collection

#### 3.2.4.2.1 Classroom brainstorming & photo-taking.

The first stage of data collection involved an informal brainstorming session with the students in each classroom. An outline of this session is provided in Appendix E of this thesis. The purpose of this session was for students to familiarize themselves with the research topic by discussing what it meant to be an APPLE School. Students were given an opportunity to work independently, in small groups, and as a class in order to brainstorm characteristics of their school that were unique to being an APPLE School.

Next, the students were introduced to the research component. Students were asked to take photos which answered the question "*What does APPLE Schools look like in your home?*" They were informed that they would have one week to take at least 20 photos, and that the photographs should be thoughtful and creative as some students would have a chance to talk about the photos with the researcher in the coming weeks. It was also stressed that students should not take photos of people, including themselves. 24-exposure disposable cameras were given to each student, and the researcher reviewed the usage instructions with the class. Upon returning their cameras to their teacher, students would receive a copy of their photos to keep. In

order to maintain the inclusive nature of this project, all students, including those who did not obtain consent to participate in the research component of the project, were given a camera and the photo-taking instructions (Appendix F).

## 3.2.4.2.2 Interviews.

Photovoice includes either facilitated focus group discussion or individual interviews as a means for discussing participant photographs (Wang & Burris, 1997). One-on-one interviews were utilized because the purpose was to understanding the mechanisms by which students translated APPLE Schools into their unique home environments. While focus groups emphasize the interaction amongst participants (Mayan, 2009), interviews were ideal for this research since the intent was to hear each student's experience independently. Semi-structured interviews took place in the school setting at a time that was mutually agreed upon by the researcher and the Grade 5 teachers. Aligned with the participatory nature of the project, the interviews involved three stages of sharing: selection, contextualizing, and codifying (Wang & Burris, 1997). *Selection*: Students were reminded of the research question, and then asked to choose 5-6 photos that they wished to talk about regarding this topic. *Contextualizing:* Participants were asked a series of questions in order to frame stories about their photos. As per photovoice research methods, the questions were a modified reflection of the mnemonic SHOWeD (Wang, 2006):

- What do you see here?
- What's really **happening** here?
- How does this relate to **our** lives?
- Why does this situation, concern, or strength exist?
- What can we **do** about it?

*Codifying:* Students were asked to group their photos into similar ideas, and give a title to the photos or "themes" identified. Additional supplementary questions relating specifically to the research question were also included at the end of the interview (see Appendix G for full interview guide).

### 3.2.4.2.3 Member-checking.

The final stage of data collection involved member-checking of the initial themes with students. Within two to three weeks of completing the interviews at each school, the researcher reviewed all the photos and transcripts in order to identify the preliminary themes. The researcher then compiled school-specific PowerPoint presentations for each of the classes. In these presentations, students' photos and quotes supported each of the preliminary findings that were identified. The sessions were informal and interactive, as students were encouraged to provide verbal feedback and suggestions regarding the findings.

During the member-checking sessions, the developed photos were also given to the teachers to distribute to their students at an appropriate time. The students were informed that their input would be integrated into the final results and the researcher would visit their classrooms in the spring in order to share the findings. Following the member checking, the researcher brought photobooks (Appendix I) and school newsletters (Appendix H) for the parents, as requested by the teacher and students.

# 3.2.4.3 Field notes & reflective journaling

Aligned with ethnography, the researcher took detailed field notes in order to capture key observational data from the data collection process (Richards & Morse, 2007; Seale, 1999). These notes served as reference of the setting, mood, and overall reflections and feelings that the

researcher had during the data collection stages (Mayan, 2009). The researcher was mindful of including detailed notes of each of the setting and surroundings that each interview took place, including providing notes on unplanned interruptions, distractions, and any other pertinent information that may have affected the overall conduct of the data collection. Reflective journaling was also used by the researcher as a way of reporting personal notes (Richards & Morse, 2007). Journaling is a technique that aids in identifying the assumptions, issues and challenges that the researcher meets throughout the research process (Mayan, 2009).

### 3.2.5 Data analysis

All interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. Aligned with focused ethnography, data was analyzed inductively using latent content analysis (Mayan, 2009). Latent content analysis is a circular process which involves identifying, coding, and categorizing data into primary data patterns (Mayan, 2009). Upon the completion of the external transcription process, the researcher then began preliminary analysis by manually reading through each interview in order to record initial thoughts, personal reactions, and key points in the interviews. The researcher highlighted, underlined, and summarized the main points of each printed interview. The initial form of analysis served to identify emerging themes, and was the basis for the results which were shared in the member-checking sessions with students. The following analytical steps were followed next, as per focused ethnographic data analysis: i) coding for descriptive labels; ii) sorting for categories; iii) identification of outliers; iv) generalizing the constructs (theming); and v) memoing (Higginbottom et al., 2013). Coding, the process of identifying persistent words, phrases, or ideas (Mayan, 2009), was done manually by the researcher by highlighting and writing notes in the margins of the transcripts in order to further familiarize the researcher with the data, summarize initial segments of data, and provide

descriptive labels of these ideas (Mayan, 2009; Miles & Huberman, 1994; Roper & Shapira, 2000). Interviews were read and reread multiple times by the researcher in order to ensure all data were coded properly and that the coding process reflected the cyclical nature of the analysis. It was common for findings to initially be coded multiple times. Next, Nvivo v10 analytic software was used to complete pattern coding (categorizing) order to group "nodes" into large categories and reduce the number to analytic units (Miles & Huberman, 1994). This form of categorizing the nodes into larger groups allowed the researcher to account for the data in a meaningful way (Mayan, 2009). Negative cases were identified in subcategories, and the nature of these categories was discussed in detail with the research team. These cases were eventually used to strengthen the findings of this research and supported the validity of the broader literature scope that exists regarding this research topic (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Theming involving aligning and grouping categories together by identifying if and how each of the categories were interconnected. Memoing, the process of analytical note-taking to connect different pieces of data together in order to form larger concepts, was employed throughout the analysis process, and in particular when the themes were identified. Memoing allowed the researcher to theorize about the themes that were emerging from the data in order to identify meaningful findings that resounded with the participants' "intent within the context" (Mayan, 2009, p. 94).

Aligning with the cyclical nature of content analysis, the data analysis process was a dynamic integration of categorizing and theming (Mayan, 2009). The concluded findings were identified through constant self-reflection, revisiting of categories, and the progression of analysis through knowledge generation (Higginbottom et al., 2013; Roper & Shapira, 2000).

Two distinct themes, as well as multiple sub-themes, emerged, as well as one underlying concept which was strongly present across all of the findings.

#### 3.2.6 Rigour

Rigour is defined as "demonstrating how and why the findings of a particular inquiry are worth paying attention to" (Mayan, 2009, p. 100). Guba and Lincoln argued that in order to establish rigour, qualitative researchers should strive to achieve trustworthiness in order to appreciate the distinct differences between qualitative and quantitative methods (Guba & Lincoln, 1982). They proposed four criteria by which trustworthiness is established: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Guba & Lincoln, 1982). These four criteria will be explored below in respect to this research project.

Credibility refers to ensuring that the results are an accurate representation of the data (Mayan, 2009). In this research project, credibility was established and maintained through member-checking with each of the participating classes in order to get participant feedback and suggestions about the initial findings. As it was not feasible to arrange multiple classroom visits to conduct ongoing follow-up sessions throughout the data analysis, the researcher consulted with the APPLE Schools management team (the director and implementation manager) to discuss the findings and to incorporate their perspectives on confirming that the results were a true reflection of APPLE Schools. These staff members had been involved with the research from the start, so prolonged engagement between researcher and APPLE team from the beginning to the end of the project ensured that credibility in results was established. Finally, the researcher took ownership over familiarizing herself with APPLE Schools by engaging with stakeholders (staff, teachers, administrators and students), exploring previous research and

information about APPLE Schools, and independently volunteering at an APPLE School in order to gain a strong understanding of the project and its unique application in a variety of schools.

Transferability, similar to external validity, considers the applicability of the findings to other situations or settings (Mayan, 2009). This research included a sample of students from three different APPLE Schools in order to represent students from various communities and demographics. Additionally, purposive sampling was used in order to identify and utilize information-rich participants who would have the knowledge and insight to provide detailed responses to the research question. The 25 participants represented a wide range of demographics, from age to family make-up to type of residence, and as such the transferability of the project was strengthened by this diversity in student representation. Finally, transferability can be established by providing detailed, thick description (Mayan, 2009). Three strategies were utilized by the researcher to create thick description of the data: observations, interviews, and reflective journaling (Richards & Morse, 2007). Chapter 4 of this thesis provides further insight into the transferability of the research method to future studies and classroom topics.

The third criteria required to establish trustworthiness is dependability. Dependability can be seen as reliability, or the review of how decisions were made throughout the research process (Mayan, 2009). The integrity of this project was ensured by maintaining methodological coherence throughout: all aspects of the research project were aligned and congruent with the researcher's method and theoretical perspective (Mayan, 2009). Additionally, an audit trail was used in order to document decisions made throughout the research project in a manner that would be understandable to an individual who was external to the project (Richards & Morse, 2007). Extensive reflective journaling provided inside knowledge about how, when, and what decisions were made at various stages of the research process in order to ensure transparency and

insight into the analytic steps taken throughout the project (Mayan, 2009; Miles & Huberman, 1994). Throughout data analysis, the researcher confided in a critical friend in order to discuss emerging ideas and thoughts, while receiving objective feedback. The process of continually debriefing with a critical friend allowed the researcher to articulate ideas in order to gain a deeper understanding of the themes that were developing during analysis. The use of a critical friend also provided the researcher with the chance to reflect on questions or concerns that they may have not considered independently (Mayan, 2009).

Finally, confirmability is the ability to ensure findings are objective and logical during both data collection and analysis (Mayan, 2009). Further, confirmability ensures that the research findings remain true to that of the participants (Higginbottom et al., 2013). As with all qualitative research, it is essential to foster results which remain true to the participants (Roper & Shapira, 2000). The nature of focused ethnography data analysis is "an iterative, cyclic, and selfreflective process, as preliminary interpretations are challenged and data are continually revisited" (Higginbottom et al., 2013), and requires an intimate knowledge and familiarity with the data (Pope & Mays, 2006). The data analysis procedure for this research was extensive and reflective, and the researcher ensured that reflexivity was practiced throughout analysis. Reflexivity can be seen as the extent of assessing the effects of the research strategies on the findings (Pope & Mays, 2006). By revisiting themes, cross-checking findings, and staying true to the cyclical nature of focused ethnography research, the researcher ensured that confirmability was established throughout this research project.

## 3.3 Results

Analysis of the data revealed two major themes: i) *students are internalizing the APPLE Schools philosophy*; and ii) *students are driving change to create a healthy home culture* as a

result of their involvement in an APPLE School. Underlying both themes was the concept of student leadership and decisional ownership (Figure 2). Student leadership played a fundamental role in shaping the findings, and was consistently present throughout the results. Students' decisional ownership allowed them to take charge of their health behaviours and catalyze changes in the home environment. As a result of being in an APPLE School, students were empowered to value HEAL, and as such were able to promote, embody, and foster positive changes in both their own lifestyle behaviours and those of their families.



Figure 2. Results of a photovoice project examining the impact of APPLE Schools on the home environment

### 3.3.1 Student leadership and decisional ownership

APPLE Schools strongly values and promotes student leadership. Many APPLE Schools, including the three schools which took part in this research project, were also partnered with *The Leader in Me* process (The Leader in Me, 2016) in order to promote and foster student leadership and responsibility. It is important to note that although not every APPLE School was affiliated with *The Leader in Me*, all APPLE Schools placed a strong focus on student ownership, responsibility, and leadership. As such, the value that schools placed on leadership and decisional ownership resonated in students' behaviours, actions, and decisions in the home. A student described how the leadership qualities she learned in school were relevant to her desire to be organized at home: "We have 7 habits...This [photo depicts] the first habit, being proactive, where you have all your things and you're ready for the next day and you're in charge of yourself."



Figure 3. "Putting first things first"

Students exemplified the leadership values that were fostered in APPLE Schools in terms of being prepared for school, however the theme of taking charge of their decisions was also evident in students' maintenance of their health behaviours at home. By embodying a sense of leadership and decisional ownership, students were able to facilitate changes in their family members' HEAL behaviours, and as such demonstrated an ability to transform the home culture. Students had the knowledge, confidence, and decisional ownership to be leaders of both their own health choices, as well as those of their families.

### 3.3.2 Students are internalizing the APPLE Schools philosophy

Although each APPLE School is distinct and unique, all APPLE Schools have a consistent philosophy of creating sustainable changes in children's health behaviours. The philosophy of APPLE Schools is a construct of the project's mission, vision, and overall purpose. As such, the APPLE Schools philosophy can be regarded as "promoting healthy kids in healthy schools" by "empower[ing] school communities to lead, choose, and be healthy." This leads to "sustainable changes to school, home, and community environments" in order to "foster

lifelong health and learning" (APPLE Schools, 2008, n.d.-b). In the context of this research, students from each of the three participating schools discussed how the APPLE Schools philosophy became part of their innate way of life. Students adopted the APPLE Schools philosophy in their home lives, and demonstrated an inherent mindset that habits and values fostered in school should be present in the home. Students described two main understandings of how the APPLE Schools philosophy was internalized: health habits were rooted in school experiences; and students' commitment to healthy lifestyle habits for long-term success.

## 3.3.2.1 Health habits are rooted in school experiences

The school environment served as a site for developing health habits from both formal and informal learning opportunities. Students saw their teachers as reliable sources of information, and therefore adapted healthy lifestyle behaviours because of the formal teaching and learning they were exposed to. Students retained the education they received about healthy lifestyle behaviours and drew on this knowledge at home in order to motivate and sustain such behaviours. Evidence of this was present in a student's explanation of how being at an APPLE School influenced him to drink more milk:



Figure 4. "Growing milk"

[You should] drink milk every night before you go to sleep so you can be healthy and your bones and teeth will be strong...[Milk has] calcium and makes your bones strong. [I learnt that] at different schools but they talk mostly about milk here...When I [moved] to [an] APPLE School last year after Grade 4, after spring break...I went here and I started drinking milk because it's healthy for your body.

Although this health message was relayed to the student in the school environment, the student demonstrated changing his home behaviours because of this knowledge. When students were educated about a certain behaviour and its importance, they internalized the importance of this behaviour in order to order to ensure it was maintained in the home.

The formal learning opportunities available in schools also allowed students to confidently validate their healthy lifestyle choices, as they understood and could validate why these decisions were important. The messages that students received at school informed their understandings at home regarding the importance of healthy eating. A student explained how she knew why vegetables were important because at school, "We have the sheet [of] vegetables and they will tell us what they do to our body." Students gained specific knowledge about the benefits of healthy eating from unique APPLE Schools activities, and these messages resounded with them when they made food choices at home:



Figure 5. "Cook"

Interviewer: So how does this relate to APPLE Schools?

Student: It's healthy food. Spinach, it helps- doesn't spinach help you like...hear or something like that?

Interviewer: Do you guys talk about being healthy in school?

Student: Um...We used to play games like put what's healthy and what's not healthy in like two different food groups. So like not healthy and healthy.

Interviewer: And do you remember that activity when you're at home and choosing what you want to make or put into your food?

Student: Yeah...I [try to put] a little bit of both. Mostly like- I have to get vegetables in there, so a little bit of both.

APPLE Schools fostered environments for both formal and self-directed learning of health behaviours and their importance. As a result, these values influenced students' decision making, and were engrained in students' health habits outside of the school environment.

Students internalized the APPLE School's philosophy of health and learning by adhering to the informal expectations that were inherently cultivated in the school. One student stated that she valued sleep because "sleeping is a healthy thing to do and it's healthy because you need to sleep to be able to go through your day at school." When prompted about where she learned this from, she stated "from the mistakes I learned in class...I fell asleep [and] everybody...got told that I did that." This student demonstrated how her peers implicitly influenced her sleep behaviours because she internalized their disapproval of her falling asleep in class. Deviation from the expectations of school conduct served as informal learning opportunities for students about the importance of developing and reinforcing specific lifestyle habits. Students were inherently aware of the behaviours that were expected of them in school, and errors in judgement required them to adjust habits accordingly. As such, the APPLE Schools values were embedded

in students' lives through both formal and informal learning opportunities, which played a crucial role in the ownership students felt in cultivating home health habits such as getting enough sleep, having breakfast and making healthy dietary choices.

### 3.3.2.2 Commitment to healthy lifestyle habits for long term success

Internalizing the APPLE Schools philosophy involved students valuing healthy lifestyle behaviours for both short and long-term benefits, and in doing so understanding the wider implications of their current actions. When asked about why they chose lifestyle behaviours such as healthy eating, being active, or brushing teeth, students shared their desire to ensure that they were setting themselves up for a successful future. One student justified her healthy eating with the knowledge that "you could live a lot longer if you eat healthy," while another explained that "if you're always eating junk food you won't be good. You won't feel good." Students internalized their school's philosophy of fostering long-term health and learning by valuing the future implications of their habits when making decisions at home. These examples demonstrated how students were self-motivated to maintain healthy habits at home due to school values which focused on the "big picture" health implications of sustaining such behaviours.

Students also had an understanding of the broader implications of developing healthy lifestyle behaviours for educational and employment benefits. Students internalized the APPLE Schools philosophy by understanding that they were in charge of developing their healthy habits in order to set themselves up for a successful future. Getting enough sleep at night was something that students felt responsible for in the home, and they identified the long-term importance of ensuring this behaviour was met. As one student explained: "If you don't get your rest and if you don't learn you won't have a good grade and you won't go to the next grade- like in junior high and high school." This sense of personal responsibility and understanding of the

broader health and educational implications of fostering positive lifestyle behaviours was aligned with the philosophy of APPLE Schools, and it was evident that these values were internalized in students' healthy lifestyle habits at home as well.

### 3.3.3 Students are driving change to create a healthy home culture

APPLE School students were leaders in driving positive changes for HEAL behaviours of both themselves and family members within the home environment. Students identified four distinct mechanisms by which they drove changes in the home environment in order to create a healthy home culture: empowerment to expand healthy habits by trying new things; catalyzing changes in the home food environment; engaging others in HEAL; and awareness and modification of unhealthy choices.

### 3.3.3.1 Empowerment to expand healthy habits by trying new things

Students discussed their openness to adopting new healthy behaviours in the home as a result of school influences. Many APPLE Schools had programs where students could taste-test new foods in order to increase their exposure, and ideally preference, to healthy snack and meal options. Beyond simply being introduced to new healthy foods, an important component of these activities was that students felt empowered to try new things because they had the freedom and confidence to do so. One student expressed how "the teachers in [school] encourage you to do things that you think you can't do." When probed about this, the student explained that because of his teacher's support in school, he felt more inclined to try new foods at home. The implication of possessing confidence and decisional ownership, and as a result acquiring a greater openness to trying new things, was demonstrated in the following quote:

Sometimes people hate stuff that they never tried, and then once they try it they like it, so sometimes they pack it for lunch 'cause they like it. Which I did, 'cause I used to hate bananas...We had a banana snack at school and I didn't really like it but I just tried it and then I just liked it.

Although teachers and caregivers played a role in facilitating the introduction of something new, students had complete autonomy over the uptake of the behaviour. It was essential for students to feel as though they had ownership over making decisions in order for them to be more inclined to introduce (and often enjoy) new healthy foods to their diets at home.

As a result of APPLE Schools supporting healthy lifestyle habits, increasing exposure to healthy options, and building decisional ownership, students increased their receptiveness to new heathy habits at home. Students were comfortable with trying new things due to the opportunities they had in school, and this empowered them to try new healthy things independently at home:



Figure 6. "Nice, tasty drink"

Interviewer: Why did you take that picture?

Student: 'Cause if you look, it has like tomatoes, lettuce, carrots, and stuff in them. My family drinks it because it's really good. And it's really healthy.

Interviewer: Any other reason why that related to being in [your] school?

Student: Well because at [my] school we have a whole bunch of food like lettuce and stuff, and it's technically just in a- it's all just technically mushed up into a can. Interviewer: Anything you learned at school made you want to drink this drink? Student: Yeah because this school, like I said, we have lots of healthy food and I decided to try it with just all of it mushed together.

This quote demonstrates that the students' exposure to healthy foods within the school translated into a greater openness to expanding food choices autonomously in the home. The student demonstrated a desire to choose this vegetable drink at home because she knew and valued making a healthy choice as a result of her school experiences. Students also exposed their family members to new healthy food options by telling their parents about healthy snacks and bringing home recipe sheets from new snacks they tried at school. A student discussed how the conversations she had with her parents about the new snacks she had tried in school led to the introduction of new snacks at home: "Usually [my teacher and the librarian] make like these healthy snacks. And I tell my mom to like make some for me...and my brother. And so...we get to eat more healthy."

Besides healthy foods, students also shared examples about their willingness to learn new games, activities, and sports in school. It was common for students to express their desire to participate in these new activities with their families at home. Students had a strong sense of pride and ownership over learning new things and often shared these opportunities to be active with their families at home. A student who was involved in a program at her school called Kids on Track described her involvement in the program, saying: "It's like an after school thing and they teach you about like healthy stuff and we play a lot of games." She highlighted the leadership role she had in bringing these games home by stating, "I have to some-sometimes I

actually have to teach them [how to play]." The student expanded her family's knowledge and behaviours regarding being active at home by sharing new activities with them. Through exposure to new foods and activities in programs at an APPLE School, students were empowered to try new things at home. This, in turn, promoted the expansion of positive lifestyle behaviours in the home for the benefit of both students and their families.

## 3.3.3.2 Catalyzing changes in the home food environment

As students expanded and shifted their food preferences towards more healthy options, changes in food availability were needed in order to foster these healthy eating habits at home. Through suggestions and recommendations, students were able to change their caregiver's food purchasing habits. Students often asked their parents to buy healthy foods when they realized that they did not have the foods available to make healthy snacks and meals at home. A student explained:



Figure 7. "Healthy strategies"

Student: Well we're doing a rainbow lunch which we're like looking at the bulletin board over there with the rainbow thing. And...it's like healthy stuff and that's what I usually pack.

Interviewer: That's what you usually pack- have you always packed healthy stuff, a rainbow lunch?

Student: Not really.

Interviewer: Why did you start packing a rainbow lunch?

Student: 'Cause I want to be more healthy and like...I don't want too much like...bad stuff in my body and I don't want to get sick or something.

Interviewer: Did you always have the stuff in your home that allowed you to pack a rainbow lunch?

Student: I asked my mom and dad to change what they're buying...I usually pack bad stuff and then when I asked them that, they like were like happy 'cause I don't usually do that sometimes.

Significant improvements to the content of home meals were also evident due to students' suggestions and influence. Students remarked that they would educate their caregivers about rainbow lunches to ensure that the adult would pack an appropriate lunch for them: "I told my mom like about rainbow lunches, to pack me rainbow lunches for school because when we have like special rainbow lunches I tell my mom about it so she packs me mostly rainbow lunches when I tell her." The term "rainbow lunch" refers to a lunch that includes foods from all four food groups. Students are encouraged to eat food from each of the corresponding colours of the rainbow: green represents Vegetables and Fruit, yellow represents Grain Products, blue represents Milk and Alternatives, and red represents Meat and Alternatives (APPLE Schools, n.d.-c). This student demonstrated the ownership she felt in making sure she ate healthy, and as such was able to educate her mom about the components of a healthy lunch and alter how her mother packed her school lunches. It appeared that parents supported healthy eating behaviours in the home, however it was the students' suggestions which played an essential role in actuating

these changes. As such, students played a pivotal role in catalyzing changes in the home food environment.



Figure 8. "Always have a rainbow lunch"

Beyond just the content of the students' own lunches, changes were also evident in what was prepared for family meals. One student shared that as a result of her participation in the school's Cooking Club, her parents had "changed the supper into like, into like healthy stuff." School cooking programs such as these also allowed students to get involved in meal preparation and cooking with parent or guardian in the home. Students discussed how they had become more involved in meal preparation, as they were comfortable cooking and making snacks in the kitchen both independently and alongside their caregiver. The impact of the school activities administered by APPLE Schools was demonstrated in the changes that students generated in their caregiver's purchasing habits, the content of lunches and dinners, and their increased involvement in meal preparation.

## 3.3.3.3 Engaging others in HEAL

Students facilitated improvements to family HEAL behaviours by actively engaging them in a variety of ways. Students expressed a sense of responsibility to look out for their family members, and had a desire to share health knowledge in order to improve family behaviours in the home. A student demonstrated this leadership in an example she gave about reducing her older brother's pop consumption:

Student: My brother- before he...don't want to drink milk. But I told him that he need to drink milk- not just like the Coke or that things. And it...he asked me why do we need it, do he need to drink milk, asking to be healthy. And I tell him that he can be healthy and milk is better than Coke.

Interviewer: And so does your brother drink milk now?

Student: Yeah-sometimes.

Similarly, another student commented on the importance he placed on drinking milk in order to "make your body fit." He shared this knowledge with his brother, and as a result, his brother "is starting to drink more milk now." Students engaged their family in HEAL by educating them about the importance of physical activity and a healthy diet. One student stated that she told her family "to exercise- like I tell them about the programs we do for exercise" because she wanted her family to live a long and happy life, while another student often told his family "to always...eat what's in the food groups." These quotes demonstrate the leadership role that students took on in educating and informing their family members about HEAL choices in order to engage them in healthy lifestyle behaviours in the home.

With respect to increasing physical activity, students reported involving their family members by participating in activities with them. Because of students' uptake of active living in the home, family members were encouraged and exposed to more opportunities to be physically active. Students shared that by increasing their own physical activity at home, their family members' activity levels also increased:



Figure 9. "Basketball with brothers"

Student: Sometimes I just play with my dad with the basketball and I played baseball... Interviewer: Has anything change in the house because of something you learned in school?

Student: Yeah when I started playing basketball I started telling my brothers and they really like going out and playing with me. So yeah. Interviewer: Did your brothers play basketball before?

Student: Mm huh yeah. But they didn't play it as much.

Another student discussed how she was motivated to be active at home because of a school program that promoted daily physical activity. As a result of this, she engaged her father in more opportunities to be active as well:

We have this thing in our agenda where you exercise [for] 30 minutes. It can be recess, gym or stuff and then you shade it in. And then that like pushes me to go like, maybe go with my dad swimming, maybe to the gym, even if it's not on schedule sometimes, I wanna go.

The student demonstrated how involvement in an APPLE School not only increased her desire to be more active at home, but also how it indirectly promoted more activity opportunities for other family members. Students often shared that they supported their families by co-participating in activities with them: "We actually go on walks, and, and bike ride, walks. And we go to the park and play some baseball...basketball, soccer, football." As such, school activities encouraged students to increase their physical activity levels, as well as provided opportunities for students to promote and engage family members in activity at home.

## 3.3.3.4 Awareness and modification of unhealthy choices

Students established self-control and personal ownership of moderating unhealthy behaviours within the home environment. Unlike in school, students explained that the home was a less controlled environment as there were more opportunities to be unhealthy compared to at school:

"Sometimes when we eat...unhealthy food, the teachers say to put it away or to eat it like when you're not at- when you're not at school. Because this is a healthy school and then we're not supposed to eat junk food in healthy schools."

Despite the decreased number of "rules" and expectations in the home, students nevertheless maintained the importance of HEAL by moderating these unhealthy behaviours. One student explained how she handled her home food environment by explaining, "My mom's friend, he buys like lots of junk food at home. But I don't eat them- I eat them like once a week." Students resonated with the understanding that it was okay to have an unhealthy treat once and a while, however moderation was key:

Student: In like third grade we had this subject on healthy food and we had to cut outlike...but out some foods in like a magazine or like a shopping list thing. And we had healthy foods and not healthy foods on the other. And we had to like arrange them.

Interviewer: Do you think about that list [at home] sometimes?

Student: Yeah. I yeah, there's some things in my pantry that are like- like marshmallows and I always think- I should have these like, I should have these occasionally but not like every day.

Another student explained that although he had access to pop at home, he was still mindful of his consumption: "I usually have- like say this is a glass, I don't have it like just at the tip of it. I would usually just have a half a glass...because then I don't waste it all and it's not too unhealthy." Although students were realistic in expressing that they enjoyed having treats and unhealthy snacks, they also possessed a great deal of responsibility and awareness in modifying the number of unhealthy foods they consumed.

The importance of awareness and modification was also applied to students' sedentary behaviour levels and physical activity at home. A student shared how she reduced her sedentary behaviour by explaining: "Well at home, I usually go on the iPad and go on Mathletics or something. But then like...sometimes I'm always inside. So I go outside, going on a bike or rollerblade with my friends." Another student stated that "I'm active and we need like- not to stay and play video games all day. We need like to go outside and like play."



Figure 10. "We're supposed to stay active"

Students recognized the importance of not only reducing screen time and sedentary behaviours, but also the value of being outdoors and being physically active during this time instead. This awareness and modification of unhealthy behaviours in the home allowed students to foster healthier habits and make positive health decisions about their HEAL behaviours.

The theme of monitoring and modifying unhealthy behaviours in the home was apparent beyond students' self-management. Students took on a role of supervising and managing the behaviours of their family members in order to ensure unhealthy behaviours were kept to a minimum. A student shared how she regulated her family's eating habits in this quote: "[I] make sure my mom and my brother don't eat too much candy when they're snacking...they both have a big sweet tooth."



Figure 11. "A healthy snack"

Students took on a leadership role in order to ensure that their home environment fostered a healthy culture similar to that of their APPLE School. Although the home environment was not as structured as school due to the lack of formal rules, students explained that they made changes to their overall home culture in order to maintain healthy lifestyle habits. As a result of her involvement in an APPLE School, a student shared that her family made a rule about having "no junk food at home," further explaining: "we have it like once or twice, but not like all the time." Through awareness and modification of personal and familial behaviours in the homes, students demonstrated their capacity to transfer HEAL values into the home environment in order to build and sustain a healthy home culture.

#### 3.3.4 Summary

The findings revealed that the home environment was considerably altered as a result of the impact that APPLE Schools had on students' values and behaviours at the home. The interviews and photographs from students provided an in-depth look at how the home environment had been changed due to students' involvement in APPLE Schools. The underlying concept of student leadership and decisional ownership was consistent in these results, and as such emphasized the pivotal role that the students had in driving such changes in the home.

Students took ownership over their health habits, and in doing so demonstrated their role as catalysts for changes in the home. Students internalized the APPLE Schools philosophy, which was evident in the way that their health habits at home reflected their experiences in school and their overall mindset of being committed to long-term success. Students were able to drive change in the home environment in order to improve healthy lifestyle behaviours and the overall HEAL environment at home. Involvement in an APPLE School fostered student ownership regarding trying new healthy things, and through this willingness students exposed their family members to new healthy habits as well. Students catalyzed changes in the home food environment by influencing meal content and parental food purchasing habits. Students demonstrated their roles as leaders by engaging family members in HEAL at home. Finally, students drove change to create a healthy home culture by modifying both their own unhealthy choices and those of their families. Students' awareness of healthy and unhealthy choices ensured HEAL habits were promoted in their family member's behaviours as well as the overall culture of the home.

## **3.4 Discussion**

It is well established that the home and the school environments play a significant role in influencing children's lifestyle behaviours regarding healthy eating and active living (Epstein, 2011; Gruber & Haldeman, 2009; Langford et al., 2015a). As such, collaboration between the two settings is ideal in order to support and sustain positive behaviours in multiple environments (Sormunen et al., 2011). The mission of APPLE Schools highlights this importance, stating that "APPLE Schools will empower school communities to lead, choose and be healthy. Students' active living and healthy eating habits will be supported through sustainable changes to school, home and community environments" (APPLE Schools, 2008). APPLE Schools has been shown to affect students' behaviours outside of school hours (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014b), however there are currently limited understandings regarding the mechanism by which APPLE Schools translates beyond the school environment, and engaging with families has been identified as the most challenging element of CSH interventions (Langford et al., 2015a). This research addressed these limitations by utilizing students' perspectives in order to explore the extent to which behaviours fostered in an APPLE School were transferred into the home, and demonstrated that students can play an active role in integrating their family members in behaviour changes formulated by a school-based health promotion intervention.

The underlying mechanism of these research findings was the element of student leadership and decisional ownership. As such, this component was regarded as a fundamental element that needed to be established in order for students to successfully internalize the APPLE Schools philosophy and drive changes in the home environment. The findings of this research support previous work which demonstrated the positive association between self-leadership and improved diet quality and physical activity in Grade 5 students (Ferland, Chu, Gleddie, Storey, &

Veugelers, 2015). Student-led health initiatives have been studied as a way of successfully implementing healthy lifestyle behaviours in schools (Gutuskey, McCaughtry, Shen, Centeio, & Garn, 2016), however this research demonstrates that student leadership fostered within APPLE Schools was the underlying mechanism for the effects seen beyond the school environment. These findings revealed that when students are empowered with decisional ownership over their health choices, they are able to internalize their health values and incorporate them into their everyday habits. This then translated to personal responsibility of ensuring family members also followed healthy lifestyle habits. By embracing a sense of leadership and decisional ownership, students were empowered to take charge of their actions and the actions of those around them.

Students reported internalizing the philosophy of APPLE Schools, as their school experiences guided their health choices and they demonstrated an understanding of the "big picture" implications of their current health behaviours. APPLE Schools is guided by CSH, and as such the philosophy and core values of the project align with and address the JCSH's four pillars (Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health, 2008). However, both CSH and APPLE Schools recognize the diversity within school needs and demographics, and as such there is no standard protocol for implementation (Schwartz et al., 2010; Veugelers & Schwartz, 2010). A recent review of the process evaluation of a variety of CSH studies from around the world identified challenges that have arose from interventions of this nature. Langford et al. concluded that there is a need for more comprehensive understandings and evaluations of HEAL interventions during adolescence, as well as a better way to increase family engagement in such interventions (Langford et al., 2015a). Quantitative research has demonstrated APPLE Schools' goal of promoting and improving Grade 5 students' HEAL behaviours (Fung et al., 2012), however our study is the first to highlight the unique characteristics of the APPLE Schools
philosophy which are internalized by the students, and the ability for students to impact the family as a result. These findings, although pertaining to children, address the challenges highlighted by Langford et al. as they provide valuable insight into the mechanisms by which a CSH intervention, APPLE Schools, shaped students' values and decisions relating to HEAL in the home.

The results of this research demonstrated that students are playing an active role in driving changes in HEAL behaviours within the home. These findings are particularly exciting because previous research has recognized the difficulty, yet importance, of involving families in school-based health interventions (Langford et al., 2015a; Lytle et al., 2006). Of the research which was able to demonstrate students' abilities to make changes to the home environment, these studies often associated the child's influence with cultural implications (Aldinger et al., 2008; Baranowski et al., 2000; Gadhoke et al., 2015; Mukhopadhyay & Bhatnagar, 2005), had strong parental involvement in both the intervention and evaluation (Ballantyne et al., 2001a; Lytle et al., 2006; Reynolds et al., 2000), and/or focused on intergenerational learning between parents and children regarding environmental topics and behaviours such as recycling, pollution, and waste reduction (Ballantyne et al., 2001a; Evans et al., 1996; Grodzińska-Jurczak et al., 2003). The findings of our research align somewhat with formative research by Gadhoke et al. which identified how American Indian children acted as change agents within the family regarding HEAL behaviours. The authors proposed a conceptual framework to identify how students accomplished this feat with the objective being to use this framework to inform an obesity prevention project. It is important to note, however, that the findings of Gadhoke et al.'s research were not a result of the influence of a school intervention, and had specific cultural and contextual implications. As such, their findings may not be generalizable to other communities

or populations, and did not demonstrate the specific effects of a school-based intervention on the home. Aldinger et al.'s exploration of a CSH intervention in China also concluded that children were able to positively change their family's attitudes, knowledge, and behaviours as a result of a variety of health topics learned in school. Although promising, the authors noted that the strength of the child's influence in the home may have been the result of cultural underpinnings, as this intervention and study took place during China's one-child policy. As such, this research displays novel and generalizable findings within Western contexts regarding how students perceived that they were able to translate school-learned behaviours into the home, and in doing so create positive changes to their family's HEAL behaviours.

Students shared a willingness to try new healthy things both at school and at home. As a result of their exposure to new foods and activities, students were more open to trying other new healthy things at home and they often shared these foods or activities with their families. In existing research regarding school-based interventions and their translation into the home, very few findings align with this theme. In regards to environmental programs affecting the home, Ballantyne et al. found that students educated their families about new ways to approach daily household tasks in a more environmentally friendly manner (Ballantyne et al., 2001b). For example, one student learned to use vinegar when cleaning the bathroom, and encouraged their parent to develop this new habit. Aldinger et al. also found that as students' knowledge about health topics increased, they shared these new findings with family members (Aldinger et al., 2008). To the best of our knowledge, no studies were found that supported the idea of students to trying new things in schools as a vehicle for promoting positive changes in the home. As such, this may be a feature within APPLE Schools that provides novel insight into a mechanism by which students go about driving change in the home.

Our findings demonstrated students' ability to positively change the home food environment by influencing parents' purchasing behaviours, participating in meal preparation, and requesting healthy food options in meals. Our results align with previous research which supports the idea that children can significantly influence grocery purchasing decisions (Flurry, 2007; Norgaard et al., 2007), and further that they did so in a positive manner due to their involvement a school-based healthy eating program (Lytle et al., 2006). Children's eating behaviours are greatly impacted by availability and accessibility of foods with in the home (Amuta et al., 2015; Cullen et al., 2003; Kunin-Batson et al., 2015; Maitland et al., 2014), and although the home environment is often thought to be shaped by the parent or caregiver (Lindsay et al., 2006), the findings of this research further support the role of the child in influencing food availability in the home. Students also began taking on an active role in the kitchen by helping with meal preparation, which has been shown to result in better diet quality for children, as well as more confidence in the kitchen (Chu et al., 2014; van der Horst, Ferrage, & Rytz, 2014). As such, the implications of our findings may have additional added benefits to children's lifestyle behaviours.

By participating in HEAL with family members, students were able to change their family's eating habits and increase their activity levels in the home. Co-participation in activities with family members has been shown to increase overall physical activity levels and decrease leisure time sedentary behaviours (Xin et al., 2015), which highlights the positive implications of this finding. Further, children have been shown to greatly influence how families spend their recreation time, and as such can play a significant role in determining the nature of leisure activities (Jenkins, 1979). The findings from our research support the fact that students are

valuing HEAL in the home, and as such are engaging their families in a variety of positive health behaviours.

Lastly, students drove changes in their homes through their awareness and modification of unhealthy behaviours. Others have emphasized the role that children can play in advising family members about a wide range of family behaviours, including smoking (Aldinger et al., 2008), healthier fast food purchasing (Gadhoke et al., 2015; Lytle et al., 2006), reducing environmentally "unfriendly" behaviours (Ballantyne et al., 2001a), and decreasing overall unhealthy food consumption in the home (Rausch et al., 2015). Our findings align with these results, and add to the existing research regarding students' ability to educate their families about unhealthy behaviours in order to promote healthy changes in their diets and activity levels. The mindfulness that existed in students' own HEAL choices within the home was similar to what Aldinger et al. found in their study, in that children reported modifying their own "bad habits" in order to developed good habits. These findings demonstrate the students' role in improving both their own health behaviours, as well as those of their family.

Previous literature supports children's ability to share knowledge learned in school with their family or caregiver at home through intergenerational learning (Ballantyne et al., 1998; Gadsden & Hall, 1996). Further, the role of children as health promoters in their homes and communities has been explored (Aldinger et al., 2008; Gadhoke et al., 2015; Mukhopadhyay & Bhatnagar, 2005) , but in limited capacity in a Western context. The findings of this research not only support previous studies which demonstrate children's ability to be a change agent in the home through the sharing of knowledge, attitudes and behaviours, and intergenerational learning (Ballantyne et al., 1998; Ballantyne et al., 2001b; Duvall & Zint, 2007; Vaughan et al., 2003), but also revealed that leadership and decisional ownership is essential to students' ability to make changes in the home. To our knowledge, this was the first study to provide evidence that a school-based health promotion project was able to reach the home environment using solely the students' perspectives. In doing so, it reveals the mechanisms by which a CSH intervention effectively translates into the home. Therefore contrary to previous research which relied on parent-centered components (i.e., parent workshops, newsletters, educational tools for the home) in school-based interventions (Baranowski et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006; Rausch et al., 2015), this project demonstrates how students independently brought their school behaviours home and as a result were able to drive tangible changes in the home environment. As such, APPLE Schools can be seen as an effective child-centered method for health promotion in both the school and the home.

## **3.4.1 Implications**

The findings of this research highlight the crucial importance of fostering student leadership and decisional ownership in order to sustain HEAL behaviours in the home environment. In a Canadian context, the JCSH currently outlines four essential pillars that CSH is grounded in: social and physical environment; teaching and learning; policy; partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). Emphasising leadership within the CSH framework is necessary in order to ensure future efforts recognize and adapt this trait, and this could be done by incorporating leadership and decisional ownership in the foundational pillars of CSH. Leadership could also be further stressed in the WHO's definition of CSH on a global basis, as currently there is limited recognition of such traits. With regards to implications for general school curriculum, teachers can use this knowledge in order to inform their school health lessons and programs. Teachers should strive to foster a sense of leadership and decisional ownership within their classroom in order to ensure their students internalize lessons and translate behaviours outside of the school environment.

There are also implications of this research for health promotion efforts in general. These findings demonstrate children's ability to catalyze and drive changes in the HEAL behaviours of family members at home. As such, future health promotion efforts targeting the home environment or family members should consider utilizing the school environment and students as important stakeholders to address such issues.

# 3.4.2 Strengths and limitations

Strengths of this study include the diversity amongst participant demographics, and the effectiveness of using photovoice to capture student perceptions on our topic of interest. A limitation of the study stemmed from restrictions in the school board research ethics approval, as students were not permitted to take photos of people. In previous photovoice research projects involving children, photos often depicted people partaking in certain activities or behaviours (Alexander, Frohlich, & Fusco, 2014; Genuis et al., 2015; Jorgenson & Sullivan, 2010), which may have added to the richness and diversity of examples students drew from when discussing their photos. However, students in this project were still successfully able to capture and explain their photos in detail, despite the lack of people or behavioural depictions in their photos. Additionally, by restricting the presence of people in the photos, this helped to ensure anonymity in the students' photographs and oral responses. A further limitation was the small number of schools that participated in this research. Because each APPLE School tailors CSH to the specifics of each school and community (Schwartz et al., 2010), students from other schools may have varying responses and examples about how they brought APPLE School shome. However,

due to the saturation in responses from the 25 students at the three participating schools, it can be confidently concluded that the ideas and responses of students were accurately represented.

# 3.4.3 Conclusion

The findings of this research provide an understanding of the reach of APPLE Schools into the home, and demonstrate the significant role that students have in catalyzing changes in the home as a result of their involvement in CSH. Fostering student leadership and ownership over health behaviours was a fundamental concept which underlined the findings of this research. Students reported internalizing the philosophy of their APPLE School by rooting their health habits in school experiences and valuing the "big picture" implications of their actions. Students' involvement in APPLE Schools empowered them to drive changes in the home environment through a variety of different means relating to healthy eating and active living. This finding was supported by previous literature which provides evidence of children influencing home behaviours through intergenerational learning. However, our study adds to this body of literature by clearly demonstrating the effects that a school-based health promotion project has on student and family behaviours in the home as a result of changes driven solely by students. The findings of this study provide encouraging evidence that APPLE Schools impacts much more than just the school environment, and that changes made in the school can have a significant positive impact in the home environment. Further, this study demonstrates the powerful role that schools and children can play in health promotion efforts within the home.

The results uncovered promising findings about just how significant of an impact APPLE Schools has had on students' health behaviours, as well as those of their families. The understanding of the essential component of student leadership is important for future childcentered health promotion efforts, as we found it is critical to establish this element in order for

students to become catalysts for positive changes in their lives and the lives of others. Given the significance of the evidence surrounding poor lifestyle behaviours in both Canadian children and adults, this research reaffirms the importance of APPLE Schools as an effective method of promoting healthy lifestyle behaviours in both children and their families. Additionally, engagement with families has been identified as the most difficult task in CSH interventions (Langford et al., 2015a), however our findings suggest a novel and encouraging approach to do so. Future research into children's roles as key stakeholders in family health promotion is therefore warranted, and may offer a promising direction for future child and family health promotion efforts.

# CHAPTER 4: USING A STUDENT-CENTERED PHOTOVOICE PROJECT TO EXPLORE HOW SCHOOL HEALTH BEHAVIOURS TRANSLATE HOME: STRENGTHS, LIMITATIONS, AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

## 4.1 Background

It is well supported within the literature that collaboration between school and home is essential for fostering the utmost success in student development and wellbeing (Cox, 2005; Epstein, 1992, 1995; Sormunen et al., 2011). Children spend the vast majority of their lives in these two environments, and as such these settings undoubtedly shape children's behaviours (Epstein, 1992). When relationships are established between the school and the home, research typically highlights the partnership between teachers and parents as the pivotal determinant of success (Epstein, 2011; Sheridan, 2007). Although significant, focusing solely on the parentteacher dyad runs the risk of undermining the child's role in utilizing school programs to shape and drive changes in family behaviours and the home environment.

Both overtly and covertly, children have a significant impact on the home environment and parents' decision-making processes. Children have been shown to strongly influence health behaviours in the home regarding both family dietary behaviours (Hunter, 2002; Laroche et al., 2007; Norgaard et al., 2007) and physical activity (Flurry, 2007; Jenkins, 1979). Research regarding intergenerational learning between children and their parents also highlights the important role that children play in influencing adults' knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours relating to a variety of topics including environmental and health issues (Ballantyne et al., 2001b; Duvall & Zint, 2007; Vaughan et al., 2003). The evolution of Western family dynamics, advances in technology, and the increase in external influences shaping children's socialization in the most recent century have allowed children's influence on family dynamics to grow (Flurry, 2007). In the "new" family environment, children make decisions more autonomously and have more responsibility in family decision-making processes than they did in a traditional family structure (Clulow, 1993; Flurry, 2007).

Given the significant role that students play in influencing the home environment, and the linkage between the school and the home, insight into how the home environment is influenced by the school is highly valuable to teachers. The partnership between school and home is essential for student success (Epstein, 1992), and as such it is necessary for teachers to understand students' home dynamics in order to properly meet their students' needs (Starkman, 2006). Opportunities for school-home collaboration are in the child's best interest and should be encouraged as often as possible in order to achieve outcomes such as academic success and positive behavioural management (Jónsdóttir & Björnsdóttir, 2015). Further, it has been recognized that teachers play a central role in utilizing resources from the school and home in order to optimize learning and development within the school environment (Peralta & Galaviz, 2013). School-home relations primarily exist through parent-teacher correspondence, however opportunities to build these relationships are often minimal and limited to parent-teacher meetings or formal school gatherings that are typically not held on a regular basis (Bergnehr, 2015; Crozier, 1998). As such, it has been suggested that relying solely on parent-teacher relations results in the needs of high risk students (i.e., those with learning or behavioural problems) being prioritized above all other students (Bergnehr, 2015). Employing studentcentered approaches to understanding the translation of school lessons to the home environment may provide valuable insight into the strengths and weaknesses of school programs and teaching methods. This, in turn, would allow teachers to adapt their instruction in order to better meet the needs of their students as a whole. Utilizing a student-centered approach to better understand the home environment would also allow for greater insight into the diverse scope of needs within a

classroom context, as the knowledge, insight, and collaboration between the school and student's unique home environment is strengthened (Peralta & Galaviz, 2013). As previous research on the relationship between the school and home is largely focused on the teacher and parent interactions, it is necessary to identify a wider means of exploring this relationship using students' perspectives.

A previous research project using photovoice was conducted in order to examine students' perspectives regarding how their involvement in a school-based health promotion project influenced their home environment (McKernan et al., 2016). The approach used in the photovoice project was novel, and allowed for an understanding of this phenomenon from purely the students' perspectives. The results provided valuable insight into the capacity that students have to drive changes in the home. The strength of the research findings calls for the need to understand how and why this participatory approach was so effective. Therefore, researcher field notes and teacher interviews were utilized to address three questions: 1) What unique features of this photo project were essential to its success?; 2) Could this project be applied to understanding the effects of diverse school subjects and topics on the home environment?; and 3) Is it feasible for teachers to implement this project in their classroom independently?

## 4.1.1 Setting: APPLE Schools

The Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools (APPLE Schools) is a successful health promotion intervention in 50 school communities across the province of Alberta, Canada. APPLE Schools follows the comprehensive school health (CSH) framework in order to foster the vision of "healthy kids in healthy schools" (APPLE Schools, 2015). The implementation of APPLE Schools is unique to each school community, therefore school-specific health promotion initiatives are developed based on the needs and requirements

identified by each school community (Schwartz et al., 2010). Although APPLE Schools is primarily school-based, an important component of both the project and CSH is the link between the home, school, and community (APPLE Schools, 2008; Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016).

# 4.1.2 The photovoice project

This section will provide a detailed overview of the process that was utilized in the initial photovoice project (which took place at three APPLE Schools) in order to provide important context for the research presented in this chapter regarding teacher perceptions. As the primary coordinator of the project, first person narrative will be used throughout this chapter in order to distinguish my role in the decision making and facilitation of the project that took place between November 2015 and May 2016. As a general overview, Figure 1 provides a timeline of the photovoice project in one of the participating schools, and highlights the steps that were taken. These steps will be explored in greater detail within this section. After reviewing the photovoice project steps, the specific methods for the present research regarding teacher perceptions will be reviewed.



Figure 12. Photovoice project timeline for school "A"

#### Step 1: Management team meeting

The initial stage of the photovoice project began with a meeting between members of the APPLE Schools management team and myself. This meeting served to introduce the photovoice project, obtain initial feedback from the team, and discuss recruitment strategies for school involvement. The APPLE Schools management team identified potential schools to partner with, and made the initial contact with schools by introducing the project to administrators. Upon receiving interest and support from the administrators, the APPLE Schools management team then connected me with the schools via email, and I was able to provide further details to the administrators and pertinent Grade 5/6 teachers. I arranged a face-to-face meeting with the administrators and teachers in order to discuss the photovoice project and begin scheduling the classroom sessions.

#### Step 2: Preliminary administrator and teacher meeting

I met with the administrator and Grade 5/6 teacher at each of the respective schools in order to formally review the photovoice project and address any questions or concerns they had. It was important to ensure that the administrators and teachers were aware of the purpose of the project, as well as to incorporate their feedback and suggestions as best as possible. The teachers and administrators were given project information letters (Appendix A) which outlined the three stages of data collection which required classroom time. Participation in this project needed to be mutually beneficial for both the teacher and myself, and this meant that there needed to be both research and education-driven incentives. In order to justify taking upwards of three hours of classroom time to conduct this project. I created a document (Appendix B) which linked the photovoice project to relevant curricular outcomes from the Grade 5 Alberta Education guidelines (Government of Alberta, 2016). The project aligned with educational outcomes in Health and Life Skills, Language Arts, and Physical Education. The teachers were also provided with a list of creative ideas and suggestions for how they could use the photographs for further educational purposes (Appendix B, page 4). Further, I wanted this project to be of value to the teachers and students because of the time and effort that they would be investing through their participation. Students would be actively engaged in the analysis and confirmation of findings, and results would be shared with students in an attractive manner that was mutually agreed upon (see Steps 5 and 6 for details on these stages) in hopes to promote ownership in the project and to celebrate the students' involvement.

#### Step 3: Classroom session #1

There were multiple purposes for the first classroom session. This was my first opportunity to meet the students, begin building a relationship with them, and learn more about their unique perceptions and involvement in APPLE Schools. From a project standpoint, this session was meant to introduce the photovoice project, get the students excited about being involved, and prepare them for their photo-taking "mission." An outline of this session is available in Appendix E.

The initial classroom session was crucial for effectively developing the students' understanding of the project expectations while relaying an abstract concept in a way that would minimize the influence on the students' responses. First, students were each given a half-sheet of paper with the question "What does APPLE Schools look like at (school name)?" The APPLE Schools logo was also visible on these sheets of paper, so as to trigger any additional thoughts or ideas for visual learners. This opportunity for independent reflection gave students a chance to brainstorm their unique ideas and school experiences. Students were encouraged to use whatever means they preferred (i.e., writing sentences, words, or drawing pictures on their paper) in order to identify and share their ideas. Next, students were divided into small groups of four or five, and given a poster-sized paper with the same question written in the middle of it. Students were instructed to work together to create a word-web of their ideas. After five to ten minutes, students returned to their desks and I facilitated a word-web with the whole class on the white board using popcorn sharing. Popcorn sharing involved the students raising their hands and rapidly sharing their ideas with me one at a time as I recorded them on the white board. This was an efficient way to hear a lot of the students' responses in a short amount of time. The purpose of this activity was to familiarize myself and the students with the activities and aspects of their school community that were unique to APPLE Schools.

The aforementioned activity transitioned into the introduction of the research purpose. When introducing the topic, care was taken to avoid the words such as "healthy" and "unhealthy," as I did not want to limit the students' perceptions and ideas of what APPLE Schools entailed. Students were each given a 24-exposure disposable camera and specific guidelines to follow. A take-home sheet of paper had the guidelines listed, as well as the overarching "mission" for students, which was to take pictures to answer the question: "What does APPLE Schools look like in your home?" (Appendix F). Students were

instructed to bring their cameras back to their teacher for pick up within one week. There was an opportunity for questions at the end of the session, and we gave three students an opportunity to share with the class an example of what could be a suitable photo to take at home. The reasoning behind providing three examples was to ensure that students were on the right track with their photo-taking, but to not influence their photos and ideas. Students were encouraged to be creative with their photos, and they were told that there were no wrong answers.

#### Step 4: Student interviews

For students who provided consent to participate in the research component of the photovoice project, oneon-one interviews were conducted in order to explore the photos within the context of the research question. Prior to the interviews, I reviewed the photos to ensure that there were no inappropriate photos or pictures of people. Photos of people were removed and destroyed.

Student interviews were conducted in the school setting, in a quiet area arranged by the teachers. As previously arranged with the teachers, students were taken out of class for 15-20 minutes in order to review their photos and complete the interview process. The interview questions followed the photovoice guidelines developed by Wang and Burris (1997), which are described in greater detail in Chapter 3 of this thesis and in Appendix G.

#### Step 5: Member checking

Due to the participatory nature of this project, the member checking stage was essential in order to receive student feedback on the initial results. I compiled classroom-specific PowerPoint presentations to showcase quotes and photos from those students who participated in the research component of the project. I asked all students in the classroom to provide feedback about the themes and to share further examples of how these ideas were present in their homes. I also explained to the students that they were the experts, and I truly valued their opinions and feedback. The students were excited to see their photos and quotes on the PowerPoint presentations, and were enthusiastic about their roles as "researchers." At the end of the session, I explained to the students that I would now be using all of the information I had gather to write a large research report and would be back in the spring to share the final results with them. In conversation

with the teachers, all were supportive of the idea of using photobooks and newsletters to share the project findings with their school communities.

#### Step 6: Dissemination of findings

The final classroom visits involved sharing the newsletters (Appendix H) and photobooks (Appendix I) with the students. Each student received a newsletter to take home, and each school received two photobooks to keep. Students were once again excited to see their photos in the books, and provided more examples of the themes that were present in the books. This session therefore not only celebrated the students' involvement in the research project, but also reinstated the strength of the findings. A detailed exploration of the results from this study can be found in chapter 3 of this thesis. The knowledge dissemination session also served as an opportunity for me to meet with the teachers to discuss the photovoice process with them in greater detail. It was during this session that the one on one teacher interviews were conducted.

## 4.2 Methods

## 4.2.1 Methodological approach

This research was guided by a descriptive qualitative method. Descriptive qualitative research is often used when trying to describe or summarize a phenomenon (Mayan, 2009). This method was employed in order to identify, describe, and summarize the characteristics of the photovoice project that were crucial to its success from the perspectives of the teachers. When utilizing a descriptive qualitative method, the researcher works closely with the data, which is often less abstract than that of traditional qualitative methods (Mayan, 2009). As I was very familiar with the conduct of the research and topic of interest, a descriptive qualitative approach was a suitable method for the research objective.

### 4.2.2 Participants and ethics

In order to understand the phenomenon of interest, participants were purposefully sampled based on their experience and role in the photovoice project. Purposive sampling aligns with the descriptive qualitative approach used (Mayan, 2009). The teachers from the three participating Grade 5/6 classes assisted in providing feedback for the second objective of this research project as they were present for the duration of the photovoice project and as such could provide valuable insight into the feasibility of using this approach in the classroom. The teachers were contacted via email and asked to participate in a one-on-one semi-structured interview. All three teachers consented to participate. Two teachers were male and one was female. Notably, one teacher was the school's "Health Champion," and another had the role of curriculum coordinator within the school.

Ethical approval was granted through the Human Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. Teachers were given project information letters which stated the purpose of their involvement, and completed consent forms prior to participating (Appendix I). Verbal consent was also established at the start of each interview.

## 4.2.3 Data generation

# 4.2.3.1 Teacher interviews

Aligned with descriptive qualitative inquiry, interviews served as the primary data source (Mayan, 2009). One-on-one semi-structured interviews were conducted with three Grade 5/6 teachers in order to receive their feedback on the photovoice project and to understand their perceptions of the feasibility of this approach. Semi-structured interviews were used as I had significant insight into the research objective and was therefore able to create an interview guide to address the main topics of interest; however, unanticipated probes were also incorporated as

necessary (Mayan, 2009; Richards & Morse, 2007). The interview guide was developed through consultation with the APPLE Schools team and an expert in the education field. Questions aimed to address the teachers' feedback on the photovoice project, gain their input on the importance of school to home knowledge translation, provide insight into how they used the various resources provided (i.e., curricular links, student photographs), and identify the implications of repeating the photovoice project again independently. A full version of the interview guide is available in Appendix J. I conducted the interviews in each of the respective schools at a time that was convenient for the teachers. Two interviews took place during the teachers' prep time, and one interview took place at recess. The teacher interviews lasted between seven and 16 minutes.

# 4.2.3.2 Field notes

As the primary facilitator of the photovoice project, my experience as an active participant in the research was an important source of data. As such, the observational field notes I took while conducting the photovoice project were used as a form of data. Field notes are valuable sources of information, as they provide an understanding of the research setting that may not be possible simply through interviews alone (Mayan, 2009). Detailed researcher journaling was completed throughout the entire process of conducting the photovoice project, which included both participant observations and insight into the classroom settings where the project took place. Field notes included objective data regarding the date, location, time, and length of each session. Additionally, these notes provided a subjective and personal account of my experiences in each stage of the photovoice project. Participant observations included a detailed description of the setting, any notable occurrences that took place during each of the sessions, and the personal feelings, emotions, and reflections I made immediately after each of

the sessions took place. As the interviews were often conducted in public spaces (i.e., the school library or "flex space") it was important to note any distractions that may have interrupted or influenced how the interviews were conducted. Referring back to my field notes during the analysis process allowed me to recall my personal thoughts about each of the sessions in order to adequately recall and contextualize each of my experiences in the schools.

## 4.2.4 Analysis

Interviews were transcribed verbatim and data was imported into Nvivo v10 qualitative analytic software. Latent content analysis was used to identify, code, and categorize the data into themes (Mayan, 2009), and analytic codes were identified in order to develop categories theoretically (Richards & Morse, 2007). The data suggested categories based on the strengths and limitations of the project, as the teachers spoke about both the positive and negative features of the project. As such, these codes were later merged into categories which established three themes: i) strengths of using the photovoice project; ii) barriers of using the photovoice project; and iii) future directions of using the photovoice project in the classroom setting to understand the translation of behaviours from the school to the home.

Field notes were also used throughout the analytic process, as I had first-hand insight into the research project of interest. I reviewed my field notes in order to identify the contextual factors that influenced the project. These contextual factors aided in developing the emerging themes identified above by providing an understanding of the consistent observations that existed amongst the three school visits. As such, the findings are a reflection of both the follow-up teacher interviews and personal field notes that I completed during the stages of the photovoice data collection process.

# 4.3 Results

Analysis revealed three themes: the strengths of using the photovoice project, the limitations of the photovoice project, and the future directions of using the photovoice project. Overall, the feedback from teachers was very positive and strongly supported their students' involvement. This quote summarizes the general feelings from the teachers regarding the approach and their participation in the project:

We were super excited to be a part of it. Like it fit very nicely into our school focus and I would encourage others from the university to continue that... I thought you did an excellent job from whoever first created this and how it was executed and your rapport with the students and just the whole coming back and showing them it wasn't for nothing, that this is a product that you have to create...We were pleased to be a part of it. And we would again, if there was opportunity.

# **4.3.1 Strengths of the photovoice project**

The teachers identified three crucial factors which were imperative to the success of the photovoice project from both a research and educational standpoint to understand the abstract concept of how school-learned behaviours are transferred home. The three strengths which supported use of this approach in the classroom were: genuine student participation; strengthened communication between the school and home; and addressing multiple learning domains.

## 4.3.1.1 Genuine student participation

A necessary factor to the success of the photovoice project was the level of buy-in from the students in terms of genuine participation. Students were excited about the project from the beginning, and this was clear in the amount of effort and attention they gave to it. Teachers discussed how the students felt a strong sense of ownership over the project as they were given a lot of freedom and responsibility in the task of taking photos in their home. As one teacher explained:

[The students] got to make choices, they got to make evaluations as to what they felt fit the profile of something that was acceptable. They take ownership for it, they put some pride into it and it was a situation where they were able to express their understanding of what they chose and why.

The classroom sessions continually highlighted the participatory nature of the photovoice project, and I fostered an understanding with the students that they were the experts. By telling the students that there were no wrong answers, I hoped to generate the student's confidence and ownership of the project. When students shared examples of APPLE Schools, I was excited and supportive of their responses. As a result, I observed that more students were willing to share their stories and experiences with the class and in the interview process. Due to the nature of the topic, all students were able to relate and contribute to the classroom conversations surrounding the research. As a teacher explained:

Because we're an APPLE School, [the project] was something right away they could relate to, and getting our kids feeling confident about sharing stuff is important 'cause sometimes if they feel that they don't know the answer they're pretty timid. But you brought something that they all had experience with and could relate to.

The relatability of the topic allowed students to be interested and engaged, and as such their participation was rich and genuine.

The photovoice project was facilitated in a way that promoted students' sense of pride and accomplishment, therefore students felt invested in the project. The member checking and knowledge dissemination stages were opportunities to showcase the quality of the students' work, and students were excited to see their photographs in the newsletters, photobooks, and PowerPoint presentations. The value that was placed on the students' responses allowed their confidence and sense of ownership to grow throughout the research process. One teacher spoke about her observations during the classroom sessions:

[It's] important to show that hey, your findings matter and now it's published in a book and now it's – like you're talked about in a newsletter and what you did was pretty incredible. So they will have a lot of pride with that and know that they contributed to that.

Finally, both myself and the teachers recognized the crucial role that the cameras played in facilitating and encouraging meaningful participation. As disposable cameras are now somewhat of a novelty for children (none of the students had ever seen or used one before), the students were intrigued by the devices and felt a sense of ownership in looking after their cameras during their photo-taking "mission." Further, the photographs added a great deal of depth to the responses and conversations in the interviews and classroom sessions. As one teacher indicated: "If you had said 'here's a piece of paper, write down ten things in your home that show healthy living,' you wouldn't have had the same response." Students felt a personal connection to the project because the findings were solely based off of the photos and feedback that they supplied. As a result, students fostered genuine participation throughout the research process.

### 4.3.1.2 Strengthened communication between the school and home

Learning more about the student's home environments was something that the teachers valued, but agreed was often difficult. One teacher discussed how there was a lack of communication between the school and the home, and as a result it was challenging to know if school behaviours were transferring home. The teacher explained, "I feel there's a big disconnect between home and school in general, in this community. And we don't see the parents very often, or hear from them. The communication is lacking." The teacher went on to describe how it was necessary to strengthen the teamwork between school and home in order for students to succeed, and this communication was essential for both the teachers and parents to properly meet the needs of the students. By understanding the dynamics of the home, the teachers spoke about how they could adapt their teaching styles to meet those needs: "I think it helps to understand where background knowledge might be missing as well as to see where students, you know, might have trouble seeing connections." One teacher described how having a relationship with the home was valuable to their teaching by explaining: "I know better how to meet [the students'] needs...By being in regular contact with home, and sharing with them what's going on, they're better informed as to what the children are doing." The teachers all agreed that the photovoice project was an effective means to explore and understand the home environment as it was a novel approach to strengthen the communication between the two environments. One teacher also spoke about how they would be interested in using a similar project to better understand the resources that students have in their home environment in order to provide the students with realistic and accessible options for HEAL choices. As such, it was agreed that the photovoice project was a promising tool to strengthen the communication

between the school and the home environment, and could allow for tailored teaching approaches due to the increased insight into students' personal needs.

## 4.3.1.3 Addressing multiple learning domains

From an education standpoint, an appealing feature of the photovoice project was the ability to link it to a variety of curricular outcomes, subjects, and learning domains. The photovoice project gave students a hands-on opportunity to be creative with their learning, which appealed to visual and kinesthetic learners. The use of technology involved "higher end thinking skills," which one teacher described as a unique feature that promoted both teacher and student engagement. In the classroom sessions and interviews, the support of the photographs helped the students to get their messages across, and drawing from visual cues helped them to think about creative and diverse examples from their homes. As one teacher explained, "it's transferring into the different types of learning that they have to do, because so many are visual...it brought a new element to the learning that we're encouraged to use."

In addition to expanding the learning styles used within the classroom, teachers also spoke about how the photovoice project could feasibly be incorporated into a variety of school subjects beyond simply Health and Life Skills and Physical Education. Although I provided the teachers with Grade 5 curricular links and suggestions for how to use the photos, the teachers shared a variety of other ideas that they independently had thought of for the photos. The teachers talked about how this was a worth-while project due to the number of educational outcomes and subjects it could potentially be linked to:

It's got a whole education concept because there's – there's a lot of different ways you can go and the nice thing about doing project-based learning...is if you're going to create

a project with kids, you want to hit on multiple curricular areas – from an assessment standpoint, also from a time standpoint where you can justify both.

This teacher spoke about the challenges of fitting his health lessons into just one 30-minute block per week, and how a project such as this could touch on a variety of subjects, thus allowing for more class time to be allocated to the project. The photovoice project was therefore an attractive class activity from an educational, scheduling, and learning standpoint, and the teachers had promising ideas about how to incorporate the project into the wider Grade 5 curriculum. Beyond health topics, this method could be used as an effective way to explore a broader range of school subjects in order to determine their reach into the home.

# 4.3.2 Limitations of the photovoice project

The barriers to utilizing the photovoice project within the school setting were much less significant, but were to be expected based on the nature of the project. The teachers and I recognized three major barriers: cost, privacy issues, and gaining support from parents.

## 4.3.2.1 Cost

The biggest barrier to repeating the photovoice project in the classroom was the cost involved. When conducting the research project, I received external funding in order to support the costs of the disposable cameras, film development, and printing of the photo books and newsletters. The disposable cameras were ideal for the photovoice project due to their one-time use, privacy, and relatively low cost if students did not return them, however the cost and time associated with developing the film may not be realistic for schools to accommodate. The teachers had access to photo-taking resources in their schools, namely Chromebooks and iPads, however they expressed their concern in allowing these devices to be brought home: "It becomes

a situation where we can't send a \$500 piece of technology home with the student and trust that it's going to come back in one piece- or that it's going to come back." Additionally, it was mentioned that a project like this may highlight the socioeconomic discrepancies that exist amongst students and families. Many students did not have access to devices such as computers and digital cameras at home, therefore it would be unfair to expect students to supply these resources from home in order to participate in a project like this. As such, the financial cost of accommodating a classroom photovoice project relating to the home environment was the major barrier identified.

# 4.3.2.2 Privacy

Ethical considerations in terms of privacy and confidentiality were an issue of concern when conducting a photovoice project. Formal ethics approval from both the University of Alberta and the school district was established for the initial student research project, and as a condition of these ethics boards students were not allowed to take photos of people. Written parental consent and verbal student assent were attained prior to participation as well. As such, proper steps would need to be in place in order to ensure future projects were conducted in a sensitive manner, because as one teacher explained: "otherwise we're going to run into a nightmare of people's faces [in the photos] and…it could create some concerns or problems." However, the teacher did go on to say that privacy issues could be minimized or prevented as long as the teacher clearly explained the expectations of the photo-taking procedure to the students, and potentially screened the photos before using them for a project. When conducting the photovoice project, I ensured that students were clearly aware that they could not take photos of people by providing both verbal and written instructions stating this. Further, I screened the photos prior to returning them to the students, but overall only had to remove three photos that

included people. As such, privacy issues could be minimized when the correct preventative steps are taken.

## 4.3.2.3 Parental support

An issue that both the teachers and I identified was obtaining parental support for the photovoice project. Because of the somewhat invasive process of taking photos in the home, some parents did not want their child taking part in the photo project. During the classroom sessions, some students shared with me that their guardian did not want them to partake in the activity, and as such some students did not feel comfortable taking a camera home despite the fact that they would not participate in the research component. Parental support is crucial when working with children, as consent is required in order for students to participate. One teacher spoke about this issue, however also came to a conclusion regarding building trust over time in order to gain parent support for projects of this nature: "If I used [the photovoice project] more often, or in different ways, it would build more of a trust aspect too, from home and school. Like this is a legitimate way to capture your child's learning...we're not spying on you."

# 4.3.3 Future directions of the photovoice project

Through conversations with the teachers about the strengths and limitations of the project, the teachers shared multiple ideas that they had for expanding the student-centered photovoice project in the future. These ideas supported the question of whether or not this was a worthwhile project to independently implement within the school setting. When asked how the teachers used the students' photos, all three teachers admittedly either sent the photos home with the students to keep, or were still in possession of the photos as there was potential for a future

project. Two of the teachers described that in the future, they hoped to utilize the students' photos and experiences in order to facilitate student-driven health promotion advocacy to their families and their school communities. As one teacher explained:

I wanna see if we can extend [the project] to more of a whole school thing...we've got some valuable tools here now so we might want to do school-wide lessons, as them as leaders and to show, hey, this is what we were part of, it's pretty cool.

The teachers were excited about the fact that the students took such ownership over the photovoice project, and were motivated to continue to use the project as a way to promote student leadership within the school. Another teacher shared an idea of student led health promotion advocacy, stating:

As a Grade 5/6, the kids in the room are the oldest in the school. Therefore an opportunity for them is to now take what they're doing at home and share it with the [Division] 1s, using the pictures, creating a presentation, doing those kinds of things.

The teachers' eagerness to promote student-centered health promotion activities within the school communities opens a wide range of potential implications of using this photovoice project in the classroom. Other promising future directions for the project that were expressed by the teachers included partnering with community members to fund the project, using the photographs in digital portfolios that the students could continually build on, and adding an educational component to the project in order for students to learn more about topics such as portion sizes, sugar content, etc.

# 4.4 Discussion

From both a research and education standpoint, the use of a photovoice project was an effective way to learn how students translate school behaviours home. Analysis revealed that the students' genuine participation in the project was pivotal to the research findings as well as the teachers' enthusiasm to use the project in the future. Genuine participation is recognized as a human right for children, as young people's participation can vary across many degrees (Hart, 1992). The "ladder of participation" demonstrates how children's participation can exist on a range from tokenism to genuine participation (Hart, 1992). This project, although adult-initiated, demonstrated a high level of student involvement and shared decision making. Hart stresses that the most important component of genuine participation is that "programmes should be designed which maximize the opportunity for any child to choose to participate at the highest level of his ability" (Hart, 1992, p. 11). Photovoice, by nature, is a participatory approach with promotes the participants' free choice throughout. From choosing to initially participate in the project, the photo-taking process, selection of what photos would be discussed in the interviews, and opportunities to provide feedback and make changes to the results during the member-checking sessions, students' choices were incorporated throughout the entire research process. Therefore, although it is difficult to truly verify that the students' participation was meaningful and genuine, the level of choice, ongoing participatory steps taken throughout the research process, and insight from the teachers about their students' ownership in their involvement supported the idea that this project produced a high degree of true participation.

Similar to the evaluation conducted in this paper, Jardine & James (2012) completed a process evaluation of a youth photovoice project on tobacco use amongst children and youth in Northern Canada. A major difference between our studies, however, was the level of

participation that they invoked from students. In Jardine & James' photovoice project, older youth were trained to actually conduct the research process. High school students facilitated all aspects of the research, from the development of the interview guide, to conducting the interviews, as well as the analysis process and drawing conclusions about the findings (Jardine & James, 2012). The authors concluded similar results: that their community-based participatory research (CBPR) project resulted in a strong sense of youth ownership, and as a result produced more valid and credible research findings. Using a more conventional approach to photovoice (Wang & Burris, 1997), my findings therefore support the ability for student-centered photovoice research to produce meaningful, genuine participation and valuable insight while being conducted by an external researcher. This may have been in part due to the relatability of the research topic and the relationship I fostered with the students to ensure that they felt as though their voices were valued and heard.

Promising findings were identified regarding the project's implications in the classroom. The importance of fostering a strong relationship between the school and the home is vital in order to support children from multiple environments to achieve the utmost success (Epstein, 1992; Sormunen et al., 2011). Student-centered visual means such as photo taking, illustrations, and journaling have been used in the past to strengthen the collaboration between the school and home and allow for greater insight for both parents and teachers into the needs of the child (Yuen, 2011), as well as provide age-centered understandings of the home environment that may not have been uncovered through interviews alone (Jorgenson & Sullivan, 2010). However, our understanding of the impact of school behaviours on the home is primarily parent-based (Gadhoke et al., 2015; Rausch et al., 2015) or concludes elusive findings (Baranowski et al., 2000; Lytle et al., 2006; Reynolds et al., 2000). To the best of our knowledge, the photovoice

project suggests a novel approach to solely capture children's perceptions of the translation and impact of a school-based intervention on the home environment by using visual means.

The teachers in this project noted that the partnerships between the school and home were weak, and although the teachers valued creating meaningful lessons that related to their students' lives, this was difficult when there was a lack of knowledge about the home environment. Our photovoice project allowed teachers to gain a better understanding of their students' home lives, and as such provided the teachers with insight into how better to meet their students' needs. Modifying teaching methods and styles in order to meet students' unique needs can aid in building better relationships with students, allow students to apply more skills to "real world" situations they face, and can foster greater student engagement by making lessons applicable and relatable to their own lives (Starkman, 2006). In addition to the value the photovoice project had in providing insight into the home, teachers also shared that the project fit well with their curriculum by being applicable to various subjects. The Alberta curriculum for Grade 5 classes states eight mandatory classroom subjects, as well as up to six additional option courses which include religion and language subjects (Alberta Government, 2015). The teachers believed that this photo project could be implemented into their school curriculum through a variety of school subjects, not just those relating to health. Further, the approach to using photos to explore a topic was a feasible way to address multiple subjects through one project. Instead of multiple small, short-lived projects, teachers could therefore invest a greater amount of time to foster and develop a meaningful photo project that would span across a variety of subject areas and facilitate higher-end learning. The photovoice project also addressed a variety of standards as listed by the Teaching Quality Standard Ministerial Order, some of which include: the importance of engaging parents, purposefully and meaningfully, in all aspects of teaching and

learning; how student learning is enhanced through the use of home and community resources; and establishing key partnerships within the school, home, community, and within your own school to improve the school environment (Alberta Education, 2016a). As the teachers highlighted the difficulties they had in connecting with parents and their students' homes, this project provided a feasible way to address this issue.

The barriers that were identified aligned similarly with previous research on implementing programs within the school setting. Pinkelman et al. (2015) identified that a lack of school resources, including both money and time, are common barriers to promoting and implementing school-based supports and interventions (Pinkelman, McIntosh, Rasplica, Berg, & Strickland-Cohen, 2015). It is understandable that with limited school and classroom budgets, cost concerns would arise when implementing a photovoice project in the classroom due to the added external expenses (i.e., the cameras, film development) required. Time and the issue of balancing competing interests in the classroom has also been frequently cited as an obstacle for teachers to overcome when implementing new programs in the school setting (Griffin et al., 2015; Langford et al., 2015a; Pinkelman et al., 2015). Promisingly, the photovoice project was identified as a means to actually overcome this barrier. Teachers had recognized the ability for the project to incorporate various subjects into one class assignment, and as such this could lead to more efficient time management. We previously established that engaging parents in schoolbased projects and interventions can be a challenging task, and as such parental involvement is often cited as a barrier for such projects (Griffin et al., 2015; Langford et al., 2015a). Although the photovoice project aimed to address this issue by utilizing students as information sources and knowledge brokers, a barrier to using the photovoice project was inevitably gaining the support of parents. The photovoice project did not require parental involvement or participation, however a project of this nature needed parental consent because students were required to take photos in their homes. The issue of privacy was a barrier that was fairly unique to this project due to the involvement of photographs and the potential for students to take pictures of people whom did not give their permission. In the interviews, however, the teachers were able to address this barrier with feasible solutions such as ensuring clear directions were given to the students about the nature of their photos, and screening the photos prior to returning the prints the them. Finally, a barrier that is often identified when implementing school-based projects is the need for teacher and staff buy-in (Griffin et al., 2015; Pinkelman et al., 2015). The teacher feedback about the photovoice project was supportive and positive by nature, therefore these findings did not identify teacher buy-in as a barrier, but rather suggested promising implications for the future use of this method in the classroom.

The use of participatory approaches has been recognized as an effective way to promote genuine and valuable participation from children, and can lead to increased social responsibility, community development, and self-determination (Hart, 1992). The teachers shared a variety of ways to carry the photovoice project forward, with their primary idea being to use the photos in student-centered health promotion advocacy efforts within the school community. This initiative aligns with previous photovoice research which has resulted in student-led social action and community change (Wang, 2006; Wilson, Minkler, Dasho, Wallerstein, & Martin, 2008). However, the future directions discussed by the teachers were particularly exciting and unique because these initiatives were solely developed by the teachers within the school community (rather than being researcher-driven), thus adding to the value and worth that they gave to the project.

# 4.4.1 Limitations

The results of this research are from a combination of my own field notes and observations, as well as one-on-one structured interviews with three teachers whose classes participated in the photovoice project. The insightful comments from the teacher regarding future directions for the photovoice project were both promising and encouraging in terms of the wider implications of using such an approach in the classroom. However, because only three teachers were involved in the photovoice project and were therefore able to provide feedback on their participation, the responses and eagerness to utilize the project for further health promotion efforts may be rather ambitious compared to most teachers. The three Grade 5/6 teachers had willingly taken on the research project, and as such were supportive of investing their time and effort into this topic. They had to agree to initially accommodate the APPLE Schools photovoice project in their classroom, therefore they may have been more invested in elements of health. APPLE Schools, and CSH compared to Grade 5/6 teachers who opted out of participating in the project. This selection bias may have been reflected in their enthusiasm about the project and it's health promotion implications. Further, one teacher identified as the "Health Champion" in their school, while another teacher was the curriculum coordinator. This strong interest in the research topic therefore may have been translated into a greater desire to use the photographs for further self-directed health promotion activities. Other teachers may not be as ambitious or invested in the project and the follow-up activities that were mentioned in the interviews. As such, representation from a wide range of teachers was a limitation of this study.

## 4.4.2 Conclusion

The purpose of this research was to incorporate feedback from the researcher (myself) and participating teachers in order to gain a deeper understanding of the strengths, weaknesses, and future directions of utilizing a student-centered photovoice project to determine how students translate school behaviours into the home. Overall, the teachers expressed positive feedback regarding their participation in the photovoice project. The major strengths of the photovoice project were identified as fostering genuine student participation, strengthening communication between the school and home, and the ease of linking the photo project to multiple learning domains within the classroom and school setting. These strengths heavily outweighed the limitations of the photovoice project, which were namely cost, privacy issues, and gaining parental support. The teachers also identified a variety of ideas future directions to build on the photo project in the school and community at large. A promising finding was the teachers' potential to utilize the photovoice project to foster student leadership and health promotion advocacy. This opportunity would extend the students' meaningful participation by allowing them to share the project and potentially educate others about healthy eating and active living behaviours in the school and home.

The photovoice project demonstrated a novel way for teachers to gain a greater understanding of how their students are bringing lessons home, as well as to strengthen the relationship between the school and home environments. Further, teachers supported the idea that this project could be used to explore the relationship between school lessons and the home in a variety of school subjects, not just health-related matters. The lack of literature regarding student's role in behaviour change in the home as a result of student-based programs and interventions demonstrates the need for an effective method to evaluate this phenomenon. Based on the strengths of the findings from the initial research project, as well as the positive feedback and support from teachers, this photo method serves as a way to identify and explore this relationship in both a research and education-based format. Further utilization of student-

centered photovoice projects to explore how school behaviours impact the home are encouraged in order to strengthen the evidence for the use of such an approach.
## **CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS**

## 5.1 Summary of Findings

The purpose of this research was to utilize students' perspectives in order to explore the reach of a school based health promotion project, the Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools (APPLE Schools), into the home environment. Further, this research aimed to understand if the photovoice project used to explore this relationship provided a feasible way for teachers to determine how school lessons translate home. It has been well established that the school and the home play significant roles in influencing children's healthy eating and active living (HEAL) behaviours (Langford et al., 2015b), and that collaboration between these two environments is essential for optimal success (Epstein, 2011). Comprehensive school health (CSH), an international approach to health promotion in schools, recognizes this importance and was the guiding framework for our intervention of interest, APPLE Schools (APPLE Schools, n.d.-b; Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health, 2008). Previous research involving APPLE Schools has suggested positive implications for outof-school physical activity, as evidence demonstrates students at APPLE Schools are more active after school hours and on weekends (Bastian et al., 2015; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014b). However, the mechanisms by which students maintain HEAL behaviours in the home had yet to be explored. Utilizing student and teacher perspectives and researcher field notes, this research addressed two overall objectives:

- 1. To gain an understanding of how students perceive the HEAL behaviours that are fostered in an APPLE School are translated into the home environment.
- To explore the utilization of a student-centered classroom photovoice project as a tool for teachers to determine if school-learned behaviours are reaching the home.

## 5.1.1 Objective 1 summary

The first objective of this research was to understand how students perceived their involvement in APPLE Schools impacted HEAL behaviours in the home. The approach to understanding this objective was guided by photovoice, and involved students taking photos of their home environment to be used in follow-up one-on-one discussions. Results revealed three key findings: students are taking on a leadership role in both their own HEAL behaviours and those of their family; students are internalizing the APPLE Schools philosophy; and students are driving change to create a healthy home culture.

Student leadership and decisional ownership was an underlying component of both themes that emerged in this research. Students displayed a "take charge" attitude when making their health choices, as they possessed the knowledge and confidence to make informed HEAL decisions. APPLE Schools aims to foster student leadership within their schools, and this element was essential for students to feel empowered to make changes in their homes. Students understood that it was their responsibility to look after themselves and make healthy choices. As a result, it was evident that students possessed the decisional ownership to lead changes in their own behaviours at home, as well as those of their family members.

The mission and vision of APPLE Schools creates a philosophy by which school communities promoted HEAL values. The APPLE Schools philosophy can be understood as: "promoting healthy kids in healthy schools" by "empower[ing] school communities to lead, choose, and be healthy." This leads to "sustainable changes to school, home, and community environments" in order to "foster lifelong health and learning" (APPLE Schools, 2008). The values taught at an APPLE School were engrained in student's decision making processes at home, and as such students internalized this philosophy by rooting their health habits in school

experiences and committing to their healthy habits for long term success. The formal and informal lessons that students learned in school were used to inform their decision making processes, which resulted in a strong sense of ownership and motivation to make healthy choices at home. Students also understood and rationalized their healthy decisions by acknowledging the "big picture" implications of developing positive HEAL habits currently. As such, they inherently embodied the APPLE Schools philosophy by valuing the lessons learned in school and the lifelong implications of such behaviours.

These results demonstrated that students were not only advocating for HEAL behaviours within the home, but more importantly that they played a primary role in driving changes to create a healthy home culture. Four mechanisms were identified by which students drove these changes. First, students were empowered to expand their healthy habits by trying new things. Involvement in an APPLE School exposed students to a variety of new healthy habits, such as new foods and activities. As such, students reported expanding their preferences for healthy options and led these changes within their homes. Students introduced new activities to their family members, and as a result of their openness to trying new things, their family members were also exposed to these options. Further, students demonstrated a sense of ownership in their understanding that trying new things helped to expand their overall preferences and enjoyment of healthy habits. They were more inclined to try, and share, new healthy habits at home as a result of their involvement in APPLE Schools.

Second, positive changes were made to the home food environment as a result of student's suggestions and guidance. Students catalyzed changes in parental food purchasing, the contents of their own lunches, and family dinners. In order to pack healthy lunches, students often cited that they had to ask their parents to buy different foods in order to ensure they met the

requirements of a "rainbow lunch." Through these requests, students were able to influence their parent's grocery purchases in order to introduce or promote more healthy food options at home. Students also gained confidence in helping with meal preparation. Not only were they able to change the content of home meals, they also participated more in cooking with their parent or guardian. It is important to note that students commonly cited that their parents were supportive of the healthy suggestions they made, however the students played a critical role in actuating these changes through the suggestions and requests that they voiced at home.

Third, HEAL behaviours were shown to increase in students, and as a result students were more inclined to encourage and participate in such behaviours with family members. Student driven co-participation in physical activity resulted in family members engaging in more physical pursuits than they were previously doing. Students also educated family members about HEAL, and in doing so were able to facilitate improvements to their eating habits. Students were leaders in HEAL at home, and encouraged their family members to follow suit by participating in healthy lifestyle behaviours with them. APPLE Schools therefore increased students' emphasis on HEAL at home and promoted students to change their family's behaviours through engagement and co-participation.

Finally, students displayed a greater responsibility towards modifying their unhealthy behaviours at home. The home was an environment where students had more freedom over their HEAL decisions, and as such there were more temptations and opportunities to stray from the HEAL values they fostered at school. However, students established ownership over their behaviours in order to moderate their intake of unhealthy foods and sedentary behaviours, as they knew these things were not good for them. Further, students educated and advised family members of these understandings in order to ensure they modified their unhealthy choices. As

such, students were once again leaders in promoting and changing behaviours at home in order to sustain the HEAL values learned in an APPLE School.

# 5.1.2 Objective 2 summary

The purpose of objective 2 was to evaluate the photovoice project used in objective 1. The findings from objective 1 provided valuable insight into students' perceptions of how APPLE Schools translated into the home, and to the authors' best knowledge this was the first study to understand how school behaviours reach the home using solely the students' perspectives. As insight into the home environment can be particularly useful for teachers and educators (Epstein, 1992; Starkman, 2006), the use of photographs to explore the reach of school behaviours may be a feasible way for teachers to explore this relationship within the constructs of their classroom. As such, objective 2 utilized follow-up teacher interviews and researcher field notes in order to evaluate the photovoice project used in objective 1 and answer three questions: 1) What unique features of this photo project were essential to its success?; 2) Could this project be applied to understanding the effects of a wide variety of classroom subjects on the home environment?; and 3) Is it feasible for teachers to implement this project in their classroom independently?

Feedback about the implementation of the photovoice project was overwhelmingly positive. Teachers identified three major strengths that led to its success from both a research and education standpoint. First, genuine participation from students made the project engaging and worthwhile. The teachers shared that students felt ownership in the project because they could relate to the objective of the research and felt as though their feedback mattered. The novelty of using disposable cameras also aided in students' genuine participation, as they were excited to use the cameras and the photographs played a crucial role in the facilitation of the

interviews. The project was worthwhile because it fostered genuine participation from all students.

A second strength that was identified was that the photovoice project strengthened communication between the school and the home. The teachers all agreed that understanding their students' home lives was important in order to properly meet their students' needs. However, the teachers also identified that it was difficult to foster relationships with the home, and communication with parents and families was often a challenge. The photos and responses from the students provided valuable insight into their home environments, and this was of great value to both the teachers and the objective of the initial research project. As such, the teachers agreed that this was a viable, student-centered approach to gain insight into the home in order to learn more about their students' unique needs.

From an education standpoint, a major strength of the photovoice project was that it could feasibly address multiple learning domains at one time (Alberta Education, 2015, 2016b). The photovoice project not only appealed to teachers because it promoted visual learning, but beyond this teachers also spoke about how the project could viably apply to a variety of subjects and curricular objectives as it embodied both higher-end and project-based learning. As a result, the teachers agreed that this project could feasibly be implemented within the classroom, and there were many ways in which it addressed multiple learning domains.

The limitations of using this photovoice project within the classroom were less substantial, yet were to be expected. Teachers identified cost, privacy issues, and parental support as the three major barriers to implementing this project again within the classroom. Promisingly, however, the teachers were quite easily able to think of ways to overcome these

limitations. As such, the project appeared to have minimal restrictions if it were to be implemented independently by the teacher as a classroom project.

Finally, the teachers shared some exciting ideas about the future directions of using a photovoice project within the classroom. An idea that arose was to organize student-led presentations in the school in order to display the students' role in the project, as well as to promote HEAL advocacy both at school and in the home. The teachers cited different ideas for this, ranging from using the photos in bulletin board displays to the students facilitating presentations to younger students within the school. The teachers recognized that the students' participation in the project, paired with the tangible result they acquired in the photographs, had many implications in terms of student-centered health promotion within the school. These results demonstrated promising implications for future photo-projects within the classroom setting.

## **5.2 Interpretation of Findings**

Research presented in this thesis used photovoice as a novel approach to determine how students perceived their involvement in APPLE Schools impacted their healthy lifestyle behaviours in the home environment. The photovoice project was evaluated through teacher interviews and researcher field notes to determine its efficacy of being used by teachers to gain greater insight into the home environment. The importance of the school and home to foster health behaviours in children has been well established (Langford et al., 2015b) and we know that collaboration between these two environments is necessary for children's utmost success (Cox, 2005; Epstein, 1995; Sormunen et al., 2011). As such, this research added to the current understanding of how children can be powerful change agents in the home as a result of their

school experiences, and how children can be valuable stakeholders in bridging our understanding between the school and the home.

Leadership traits in children have been associated with positive HEAL behaviours in students (Ferland et al., 2015), and student leadership has been previously utilized as a means for successfully implementing health promotion initiatives in schools (Gutuskey et al., 2016). The present research findings add to current literature which suggests leadership is a key component for the successful implementation of CSH program amongst a variety of stakeholders, including administrators, teachers, and health champions (Rasberry, Slade, Lohrmann, & Valois, 2015; Roberts et al., 2015). However, the results presented in this thesis highlight the importance of fostering leadership within students in order to ensure that behaviours are sustained in other environments. Previous literature has identified that leadership traits can be acquired as a result of involvement in health programs and initiatives (Keselman, Ahmed, Williamson, Kelly, & Dutcher, 2015), however the concept of leadership has not previously been identified as an important element of students' ability to translate school behaviours to the home (Aldinger et al., 2008; Ballantyne et al., 2001b; Gadhoke et al., 2015). The findings in this thesis therefore provide new insight into the importance of leadership in order for students to drive changes in the home.

There were four mechanisms by which students were able to drive change in their home environment. Of these, some were previously identified in literature while others provided new insight. First, students identified changing HEAL habits because they felt empowered to expand their healthy habits by trying new things. This finding was unique, and added to the literature on behaviours (both health related and otherwise) being translated into the home. Some APPLE Schools used activities such as taste-testing and cooking clubs in order to facilitate the

introduction of new healthy foods to students, and it was assumed this was why students felt empowered or motivated to try new foods at home. Secondly, students reported catalyzing changes in the home food environment through means that are consistent with previous research findings. It has been reported that children influence and improve parental food purchasing habits (Flurry, 2007; Lytle et al., 2006; Norgaard et al., 2007), aid in meal preparation (Chu et al., 2014; van der Horst et al., 2014), and influence meal content (Aldinger et al., 2008; Labrecque & Ricard, 2001) in order to promote healthier consumption patterns for themselves and family members. The present findings therefore support previous literature on this topic. Thirdly, as a result of their involvement in an APPLE School, students increased their HEAL behaviours and engaged family members to do so. Co-participation between children and family members has been previously shown to result in increased HEAL behaviours, in particular physical activity (Aldinger et al., 2008; Xin et al., 2015). Finally, students reported greater awareness and modification of unhealthy choices in the home. Aldinger at al. (2008) had similar findings in their investigation of the changes that came from implementing a CSH project in China. In their study, students made recommendations to family members regarding a variety of health topics including reducing or quitting smoking, wearing helmets when biking, and eating less fried foods (Aldinger et al., 2008). Children's role in health promotion was also identified in India by Mukhopadhyay and Bhatnagar (2005), and in Gadhoke et al.(2015), however the cause of these efforts was not due to a school program in the latter study. The present findings regarding how students drove change in the home environment supported previous research and provided novel insight into the mechanisms by which students' involvement in a school-based health promotion intervention impacted their home.

It is important to establish genuine and meaningful participation from children when involving them in research in order to ensure their autonomy and free choice is respected (Hart, 1992). Through the findings in objective 2, and in maintaining the participatory nature of the research in objective 1, this research confirmed that student's participation in the project was genuine. A previous study by Jardine and James (2012) used photovoice in order to explore children and youths' perceptions of tobacco use within their community, and also concluded that they fostered genuine participation from all students. The authors concluded this genuine participation was a result of their research approach which was rooted in community-based participatory research (CBPR) and involved older youth actually facilitating the research process. The present research, however, demonstrates that genuine participation can be achieved amidst having an external researcher facilitating the research process.

The overall results of this research support the use of a photovoice project in order to accurately capture students' perspectives of the reach of school behaviours into the home. Objective 1 was able to provide insight into exactly how students are driving change in the home, while objective 2 confirmed the use of this tool as a feasible means for educators to understand the reach of school lessons into the home, as well as to provide insight into students' home environment. The use of visual means to explore students' needs has successfully been used in the past in order to strengthen the support from the school and the home (Jorgenson & Sullivan, 2010; Yuen, 2011), and this research further supports such approaches.

Within the literature regarding the translation of behaviours from school to home, parents are typically cited as having the most significant role (Ballantyne et al., 2001b; Gadhoke et al., 2015; Grodzińska-Jurczak et al., 2003; Legault & Pelletier, 2000). The present research provides innovative insight into this transfer of behaviours from the students' perspectives. The findings

from this research strongly support the positive effects that APPLE Schools has on HEAL behaviours in the home environment due to changes driven by students themselves. Further, photovoice was deemed to be a feasible way for educators to explore the effects of a wide range of behaviours into the home. As such, the combined findings from this research support the implementation of the novel use of photovoice to utilize students' perspectives in understanding how school behaviours translate into the home environment.

#### 5.3 Strengths and Limitations

A strength of this research stemmed from the balanced and inclusive demographics of our participants. Of the 25 participants, an equal number of males and female participated (n=13 males), students had attended an APPLE School for various lengths of time ranging from a few months to six years, students came from a variety of home settings (i.e., differences existed in the place of dwelling, number of siblings, caregiver), and students represented three APPLE Schools from differing communities within the city. However, a limitation stemmed from the potential for selection bias. Only students whose parents consented for them to partake in the research were permitted to take part in the follow-up interviews and as such, the findings may have only represented a demographic of students whose families were more mindful of health in the home. Further, the teachers who were interviewed in objective 2 were included because of their involvement in the first research objective. This meant that they had already willingly agreed to participate in the project, and as such may have been more interested or inclined to support health topics, APPLE Schools, and/or research initiatives. Although qualitative research encourages selection bias in order to ensure participants are information rich (Mayan, 2009), this may limit the generalizability of the findings. Another limitation relating to the first objective

was the inability for the students to take photos of people. This may have limited the scope of pictures that the students took.

An overall strength of the present research was the concurrent implementation and evaluation of the novel use of photovoice to understand how school behaviours translate home from the perspective of students. Due to the evaluation of the photovoice process, additional insight was gained into the strengths and weaknesses of using the approach within a classroom setting. This evaluation allowed for confidence in the findings and the impact of using photovoice for future classroom based projects. As such, one can conclude that the photovoice project was an effective way for students to demonstrate how their school-learned behaviours reached the home environment.

# **5.4 Implications**

Leadership has been recognized as an important component of school-based health promotion efforts with regards to healthy eating and active living (Ferland et al., 2015; Gutuskey et al., 2016; World Health Organization, 1997). The Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion states the importance of "enabling people to increase control over, and to improve their health" (World Health Organization, 1986b), and as such recognizes that leadership and decisional ownership are important components to developing and sustaining health promotion efforts. This research confirms that leadership characteristics were critical for students to translate behaviours acquired at school to the home. Leadership and decisional ownership are strongly promoted in APPLE Schools, however they are not articulated in the framework of CSH. In Canada, the Joint Consortium for School Health (JCSH) outlines four interrelated pillars which make up the CSH framework: social and physical environment; teaching and learning; policy; and partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). The findings of this research imply

that better health outcomes can be expected if the CSH framework adopts leadership and decisional ownership within its mandate. As such, it may be beneficial for the JSCH to consider adding leadership into their foundational pillars. The WHO recognizes the importance of leadership in their definition of the scope of CSH worldwide by stating the importance of "making healthy decisions and taking control over one's circumstances" (World Health Organization, 2016d). Although this presence is promising, a more explicit representation of the importance of leadership is required in order to demonstrate the significance of these traits in CSH efforts.

This research was particularly unique because the three APPLE Schools that partook in the project were also partnered with *The Leader in Me* process. Although APPLE Schools stress the importance of fostering student leadership within schools, it was not a requirement that APPLE Schools collaborate with *The Leader in Me* or any other particular leadership program (APPLE Schools, 2015). The findings of this research, however, highlighted the importance of having a strong sense of student leadership fostered within the school environment, and as such implementing a structured leadership component such as *The Leader in Me* into APPLE Schools allowed students to develop significant feelings of leadership and decisional ownership. This consequently enabled students to internalize their school culture and drive changes in health behaviours within their homes. As such, this research highlights the significance of developing student leadership and decisional ownership within the context of a CSH intervention. Although schools have mandatory health education curriculum, not all schools are partnered with CSH or *The Leader in Me* process. Despite this, the results of this research do have implications for general health education curriculum. Health education teachers should strive to establish and

build leadership skills and decisional ownership within their students in order to ensure that health messages are embodied and sustained outside of the school environment.

The findings from objective 1 unveiled the ability that children have to catalyze changes in their family's health behaviours. These findings are consistent with previous research regarding children's roles in shaping the home environment (Flurry, 2007), and provided further insight into the ability for children to be key stakeholders in creating and sustaining changes in the home. As opposed to targeting parents, the results of this research highlighted the important role that children and schools can play in family health promotion efforts. The trend of targeting children in order to influence both individual and family health behaviours is commonly seen in media and advertising efforts, particularly in regards to the promotion of unhealthy products and behaviours (Palmer & Carpenter, 2006; Weber, Story, & Harnack, 2006). However, this research demonstrated that instilling leadership and decisional ownership in children empowered students to maintain their healthy lifestyle behaviours outside of the controlled school environment. The research findings also revealed students were more aware of, and were able to modify, unhealthy lifestyle choices that existed in their home. School-based health promotion interventions which foster student leadership may therefore be utilized in an effort to combat the influence of media and advertisements which target and promote unhealthy behaviours in children.

Objective 2 explored the use of the photovoice project within the classroom setting as a method for teachers to better understand the home environment. The effectiveness of the approach was identified, and as such using a photovoice project within the classroom is encouraged. The project was deemed valuable for both teachers and students, as students fostered genuine participation in the project, and teachers gained a greater understanding their

students' home environments in order to better meet their students' needs. This suggests that the photovoice project was an engaging and novel way to communicate an understanding of how a variety of school subjects, lessons, and messages translate into the home. School and home collaborations are important, yet often difficult to establish and typically focus on parent-teacher relations (Bergnehr, 2015; Epstein, 1992). The photovoice project demonstrated a unique way to foster an understanding of the home environment using a student-centered approach in order for teachers to gain insight into their students' homes. As a result, teachers may use this approach to gain awareness of the unique needs of their students in order to cater their teaching to meet these needs and foster the highest level of student success.

### 5.4.1 Recommendations for Future Research

The results of this research imply that photovoice is an effective approach to gaining students' perceptions of the phenomenon of transferring HEAL behaviours from the school to home. However, additional research is warranted. There are few studies that are generalizable to a broader context regarding the ability for children to be catalysts for change in the home, thus future research within a Western context is recommended. In relation to research with APPLE Schools, attaining an understanding from the parent's perspective may add additional insight into the students' role and to our understandings of how the home environment has been impacted by APPLE Schools. It is recognized that each APPLE School fosters a unique school culture based on the contextual needs of the community, therefore it would also be of interest to conduct this project in more APPLE Schools in order to see which aspects, activities, and values that are fostered within their schools are translated home. As all three APPLE Schools in this study were partnered with *The Leader in Me* process, conducting this research with APPLE Schools that

have their own independent leadership initiative would provide further insight into the extent to which student leadership and decisional ownership are promoted.

The process of using photovoice to explore the translation of school behaviours into the home is novel. As such, future research examining this approach for other diverse school topics and subjects is warranted in order to strengthen its use.

# **5.4.2 Recommendations for Practice**

As APPLE Schools continues to expand to new school communities, the findings from this research can help aid future schools in understanding how the behaviours fostered in their school are transferred home. Student leadership and decisional ownership played a key role in students' abilities and empowerment to drive changes in HEAL behaviours within the home, therefore schools should strive to develop and instill leadership values in students. APPLE Schools are evaluated on an ongoing basis in order to inform the effectiveness of the intervention in the context of each school. However, currently there is no measure or account of the leadership qualities that exist in students. Knowing now the importance of leadership and decisional ownership, future evaluation efforts would benefit from including a measure of the level of leadership and decisional ownership in students in order to ensure that this element is being fostered within each school. Schools should also continue to work towards embodying the APPLE Schools philosophy in both formal and informal learning opportunities. Students resounded with the APPLE Schools philosophy when making health choices in the home, and as such this was an important element that impacted behaviours in students' homes. These characteristics of implementation should therefore be utilized by the APPLE Schools team and future school health facilitators, teachers, and administrators in order to ensure the implementation of APPLE Schools is impactful for students beyond the school environment.

Using photovoice in order to understand how school behaviours translate home had positive implications for teacher's insight into their students' homes. Teachers may use this approach in a variety of class subjects as a tool to gain a deeper understanding of how students are applying their knowledge outside of the classroom. Teachers and educators may also utilize this approach in order to gain a deeper understanding of their students' diverse needs, and as a way to strengthen ties between the school and the home. The project fit well with multiple curriculum areas and objectives and the teachers acknowledged that importance of sustaining the project over time in order to develop trust and support from parents. As such there is potential to incorporate this approach into curriculum, as it demonstrates an effective project-based learning assignment that can be applied to various subjects. Overall, the implications of this project have both research and practical recommendations that are applicable to APPLE Schools as well as a wide range of school-based health promotion efforts.

#### 5.5 Knowledge Translation and Exchange

A variety of knowledge translation and exchange (KTE) strategies were utilized to disseminate the findings of this research. It was of utmost importance to ensure that the APPLE School communities were aware of the findings of the research project. The teachers were informed of the results via one-on-one meetings with myself. The meetings took place after the follow-up interviews were conducted, and I prepared a number of PowerPoint slides which organized and displayed each of the themes that emerged from the findings. After I talked through the results with the teachers, they had an opportunity to ask questions and share their feedback informally. The students were informed about the results of the research through two means. I created newsletters for the students to take home in order to share the findings with their family members (Appendix H). The newsletters outlined the research process, and included a general overview of the findings using students' photos and quotes. I connected with the administrators before visiting the schools, and brought copies of the newsletter for as many students as the administrator requested. In addition to the newsletters, I also created photobooks for the schools (Appendix I). Each school received two photobooks (I suggested keeping one in the Grade 5/6 classroom, and one for a public space in the school such as the library). The photobooks provided a more in-depth description of the results of the research, and consisted of a wide range of photos and quotes from the participants. I visited the schools to deliver the photobooks and newsletters to the students, and in doing so was given class time to meet with the Grade 5/6 students in order to conduct a short session about the findings of the research. The students had a chance to look through the photobooks and share their comments and feedback about the findings. This was also an opportunity to thank the students once again for their involvement in the project, and to celebrate their hard work and participation. Students felt a great deal of pride in seeing their photos and quotes in the photobooks and newsletters, and as such these KTE strategies aligned well with the overall strengths of the photovoice project.

The APPLE Schools management team played an ongoing role in the KTE process. I worked closely with the team during the final stages of my data analysis, and as such they were well informed about the findings of the research. A meeting was held with the team to share my findings and receive feedback from them, and they also provided feedback and insight on the initial drafts of the parent newsletters and photobooks. As such, they were actively engaged in the creation and dissemination of KTE strategies. The management team also ordered a number of photobooks and distributed the books to a variety of APPLE Schools funders, Board of Directors, and health professionals. The team played a pivotal role in sharing the results of the

research with a broad range of APPLE Schools stakeholders. The findings of this research will also be used to inform the implementation of future APPLE Schools.

Professionally, I have had the opportunity to share the findings of this research at both local and international academic conferences. Further, I plan to publish this work in academic journals. Although this project was conducted in a specific intervention context, the findings of this research are relevant to a wide range of education stakeholders beyond APPLE Schools. As such, publishing these findings and sharing this research at various conferences will ensure that the results and implications are shared with the broader education and research community. Finally, this project fits into a larger 5-year collaborative research project, titled Return on Investment for Kids' Health (ROI4Kids). Through the ROI4Kids KTE strategies, reports, and presentations, the findings of this research will be made available. My results will assist in informing the overall objectives of ROI4Kids, namely exploring the effectiveness of implementing a CSH project, APPLE Schools.

#### REFERENCES

- Ahamed, Y., Macdonald, H., Reed, K., Naylor, P. J., Liu-Ambrose, T., & McKay, H. (2007).
   School-based physical activity does not compromise children's academic performance.
   *Med Sci Sports Exerc, 39*(2), 371-376. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000241654.45500.8e
- Ahmadi, N., Black, J. L., Velazquez, C. E., Chapman, G. E., & Veenstra, G. (2015).
  Associations between socio-economic status and school-day dietary intake in a sample of grade 5-8 students in Vancouver, Canada. *Public Health Nutr, 18*(5), 764-773 710p. doi:10.1017/S1368980014001499
- Alberta Education. (2008). Daily Physical Activity Survey Report. Alberta Education.
- Alberta Education. (2015). *Guide to education: ECS to grade 12*. Retrieved from https://education.alberta.ca/media/1626501/guide\_to\_education\_2015.pdf
- Alberta Education. (2016a). About The Teaching Profession in Alberta. Retrieved from https://education.alberta.ca/teaching-in-alberta-what-you-need-toknow/?journeyId=1089&resetFilter=1
- Alberta Education. (2016b). Meeting the needs of each student. Retrieved from https://education.alberta.ca/diverse-learners/meeting-the-needs-of-each-student/
- Alberta Government. (2011). *Healthy eating and active living for your 5 to 11 year old*. Retrieved from http://healthyalberta.com/HEAL5-11-March2012.pdf

Alberta Government. (2015). Grade 5 overview. Retrieved from https://www.learnalberta.ca/content/mychildslearning/grade5.html#9

Alberta Health Services. (2010). Childhood overweight and obesity: Summary of evidence from the Cost of Obesity in Alberta report. http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/poph/hi-poph-surv-phids-childhood-overweight-obesity-2010.pdf Retrieved from

http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/poph/hi-poph-surv-phids-childhood-overweightobesity-2010.pdf

- Alberta Health Services. (2016). The Comprehensive School Health Approach. Retrieved from http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/info/csh.aspx
- Alberta Learning. (2002). Health and life skills for kindergarten to grade 9: Guide to implementation. In A. Learning (Ed.). Edmonton, Alberta: Alberta Learning, Learning and Teaching Resources Branch.

Alderman, B. L., Benham-Deal, T., Beighle, A., Erwin, H. E., & Olson, R. L. (2012). Physical Education's Contribution to Daily Physical Activity Among Middle School Youth. *Pediatric Exercise Science, 24*(4), 634-648. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=83779552&site=eds-live&scope=site

Aldinger, C., Zhang, X.-W., Liu, L.-Q., Pan, X.-D., Yu, S.-H., Jones, J., & Kass, J. (2008).
Changes in Attitudes, Knowledge and Behavior Associated with Implementing a
Comprehensive School Health Program in a Province of China. *Health Education Research, 23*(6), 1049-1067. Retrieved from
http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ912218&site=eds-live&scope=site
http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/her/cyn022

Alexander, S. A., Frohlich, K. L., & Fusco, C. (2014). Problematizing "Play-for-Health"
 Discourses Through Children's Photo-Elicited Narratives. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24(10), 1329-1341 1313p. doi:10.1177/1049732314546753

- Allensworth, D., Wyche, J., Lawson, E., & Nicholson, L. (1995). Defining a Comprehensive School Health Program: An Interim Statement. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=25101427&site=eds-live&scope=site
- American Academy of Pediatrics. (2016). Healthy active living for families. Retrieved from https://www.healthychildren.org/English/healthy-living/nutrition/Pages/Healthy-Active-Living-for-Families.aspx
- Amuta, A. O., Jacobs, W., Idoko, E. E., Barry, A. E., & McKyer, E. L. J. (2015). Influence of the Home Food Environment on Children's Fruit and Vegetable Consumption. *Health Promotion Practice*, 16(5), 689-698. doi:10.1177/1524839915589733
- APPLE Schools. (2008). Alberta Project Promoting active Living & healthy Eating in Schools. Retrieved from http://www.appleschools.ca/
- APPLE Schools. (2015). *Vison: Healthy kids in healthy schools*. Retrieved from http://appleschools.ca/files/APPLESchoolsOverview2015-WEB.pdf
- APPLE Schools. (n.d.-a). Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools. Retrieved from http://www.appleschools.ca
- APPLE Schools. (n.d.-b). APPLE Schools: About. Retrieved from http://www.appleschools.ca/about
- APPLE Schools (Producer). (n.d.-c, August 14, 2016). Rainbow Lunch Announcements. Retrieved from http://www.appleschools.ca/files/RainbowLunch.pdf
- Arnold, A., Patton, R., Pearce, E., & Whellams, A. (2012). *Framework for the Comprehensive School Health Approach*. Retrieved from

http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/Infofor/SchoolsTeachers/if-sch-sch-ahs-framework.pdf.

- Atkin, A. J., Corder, K., Goodyer, I., Bamber, D., Ekelund, U., Brage, S., . . . van Sluijs, E. M. F. (2015). Perceived family functioning and friendship quality: cross-sectional associations with physical activity and sedentary behaviours. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, *12*(1), 1-9 9p. doi:10.1186/s12966-015-0180-x
- Bailey, R. (2006). Physical education and sport in schools: a review of benefits and outcomes. *Journal of School Health*, *76*(8), 397-401 395p. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2006.00132.x
- Ballantyne, R., Connell, S., & Fien, J. (1998). Students as catalysts of environmental change: a framework for researching intergenerational influence through environmental education (Vol. 4, pp. 285-298). United Kingdom.
- Ballantyne, R., Fien, J., & Packer, J. (2001a). Program Effectiveness in Facilitating
  Intergenerational Influence in Environmental Education: Lessons From the Field. *Journal* of Environmental Education, 32(4), 8. Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
  direct=true&db=ehh&AN=5846554&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Ballantyne, R., Fien, J., & Packer, J. (2001b). School Environmental Education Programme
  Impacts upon Student and Family Learning: a case study analysis. *Environmental Education Research*, 7(1), 23. Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
  direct=true&db=ehh&AN=6423931&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Baranowski, T., Davis, M., Resnicow, K., Baranowski, J., Doyle, C., Lin, L. S., . . . Wang, D. T. (2000). Gimme 5 fruit, juice, and vegetables for fun and health: outcome evaluation.

Health Education & Behavior: The Official Publication Of The Society For Public Health Education, 27(1), 96-111. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=10709795&site=eds-live&scope=site

Barkley, J. E., Salvy, S.-J., Sanders, G. J., Dey, S., Von Carlowitz, K.-P., & Williamson, M. L.
(2014). Peer Influence and Physical Activity Behavior in Young Children: An
Experimental Study. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, *11*(2), 404-409. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=94846629&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Barnes, J. D., Colley, R. C., & Tremblay, M. S. (2012). Results from the Active Healthy Kids
  Canada 2011 Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition & Metabolism, 37*(4), 793-797. Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
  direct=true&db=s3h&AN=77508171&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Bastian, K. A., Maximova, K., McGavock, J., & Veugelers, P. (2015). Does School-Based
  Health Promotion Affect Physical Activity on Weekends? And, Does It Reach Those
  Students Most in Need of Health Promotion? *PloS one, 10*(10), e0137987-e0137987.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0137987
- Bélanger, M., Sabiston, C. M., Barnett, T. A., O'Loughlin, E., Ward, S., Contreras, G., &O'Loughlin, J. (2015). Number of years of participation in some, but not all, types of physical activity during adolescence predicts level of physical activity in adulthood:

Results from a 13-year study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, *12*, 1-8. doi:10.1186/s12966-015-0237-x

- Bergnehr, D. (2015). Advancing Home-School Relations through Parent Support? *Ethnography* and Education, 10(2), 170-184. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1054176&site=eds-live&scope=site http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2014.985240
- Black, J. L., & Billette, J.-M. (2013). Do Canadians meet Canada's Food Guide's recommendations for fruits and vegetables? *Applied Physiology, Nutrition & Metabolism, 38*(3), 234-242. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=86421614&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Black, M. M., & Aboud, F. E. (2011). Responsive Feeding Is Embedded in a Theoretical
  Framework of Responsive Parenting. *JOURNAL OF NUTRITION*, *141*(3), 490-494.
  Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000287724600022&site=eds-live&scope=site

Blanchette, L., & Brug, J. (2005). Determinants of fruit and vegetable consumption among 6-12year-old children and effective interventions to increase consumption. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 18(6), 431-443. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=agr&AN=IND43776947&site=eds-live&scope=site Booth, V. M., Rowlands, A. V., & Dollman, J. (2015). Physical activity temporal trends among children and adolescents. *Journal of Science & Medicine in Sport, 18*(4), 418-425.
Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=103116604&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Breakfast for Learning. (2013). *Room to grow: 2007 report card on nutrition for school children*. Retrieved from http://www.breakfastforlearning.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2013/07/reportcard nutritionschoolchildren2007.pdf
- Brewis, A., & Gartin, M. (2006). Biocultural construction of obesogenic ecologies of childhood:
   Parent-feeding versus child-eating strategies. AMERICAN JOURNAL OF HUMAN
   BIOLOGY, 18(2), 203-213. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000235964300006&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Brodersen, N. H., Steptoe, A., Boniface, D. R., & Wardle, J. (2007). Trends in physical activity and sedentary behaviour in adolescence: ethnic and socioeconomic differences. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *41*(3), 140-144. doi:10.1 136/bjsm.2006.031 138
- Browning, H. F., Laxer, R. E., & Janssen, I. (2013). Food and Eating Environments In Canadian Schools. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice & Research*, 74(4), 160-166 167p. doi:10.3148/74.4.2013.160
- Burgess-Champoux, T. L., Larson, N., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Hannan, P. J., & Story, M. (2009).
  Are Family Meal Patterns Associated with Overall Diet Quality during the Transition from Early to Middle Adolescence? *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*(2).
  Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsagr&AN=edsagr.US201301610935&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Bürgi, R., Tomatis, L., Murer, K., & de Bruin, E. D. (2016). Spatial physical activity patterns among primary school children living in neighbourhoods of varying socioeconomic status: a cross-sectional study using accelerometry and Global Positioning System. *BMC Public Health, 16*, 1-12. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-2954-8
- Canadian Fitness & Lifestyle Research Institute. (2014). *Kids CAN PLAY*! Retrieved from http://www.cflri.ca/sites/default/files/node/1353/files/Bulletin%201\_CANPLAY%20201 1-2014\_National.pdf
- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. (2011a). Canadian physical activity guidelines for children 5-11 years Retrieved from

http://www.csep.ca/CMFiles/Guidelines/CSEP\_PAGuidelines\_child\_en.pdf

- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. (2011b). *Canadian physical activity guidelines*. *[electronic resource] : 2011 science statements*: [S.l.] : Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2011.
- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. (2012). *Canadian sedentary behaviour guidelines*. Retrieved from

http://www.csep.ca/CMFiles/Guidelines/CSEP\_Guidelines\_Handbook.pdf

- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. (2015). Glossary of terms. Retrieved from http://www.csep.ca/english/view.asp?x=890
- Canto, S. d., Engler-Stringer, R., & Muhajarine, N. (2015). Characterizing Saskatoon's Food
   Environment: A Neighbourhood-level Analysis of In-store Fruit and Vegetable Access.
   *Canadian Journal of Urban Research*, 62-77. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rch&AN=110270018&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Carnell, S., Benson, L., Driggin, E., & Kolbe, L. (2014). Parent feeding behavior and child appetite: Associations depend on feeding style. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 47(7), 705-709 705p. doi:10.1002/eat.22324
- Carroll-Scott, A., Gilstad-Hayden, K., Rosenthal, L., Peters, S., McCaslin, C., Joyce, R., & Ickovics, J. R. (2013). Disentangling neighborhood contextual associations with child body mass index, diet, and physical activity: The role of built, socioeconomic, and social environments. *Social Science & Medicine*, 106. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.04.003
- Carson, V., Kuhle, S., Spence, J. C., & Veugelers, P. J. (2010). Parents' perception of neighbourhood environment as a determinant of screen time, physical activity and active transport. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 101(2), 124-127. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=105021935&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2003). Physical Activity Levels Among Children Aged 9–13 Years — United States, 2002, 785.
- Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention (Producer). (2009). School Health Programs Improving the Health of Our Nation's Youth Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/publications/aag/pdf/dash.pdf
- Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention. (2014). Reducing sodium in children's diets. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/children-sodium/
- Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention. (2015a). Childhood obesity facts. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/obesity/facts.htm

- Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention. (2015b). Nutrition and the health of young people. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/nutrition/facts.htm
- Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention. (2015c). Physical activity facts. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/physicalactivity/facts.htm
- Chahal, H., Fung, C., Kuhle, S., & Veugelers, P. J. (2013). Availability and night-time use of electronic entertainment and communication devices are associated with short sleep duration and obesity among Canadian children. *PEDIATRIC OBESITY*, 8(1), 42-51.
  Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000313258300008&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Chakravarthy, M. V., & Booth, F. W. (2003). Inactivity and inaction: we can't afford either. Archives Of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 157(8), 731-732. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=12912776&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Chu, Y. L., Farmer, A., Fung, C., Kuhle, S., Storey, K. E., & Veugelers, P. J. (2013). Involvement in home meal preparation is associated with food preference and selfefficacy among Canadian children. *Public Health Nutr, 16*(1), 108-112. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000313399300014&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Chu, Y. L., Storey, K. E., & Veugelers, P. J. (2014). Involvement in meal preparation at home is associated with better diet quality among Canadian children. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*(4), 304. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl.373630929&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Clarke, J., Fletcher, B., Lancashire, E., Pallan, M., & Adab, P. (2013). The views of stakeholders on the role of the primary school in preventing childhood obesity: a qualitative systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*, 14(12), 975-988. doi:10.1111/obr.12058
- Clulow, C. (1993). New families? Changes in societies and family relationships (English). Sexual and marital therapy, 8(3), 269-273. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=fcs&AN=4198841&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Colley, R. C., Garriguet, D., Janssen, I., Craig, C. L., Clarke, J., & Tremblay, M. S. (2011).
  Physical activity of Canadian children and youth: Accelerometer results from the 2007 to
  2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey. *health Reports*, 22(1), 15-23. Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
  direct=true&db=rch&AN=60878284&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Collins, C., Duncanson, K., & Burrows, T. (2014). A systematic review investigating associations between parenting style and child feeding behaviours. *Journal of Human Nutrition & Dietetics, 27*(6), 557-568. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=99710161&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Couch, S. C., Glanz, K., Zhou, C., Sallis, J. F., & Saelens, B. E. (2014). Research: Home Food Environment in Relation to Children's Diet Quality and Weight Status. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *114*, 1569-1579.e1561. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2014.05.015

Cox, D. D. (2005). Evidence-Based Interventions Using Home-School Collaboration. School Psychology Quarterly, 20(4), 473-497. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ744410&site=eds-live&scope=site http://dx.doi.org/10.1521/scpq.2005.20.4.473

- Crawford, D., Timperio, A., Giles-Corti, B., Ball, K., Hume, C., Roberts, R., . . . Salmon, J. (2008). Do features of public open spaces vary according to neighbourhood socioeconomic status? *Health & place, 14*(4), 889-893. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=105674087&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Crookes, P., & Davies, S. (1998). *Research into practice : essential skills for reading and applying research in nursing and health care*: London : Bailliere Tindall, 1998.

Crozier, G. (1998). Parents and schools: partnership or surveillance? 13, 1, 11.

Cullen, K. W., Baranowski, T., Owens, E., Marsh, T., Rittenberry, L., & de Moor, C. (2003).
Availability, Accessibility, and preferences for Fruit, 100% Fruit Juice, and Vegetables
Influence Children's Dietary Behavior. *Health Education & Behavior, 30*(5), 615-626.
doi:10.1177/1090198103257254

Datar, A., Nicosia, N., & Shier, V. (2013). Parent Perceptions of Neighborhood Safety and
Childrens Physical Activity, Sedentary Behavior, and Obesity: Evidence from a National
Longitudinal Study. *American journal of epidemiology*, 177(10), 1065-1073. Retrieved
from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000318801200005&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Davison, K. K., & Lawson, C. T. (2006). Do attributes in the physical environment influence children's physical activity? A review of the literature. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, *3*, 19-17. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-3-19
- Dehar, M. A., Casswell, S., & Duignan, P. (1993). Formative and process evaluation of health promotion and disease prevention programs. *Evaluation Review*, 17(2), 204-220.
   Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=swh&AN=60718&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). *Handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Dessing, D., Pierik, F. H., Sterkenburg, R. P., van Dommelen, P., Maas, J., & de Vries, S. I.
  (2013). Schoolyard physical activity of 6-11 year old children assessed by GPS and accelerometry. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, 10(1), 97-105 109p. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-10-97
- DiLorenzo, T. M., Stucky-Ropp, R. C., Vander Wal, J. S., & Gotham, H. J. (1998). Determinants of exercise among children. II. A longitudinal analysis. *Preventive Medicine*, *27*(3), 470-477 478p. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=107173561&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Ding, D., Sallis, J. F., Kerr, J., Lee, S., & Rosenberg, D. E. (2011). Neighborhood Environment and Physical Activity Among Youth A Review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 41(4), 442-455. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000295789300015&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Downs, S. M., Fraser, S. N., Storey, K. E., Forbes, L. E., Spence, J. C., Plotnikoff, R. C., . . .
  McCargar, L. J. (2012). Geography influences dietary intake, physical activity and weight status of adolescents. *Journal of nutrition and metabolism, 2012*, 816834.
  doi:10.1155/2012/816834
- Draxten, M., Fulkerson, J. A., Friend, S., Flattum, C. F., & Schow, R. (2014). Parental role modeling of fruits and vegetables at meals and snacks is associated with children's adequate consumption. *Appetite*, 78, 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2014.02.017
- Duvall, J., & Zint, M. (2007). A Review of Research on the Effectiveness of Environmental Education in Promoting Intergenerational Learning. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 38(4), 14-24. doi:10.3200/JOEE.38.4.14-24
- Dwyer, T., Sallis, J. F., Blizzard, L., Lazarus, R., & Dean, K. (2001). Relation of academic performance to physical activity and fitness in children. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, *13*(3), 225-237 213p. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=106899205&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Edwards, J., Bligh, I., & Munro, S. (2004). Annapolis Valley Health Promoting School Project --OUR STORY. *Physical & Health Education Journal*, 70(1), 18-21. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=19497303&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Ekelund, U., Jian'an, L., Sherar, L. B., Esliger, D. W., Griew, P., & Cooper, A. (2012). Moderate to vigorous physical activity and sedentary time and cardiometabolic risk factors in

children and adolescents. *JAMA, The Journal of the American Medical Association*(7), 704. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsggo&AN=edsgcl.282978823&site=eds-live&scope=site

Engelen, L., Bundy, A. C., Bauman, A., Naughton, G., Wyver, S., & Baur, L. (2015). Young Children's After-School Activities--There's More to It Than Screen Time: A Cross-Sectional Study of Young Primary School Children. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health, 12*(1), 8-12. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=101750602&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Engler-Stringer, R., Ha, L., Gerrard, A., & Muhajarine, N. (2014). The community and consumer food environment and children's diet: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 1271-1292. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-522
- Epstein, J. (2011). School, family, and community partnerships : preparing educators and *improving schools*: Boulder, CO : Westview Press, c2011. 2nd ed.
- Epstein, J. L. (1992). School and Family Partnerships. Report No. 6.
- Epstein, J. L. (1995). School/Family/Community Partnerships: Caring for the Children We Share, 701.

Erkelenz, N., Kobel, S., Kettner, S., Drenowatz, C., & Steinacker, J. M. (2014). Parental Activity as Influence on Children's BMI Percentiles and Physical Activity. *Journal of Sports Science & Medicine, 13*(3), 645-650. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=97753449&site=eds-live&scope=site Evans, S. M., Gill, M. E., & Marchant, J. (1996). Schoolchildren as educators: The indirect influence of environmental education in schools on parents' attitudes towards the environment. *JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL EDUCATION, 30*(4), 243-248. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=A1996VY27400005&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Eynon, R., & Helsper, E. (2015). Family dynamics and Internet use in Britain: What role do children play in adults' engagement with the Internet? *Information, Communication & Society*, 18(2), 156-171. doi:10.1080/1369118X.2014.942344
- Faught, E., Vander Ploeg, K., Chu, Y. L., Storey, K., & Veugelers, P. J. (2015). The influence of parental encouragement and caring about healthy eating on children's diet quality and body weights. *Public Health Nutr*, 1-8. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=26100617&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Faught, E. L., Montemurro, G., Storey, K. E., & Veugelers, P. J. (2016). *Dietary* recommendations to improve children's diets also benefit academic achievement. Paper presented at the International Society for Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity Annual Meeting 2016, Cape Town, South Africa.

Ferland, A., Chu, Y. L., Gleddie, D., Storey, K., & Veugelers, P. (2015). Leadership skills are associated with health behaviours among Canadian children. *Health Promotion International, 30*(1), 106-113. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=her&AN=101372044&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Findholt, N. E., Michael, Y. L., & Davis, M. M. (2011). Photovoice Engages Rural Youth in Childhood Obesity Prevention. *Public Health Nursing*, 28(2), 186-192 187p. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1446.2010.00895.x
- Fink, S. K., Racine, E. F., Mueffelmann, R. E., Dean, M. N., & Herman-Smith, R. (2014). Family Meals and Diet Quality Among Children and Adolescents in North Carolina. *Journal of Nutrition Education & Behavior, 46*(5), 418-422. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=98258843&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Fitzgerald, A., Fitzgerald, N., & Aherne, C. (2012). Do peers matter? A review of peer and/or friends' influence on physical activity among American adolescents. *JOURNAL OF ADOLESCENCE*, *35*(4), 941-958. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswss&AN=000307906900016&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Florence, M. D., Asbridge, M., & Veugelers, P. J. (2008). Diet quality and academic performance. *J Sch Health*, 78(4), 209-215; quiz 239-241. doi:JOSH288 [pii] 10.1111/j.1746-1561.2008.00288.x
- Flurry, L. A. (2007). Children's influence in family decision-making: Examining the impact of the changing American family. *Journal of Business Research*, 60, 322-330. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.09.029
- Frankel, L. A., O'Connor, T. M., Chen, T.-A., Nicklas, T., Power, T. G., & Hughes, S. O. (2014). Parents' perceptions of preschool children's ability to regulate eating. Feeding style differences. *Appetite*, *76*, 166-174. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2014.01.077
- Freeman, J., Coe, H., & King, M. (2014). Health behaviour in school-aged children : trends report 1990-2010. Retrieved from http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/dca-dea/progini/school-scolaire/behaviour-comportements/assets/pdf/trends-tendances-eng.pdf
- Frisvold, D. E. (2015). Nutrition and cognitive achievement: An evaluation of the School Breakfast Program. *Journal of Public Economics*, *124*, 91-104.
  doi:10.1016/j.jpubeco.2014.12.003
- Fung, C., Kuhle, S., Lu, C., Purcell, M., Schwartz, M., Storey, K., & Veugelers, P. J. (2012).
  From "best practice" to "next practice": the effectiveness of school-based health
  promotion in improving healthy eating and physical activity and preventing childhood
  obesity. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, 9(1), 27-35.
  doi:10.1186/1479-5868-9-27
- Fung, C., McIsaac, J.-L. D., Kuhle, S., Kirk, S. F. L., & Veugelers, P. J. (2013). The impact of a population-level school food and nutrition policy on dietary intake and body weights of Canadian children. *Preventive Medicine*, 57, 934-940. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.07.016
- Gadhoke, P., Christiansen, K., Swartz, J., & Gittelsohn, J. (2015). "Cause it's family talking to you": Children acting as change agents for adult food and physical activity behaviors in American Indian households in the Upper Midwestern United States. *Childhood, 22*(3), 346-361 316p. doi:10.1177/0907568214538290

Gadsden, V., & Hall, M. (1996). Intergenerational Learning: A Review of the Literature.

Garriguet, D. (2007). Canadians' eating habits. *Health Rep, 18*(2), 17-32. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citati on&list\_uids=17578013

Genuis, S. K., Willows, N., & Jardine, C. (2015). Through the lens of our cameras: children's lived experience with food security in a Canadian Indigenous community. *Child: Care, Health and Development*(4), 600. doi:10.1111/cch.12182

Gidlow, C. J., Cochrane, T., Davey, R., & Smith, H. (2008). In-school and out-of-school physical activity in primary and secondary school children. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 26(13), 1411-1419. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=s3h&AN=35020752&site=eds-live&scope=site

Gordon-Larsen, P., Nelson, M. C., Page, P., & Popkin, B. M. (2006). Inequality in the built environment underlies key health disparities in physical activity and obesity. *Pediatrics, 117*(2), 417-424. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=106434830&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Government of Alberta. (2016). Programs of Study. Retrieved from http://www.learnalberta.ca/ProgramsOfStudy.aspx?lang=en
- Granich, J., Rosenberg, M., Knuiman, M. W., & Timperio, A. (2011). Individual, Social, and Physical Environment Factors Associated With Electronic Media Use Among Children: Sedentary Behavior at Home. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 8(5), 613-625.
  Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
- Gray, C., Gibbons, R., Larouche, R., Sandseter, E. B. H., Bienenstock, A., Brussoni, M., . . . Tremblay, M. S. (2015). What Is the Relationship between Outdoor Time and Physical

direct=true&db=s3h&AN=65761513&site=eds-live&scope=site

Activity, Sedentary Behaviour, and Physical Fitness in Children? A Systematic Review. *International Journal Of Environmental Research And Public Health*, *12*(6), 6455-6474. doi:10.3390/ijerph120606455

- Grieken, A., Renders, C. M., Gaar, V. M., Hirasing, R. A., & Raat, H. (2015). Associations between the home environment and children's sweet beverage consumption at 2-year follow-up: the 'Be active, eat right' study. *PEDIATRIC OBESITY*, *10*(2), 126-133 128p. doi:10.1111/ijpo.235
- Griffin, T. L., Clarke, J. L., Lancashire, E. R., Pallan, M. J., Passmore, S., & Adab, P. (2015).
  Teacher Experiences of Delivering an Obesity Prevention Programme (The WAVES
  Study Intervention) in a Primary School Setting. *Health Education Journal*, 74(6), 655-667. Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1078036&site=eds-live&scope=site

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0017896914556907

- Grodzińska-Jurczak, M., Bartosiewicz, A., Twardowska, A., & Ballantyne, R. (2003). Evaluating the Impact of a School Waste Education Programme upon Students', Parents' and Teachers' Environmental Knowledge, Attitudes and Behaviour. *International Research in Geographical & Environmental Education, 12*(2), 106-122. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=13684331&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Gruber, K. J., & Haldeman, L. A. (2009). Using the family to combat childhood and adult obesity. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *6*(3), A106-A106. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=19527578&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1982). Epistemological and methodological bases of naturalistic inquiry. *Educ Commun Technol*, 30(4), 233-252.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N. K.Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of qualitative research. London: Sage.
- Gustafson, S. L., & Rhodes, R. E. (2006). Parental correlates of physical activity in children and early adolescents (English). *Sports medicine (Auckland), 36*(1), 79-97. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=fcs&AN=17531595&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Gutuskey, L., McCaughtry, N., Shen, B., Centeio, E., & Garn, A. (2016). The Role and Impact of Student Leadership on Participants in a Healthy Eating and Physical Activity Programme. *Health Education Journal*, *75*(1), 27-37. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1087454&site=eds-live&scope=site http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0017896914561878
- Hamburg, N. M., McMackin, C. J., Huang, A. L., Shenouda, S. M., Widlansky, M. E., Schulz, E., ... Vita, J. A. (2007). Physical inactivity rapidly induces insulin resistance and microvascular dysfunction in healthy volunteers. *ARTERIOSCLEROSIS THROMBOSIS AND VASCULAR BIOLOGY*, *27*(12), 2650-2656. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000251143300026&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Hamilton, M. T., Hamilton, D. G., & Zderic, T. W. (2004). Exercise Physiology versus Inactivity Physiology: An Essential Concept for Understanding Lipoprotein Lipase Regulation. *Exercise & Sport Sciences Reviews*, 32(4), 161-166. Retrieved from http://articles.sirc.ca/search.cfm?id=S-1012600
- http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=t rue&db=s3h&AN=SPHS-1012600&site=eds-live&scope=site http://www.acsm-essr.org
- Hardy, L. L., Baur, L. A., Garnett, S. P., Crawford, D., Campbell, K. J., Shrewsbury, V. A., . . .
  Salmon, J. (2006). Family and home correlates of television viewing in 12-13 year old adolescents: The Nepean Study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, *3*, 24-29. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-3-24
- Hart, R. A. (1992). Children's Participation: From Tokenism to Citizenship. Innocenti Essays No. 4 (88-85401-05-81014-7829). Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=ED359090&site=eds-live&scope=site
- He, M., Tucker, P., Irwin, J. D., Gilliland, J., Larsen, K., & Hess, P. (2012). Obesogenic neighbourhoods: the impact of neighbourhood restaurants and convenience stores on adolescents' food consumption behaviours. *Public Health Nutr, 15*(12), 2331-2339. doi:10.1017/S1368980012000584
- Health Canada. (2011a). Advice for different ages and stages. Retrieved from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/food-guide-aliment/choose-choix/advice-conseil/child-enfant-eng.php
- Health Canada. (2011b). *Eating well with Canada's food guide. [electronic resource]*: [Ottawa] : Health Canada, c2011.

Health Canada. (2012). *Do Canadian adolescents meet their nutrient requirements through food intake alone?* Retrieved from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fnan/alt\_formats/pdf/surveill/nutrition/commun/art-nutr-adol-eng.pdf

- Health Canada (Producer). (2014). Eat well and be active educational toolkit. Retrieved from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/alt\_formats/pdf/food-guide-aliment/educ-comm/toolkittrousse/plan-1-eng.pdf
- Hearn, M. D., Baranowski, T., Baranowski, J., Doyle, C., Smith, M., Lin, L. S., & Resnicow, K. (1998). Environmental influences on dietary behavior among children: availability and accessibility of fruits and vegetables enable consumption. *Journal of Health Education, 29*(1), 26-32 27p. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=rzh&AN=107255744&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Heidelberger, L., & Smith, C. (2015). The food environment through the camera lenses of 9- to 13-year-olds living in urban, low-income, midwestern households: a photovoice project. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*(5), 437. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl.429497316&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Hennessy, E., Hughes, S. O., Goldberg, J. P., Hyatt, R. R., & Economos, C. D. (2010). Parentchild interactions and objectively measured child physical activity: a cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, *7*, 71-84. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-7-71
- Herman, K. M., Chaput, J.-P., Sabiston, C. M., Mathieu, M.-E., Tremblay, A., & Paradis, G.(2015a). Combined Physical Activity/Sedentary Behavior Associations With Indices of

Adiposity in 8- to 10-Year-Old Children. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health, 12*(1), 20-29. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=101750604&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Herman, K. M., Hopman, W. M., & Sabiston, C. M. (2015b). Physical activity, screen time and self-rated health and mental health in Canadian adolescents. *Preventive Medicine*, *73*, 112-116 115p. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.01.030
- Higginbottom, G. M. A., Pillay, J. J., & Boadu, N. Y. (2013). Guidance on Performing Focused
  Ethnographies with an Emphasis on Healthcare Research. *Qualitative Report, 18*.
  Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1005013&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Hirko, K. A., Kantor, E. D., Cohen, S. S., Blot, W. J., Stampfer, M. J., & Signorello, L. B.
  (2015). Body mass index in young adulthood, obesity trajectory, and premature mortality. *American journal of epidemiology, 182*(5), 441-450. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv084
- Holt, N. L., Cunningham, C. T., Sehn, Z. L., Spence, J. C., Newton, A. S., & Ball, G. D. (2009).
  Neighborhood physical activity opportunities for inner-city children and youth. *Health & place*, *15*(4), 1022-1028 1027p. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2009.04.002
- Hoyland, A., Dye, L., & Lawton, C. L. (2009). A systematic review of the effect of breakfast on the cognitive performance of children and adolescents. *22*(- 2), 243.
- Hubbs-Tait, L., Kennedy, T. S., Page, M. C., Topham, G. L., & Harrist, A. W. (2008). ParentalFeeding Practices Predict Authoritative, Authoritarian, and Permissive Parenting Styles.*Journal of the American Dietetic Association*(7). Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsagr&AN=edsagr.US201300911356&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Hubbs-Tait, L., Topham, G. L., Harrist, A. W., Kennedy, T. S., & Page, M. C. (2008). Parental Feeding Practices Predict Authoritative, Authoritarian, and Permissive Parenting Styles [electronic resource]. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 108*(7), 1154-1161. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2008.04.008
- Hughes, S. O., Power, T. G., Fisher, J. O., Mueller, S., & Nicklas, T. A. (2005). Revisiting a neglected construct: parenting styles in a child-feeding context (English). *Appetite (Print), 44*(1), 83-92. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=fcs&AN=16451528&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Hughes, S. O., Shewchuk, R. M., Baskin, M. L., Nicklas, T. A., & Haiyan, Q. U. (2008).
  Indulgent Feeding Style and Children's Weight Status in Preschool (English). *Journal of developmental and behavioral pediatrics, 29*(5), 403-410. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=fcs&AN=20755765&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Hunter, B. T. (2002). Marketing Foods To Kids: Using Fun to Sell. Consumers' Research Magazine, 85(3), 16. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rch&AN=6447235&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Iannotti, R. J., Kogan, M. D., Janssen, I., & Boyce, W. F. (2009). Patterns of Adolescent Physical Activity, Screen-Based Media Use, and Positive and Negative Health Indicators in the U.S. and Canada (English). *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 44(5), 493-499.

Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=fcs&AN=21384453&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Jago, R., Baranowski, T., Baranowski, J. C., Cullen, K. W., & Thompson, D. (2007). Distance to food stores & adolescent male fruit and vegetable consumption: mediation effects. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, *4*, 35-10.
  doi:10.1186/1479-5868-4-35
- Jago, R., Davison, K. K., Brockman, R., Page, A. S., Thompson, J. L., & Fox, K. R. (2011). Parenting styles, parenting practices, and physical activity in 10- to 11-year olds. *Preventive Medicine*, 52, 44-47. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.11.001
- Janssen, I. (2015). Hyper-parenting is negatively associated with physical activity among 7– 12year olds. *Preventive Medicine*, *73*, 55-59. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.01.015
- Janssen, I., & LeBlanc, A. G. (2010). Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF BEHAVIORAL NUTRITION AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY*, 7. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000279902200003&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Janssen, I., & Rosu, A. (2015). Undeveloped green space and free-time physical activity in 11 to 13-year-old children. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, 12(1), 1-7 7p. doi:10.1186/s12966-015-0187-3
- Jardine, C. G., & James, A. (2012). Youth researching youth: benefits, limitations and ethical considerations within a participatory research process. *International Journal Of Circumpolar Health*, 71(0), 1-9. doi:10.3402/ijch.v71i0.18415

- Jenkins, R. L. (1979). The Influence Of Children in Family Decision-Making: Parents' Perceptions. Advances in Consumer Research, 6(1), 413-418. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=bth&AN=6604443&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Jennings, D., & Lowe, J. (2014). Photovoice: Giving Voice to Indigenous Youth. *Pimatisiwin: A Journal of Aboriginal & Indigenous Community Health*, 11(3), 521-537. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=fph&AN=94923318&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Jetter, K. M., & Cassady, D. L. (2006). The availability and cost of healthier food alternatives. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 30*(1), 38-44. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=16414422&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Joint Consortium for School Health. (2016). Comprehensive School Health Framework. Retrieved from http://www.jcsh-cces.ca/index.php/about/comprehensive-school-health
- Jones, J. T., & Furner, M. (Producer). (1998). Health-Promoting Schools. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/school\_youth\_health/media/en/92.pdf
- Jónsdóttir, K., & Björnsdóttir, A. (2015). Home-school relationships and cooperation between parents and supervisory teachers. *Barn, 30*(4), 19.
- Jorgenson, J., & Sullivan, T. (2010). Accessing Children's Perspectives Through Participatory Photo Interviews. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 11(1), 1-19. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=48849935&site=eds-live&scope=site

Judd, J., Frankish, C. J., & Moulton, G. (2001). Setting standards in the evaluation of community-based health promotion programmes--a unifying approach. *Health Promotion International*, 16(4), 367-380. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=11733455&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Katamay, S. W., Esslinger, K. A., Vigneault, M., Johnston, J. L., Junkins, B. A., Robbins, L. G., ... Martineau, C. (2007). Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide (2007): development of the food intake pattern. *Nutrition Reviews*, 65(4), 155-166 112p. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=106285686&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Keselman, A., Ahmed, E. A., Williamson, D. C., Kelly, J. E., & Dutcher, G. A. (2015).
  Harnessing health information to foster disadvantaged teens' community engagement,
  leadership skills, and career plans: a qualitative evaluation of the Teen Health Leadership
  Program. *Journal of the Medical Library Association, 103*(2), 82-86 85p.
  doi:10.3163/1536-5050.103.2.005
- Kimiecik, J. C., & Horn, T. S. (2012). Examining the relationship between family context and children's physical activity beliefs: The role of parenting style. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, 13, 10-18. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.08.004

Kneeshaw-Price, S., Saelens, B., Sallis, J., Glanz, K., Frank, L., Kerr, J., . . . Cain, K. (2013).
Children's Objective Physical Activity by Location: Why the Neighborhood Matters. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 25(3), 468-486. Retrieved from
http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
direct=true&db=s3h&AN=90277945&site=eds-live&scope=site

Knoblauch, H. (2005). Focused Ethnography. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *6*(3), 1. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=sih&AN=18493145&site=eds-live&scope=site

Kremers, S. P. J., Brug, J., Vries, H. d., & Engels, C. M. E. (2003). Parenting style and adolescent fruit consumption. *Appetite*(1). Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsagr&AN=edsagr.US201400062768&site=eds-live&scope=site

Kretschmann, R. (2014). PHYSICAL ACTIVITY LEVELS DURING THE SCHOOL DAY FINDINGS FROM A GERMAN SAMPLE. *Research in Kinesiology*, *42*(2), 188-190.
 Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=99957924&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Kunin-Batson, A. S., Seburg, E. M., Crain, A. L., Jaka, M. M., Langer, S. L., Levy, R. L., & Sherwood, N. E. (2015). Household Factors, Family Behavior Patterns, and Adherence to Dietary and Physical Activity Guidelines Among Children at Risk for Obesity. *Journal of Nutrition Education & Behavior*, 47(3), 206-215. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=102711226&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Labrecque, J., & Ricard, L. (2001). Children's influence on family decision-making: a restaurant study. *Journal of Business Research*, *54*, 173-176. doi:10.1016/S0148-2963(99)00088-0
- Langer, S. L., Crain, A. L., Senso, M. M., Levy, R. L., & Sherwood, N. E. (2014). Predicting Child Physical Activity and Screen Time: Parental Support for Physical Activity and

General Parenting Styles (English). *Journal of pediatric psychology*, *39*(6), 633-642. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=fcs&AN=28600759&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Langford, R., Bonell, C., Jones, H., & Campbell, R. (2015a). Obesity prevention and the Health promoting Schools framework: essential components and barriers to success. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, *12*(1), 1-17 17p. doi:10.1186/s12966-015-0167-7
- Langford, R., Bonell, C., Jones, H., Pouliou, T., Murphy, S., Waters, E., . . . Campbell, R. (2015b). The World Health Organization's Health Promoting Schools framework: a Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), 1-15. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-1360-y
- Langford, R., CP, B., HE, J., T, P., SM, M., E, W., ... R, C. (2014). The WHO Health Promoting School framework for improving the health and well-being of students and their academic achievement. *The Cochrane Database Of Systematic Reviews*. Retrieved from

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/doi/10.1002/14651858.C D008958.pub2/full

- Laroche, H. H., Hofer, T. P., & Davis, M. M. (2007). Adult fat intake associated with the presence of children in households: Findings from NHANES III. *20*(1), 15.
- Larson, N. I., Story, M. T., & Nelson, M. C. (2009). Neighborhood Environments: Disparities in Access to Healthy Foods in the U.S. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2008.09.025

Larsson, B., Andersson, M., & Osbeck, C. (2010). Bringing Environmentalism Home: Children's influence on family consumption in the Nordic countries and beyond. *Childhood*, 129. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsswe&AN=edsswe.oai.services.scigloo.org.112319&site=edslive&scope=site

- Laska, M. N., Hearst, M. O., Forsyth, A., Pasch, K. E., & Lytle, L. (2010). Neighbourhood food environments: are they associated with adolescent dietary intake, food purchases and weight status. *Public Health Nutr*(11). Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsagr&AN=edsagr.US201301916372&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Latham, J., & Moffat, T. (2007). Determinants of variation in food cost and availability in two socioeconomically contrasting neighbourhoods of Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. *Health* and Place, 13, 273-287. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2006.01.006
- Lau, E. Y., Barr-Anderson, D. J., Dowda, M., Forthofer, M., Saunders, R. P., & Pate, R. R.
  (2015). Associations Between Home Environment and After-School Physical Activity and Sedentary Time Among 6th Grade Children. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 27(2), 226-233. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=108490355&site=eds-live&scope=site

Laxer, R. E., & Janssen, I. (2014). The proportion of excessive fast-food consumption attributable to the neighbourhood food environment among youth living within 1 km of their school. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition & Metabolism, 39*(4), 480-486. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=95108092&site=eds-live&scope=site

- LeBlanc, A. G., Broyles, S. T., Chaput, J.-P., Leduc, G., Boyer, C., Borghese, M. M., & Tremblay, M. S. (2015a). Correlates of objectively measured sedentary time and selfreported screen time in Canadian children. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition* & *Physical Activity*, 12(1), 1-12. doi:10.1186/s12966-015-0197-1
- LeBlanc, A. G., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Barreira, T. V., Broyles, S. T., Chaput, J.-P., Church, T. S., .
  . Tremblay, M. S. (2015b). Correlates of Total Sedentary Time and Screen Time in 9-11
  Year-Old Children around the World: The International Study of Childhood Obesity,
  Lifestyle and the Environment. *PloS one, 10*(6), e0129622-e0129622.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129622
- Legault, L., & Pelletier, L. G. (2000). Impact of an environmental education program on students' and parents' attitudes, motivation, and behaviours.
- Leo, A. (2007). *Are schools making the grade? School nutrition policies across Canada*. Retrieved from https://www.cspinet.org/canada/pdf/makingthegrade\_1007.pdf
- Lindsay, A. C., Sussner, K. M., Kim, J., & Gortmaker, S. L. (2006). The Role of Parents in Preventing Childhood Obesity. *The Future of Children*, *16*(169-186). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/stable/3556555
- Lobstein, T., Jackson-Leach, R., Moodie, M. L., Hall, K. D., Gortmaker, S. L., Swinburn, B. A., ... McPherson, K. (2015). Series: Child and adolescent obesity: part of a bigger picture. *The Lancet, 385*, 2510-2520. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61746-3

- Lytle, L. A., Kubik, M. Y., Perry, C., Story, M., Birnbaum, A. S., & Murray, D. M. (2006).
   Influencing healthful food choices in school and home environments: Results from the TEENS study. *Preventive Medicine*, 43, 8-13. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2006.03.020
- Macdonald-Wallis, K., Jago, R., & Sterne, J. A. C. (2012). Review and special article: Social Network Analysis of Childhood and Youth Physical Activity. A Systematic Review.
   *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 43, 636-642.

doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2012.08.021

Maitland, C., Stratton, G., Foster, S., Braham, R., & Rosenberg, M. (2013). Place for play? The influence of the home physical environment on children's physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF BEHAVIORAL NUTRITION AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY*(1). Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsagr&AN=edsagr.US201400070375&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Maitland, C., Stratton, G., Foster, S., Braham, R., & Rosenberg, M. (2014). The Dynamic Family Home: a qualitative exploration of physical environmental influences on children's sedentary behaviour and physical activity within the home space. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, 11(1), 1-22. doi:10.1186/s12966-014-0157-1
- Mark, A. E., & Janssen, I. (2008). Relationship between screen time and metabolic syndrome in adolescents. JOURNAL OF PUBLIC HEALTH, 30(2), 153-160. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000256173800007&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Mâsse, L. C., & de Niet, J. E. (2013). School nutritional capacity, resources and practices are associated with availability of food/beverage items in schools. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *10*, 26-26. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-10-26
- Maturo, C. C., & Cunningham, S. A. (2013). Influence of Friends on Children's Physical Activity: A Review. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*(7), e23-e38. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301366
- Mayan, M. J. (2009). Essentials of qualitative inquiry. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.

McKernan, C., Chahal, H., Gleddie, D., Montemurro, G., Veugelers, P., & Storey, K. (2016).
 *Comprehensive school health and achieving change in the home environment: student insights from a photovoice project*. Paper presented at the International Society of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity Annual Meeting, Cape Town, South Africa.

- McMinn, A. M., Griffin, S. J., Jones, A. P., & van Sluijs, E. M. F. (2013). Family and home influences on children's after-school and weekend physical activity. *European Journal of Public Health*, 23(5), 805-810 806p. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=104234411&site=eds-live&scope=site
- McMurray, R. G., Cox, L. M., Bangdiwala, S. I., Bradley, C. B., Harrell, J. S., & Deng, S. (2000). The influence of physical activity, socioeconomic status, and ethnicity on the weight status of adolescents. *Obesity Research*, 8(2), 130-139. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=agr&AN=IND22052146&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Mikkonen, J., & Raphael, D. (2010). *Social determinants of health: the Canadian facts*. Toronto, Canada: York University, School of Health Policy and Management.

Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Millstein, R. A., Strobel, J., Kerr, J., Sallis, J. F., Norman, G. J., Durant, N., . . . Saelens, B. E. (2011). Home, School, and Neighborhood Environment Factors and Youth Physical Activity. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 23(4), 487-503. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=69903184&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Mitchell, J., Skouteris, H., McCabe, M., Ricciardelli, L. A., Milgrom, J., Baur, L. A., . . . Dwyer, G. (2012). Physical Activity in Young Children: A Systematic Review of Parental Influences. *Early Child Development and Care, 182*(11), 1411-1437. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ994329&site=eds-live&scope=site http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2011.619658
- Moffat, T., Galloway, T., & Latham, J. (2005). Stature and adiposity among children in contrasting neighborhoods in the city of Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. *American Journal Of Human Biology: The Official Journal Of The Human Biology Council, 17*(3), 355-367. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=15849705&site=eds-live&scope=site

Moore, L. V., Diez Roux, A. V., Nettleton, J. A., Jacobs, D. R., & Franco, M. (2009). Fast-food consumption, diet quality, and neighborhood exposure to fast food: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *American journal of epidemiology*, 170(1), 29-36. doi:aje/kwp090 Moore, L. V., Diez Roux, A. V., Nettleton, J. A., & Jacobs, D. R., Jr. (2008). Associations of the local food environment with diet quality--a comparison of assessments based on surveys and geographic information systems: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *American journal of epidemiology*, 167(8), 917-924. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm394

Mukhopadhyay, B. B., & Bhatnagar, P. C. (2005). Children as health promoters. *Promot Educ*, 12(3-4), 148-149. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=16739505&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Murray, N. G., Low, B. J., Hollis, C., Cross, A. W., & Davis, S. M. (2007). Coordinated school health programs and academic achievement: a systematic review of the literature. *J Sch Health*, 77(9), 589-600. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2007.00238.x
- Natale, R. A., Messiah, S. E., Asfour, L., Uhlhorn, S. B., Delamater, A., & Arheart, K. L. (2014).
  Role Modeling as an Early Childhood Obesity Prevention Strategy: Effect of Parents and Teachers on Preschool Children's Healthy Lifestyle Habits. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 35(6), 378-387 310p. doi:10.1097/DBP.000000000000074
- National Cancer Institute: Research Tested Intervention Programs. (2015). Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating (APPLE Schools). Retrieved from http://rtips.cancer.gov/rtips/programDetails.do?programId=3624004
- Neumark-Sztainer, D., Story, M., Hannan, P. J., & Rex, J. (2003). New Moves: a school-based obesity prevention program for adolescent girls. *Prev Med*, *37*(1), 41-51. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citati on&list\_uids=12799128

- Niemeier, B. S., & Hektner, J. M. (2012). Weight-Related Health Behaviors and Body Mass: Associations between Young Adults and Their Parents, Moderated by Parental Authority. *American Journal of Health Education, 43*(6-), 366-377. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ990109&site=eds-live&scope=site http://www.aahperd.org/aahe/publications/ajhe/author-abstracts.cfm
- Norgaard, M. K., Bruns, K., Christensen, P. H., & Mikkelsen, M. R. (2007). Children's influence on and participation in the family decision process during food buying. *Young Consumers*, 8(3), 197-216. doi:10.1108/17473610710780945
- Nutbeam, D., & Bauman, A. (2006). *Evaluation in a nutshell: A practical guide to the evaluation of health promotion programs*. North Ryde, Australia: McGraw-Hill Australia Pty Ltd.
- O'Connell, L. K., Davis, M. M., & Bauer, N. S. (2015). Assessing parenting behaviors to improve child outcomes. *Pediatrics*, *135*(2), e286-e288. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-2497
- O'Neil, A., Quirk, S. E., Housden, S., Brennan, S. L., Williams, L. J., Pasco, J. A., . . . Jacka, F. N. (2014). Relationship Between Diet and Mental Health in Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*(10), e31-42 31p. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302110

Oliveira, A. F., Moreira, C., Abreu, S., Mota, J., & Santos, R. (2014). Environmental determinants of physical activity in children: A systematic review. *Archives of Exercise in Health & Disease*, 4(2), 254-261. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=94750345&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Oliveria, S. A., Garrahie, E. J., Singer, M. R., Gillman, M. W., Ellison, R. C., & Moore, L. L. (1992). Parent-child relationships in nutrient intake: the Framingham Children's Study. *American journal of clinical nutrition*, 56(3), 593-598. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=agr&AN=FNI92003050&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Olstad, D. L., & Ball, K. (2015). Optimizing child-focused nutrition policies: considerations and controversies. *Public Health Nutr, 18*(9), 1528-1530 1523p.
  doi:10.1017/S1368980015001299
- Palmer, E. L., & Carpenter, C. F. (2006). Food and Beverage Marketing to Children and Youth: Trends and Issues. *Media Psychology*, 8(2), 165-190. doi:10.1207/S1532785XMEP0802\_6
- Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health. (2008). What is Comprehensive School Health? Retrieved from http://www.jcsh-cces.ca/index.php/school-health
- Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health. (2009). Governments Working Across the Health and Education Sectors. Retrieved from http://www.jcsh-cces.ca/

Pate, R. R., Davis, M. G., Robinson, T. N., Stone, E. J., McKenzie, T. L., & Young, J. C. (2006).
Promoting physical activity in children and youth: a leadership role for schools: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (Physical Activity Committee) in collaboration with the Councils on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young and Cardiovascular Nursing. *Circulation, 114*(11), 1214-1224. doi:CIRCULATIONAHA.106.177052
[pii]10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.177052

- Pate, R. R., O'Neill, J. R., & Lobelo, F. (2008). The evolving definition of 'sedentary'. *Exercise & Sport Sciences Reviews*, 36(4), 173-178 176p. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=105626915&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Patton, M. Q. (2008). *Utilization-focused evaluation*: Thousand Oaks : Sage Publications, c2008. 4th ed.
- Pearson, N., Atkin, A. J., Biddle, S. J. H., Gorely, T., & Edwardson, C. (2010). Parenting styles, family structure and adolescent dietary behaviour. *Public Health Nutr, 13*(8), 1245-1253.
  Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000280032700014&site=eds-live&scope=site

Peralta, C., & Galaviz, S. (2013). Effectiveness of Understanding Relations between Community, Home, and School for Future Educators. *GIST Education and Learning Research Journal*(7), 173-189. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1062627&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Peterson, K., & Fox, M. K. (2007). Addressing the Epidemic of Childhood Obesity Through School-Based Interventions: What Has Been Done and Where Do We Go From Here? *The Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics, 35*(1). doi:10.1111/j.1748-720X.2007.00116.x
- Physical & Health Education Canada. (2016). Physical education in school. Retrieved from http://www.phecanada.ca/physical-education-school
- Piercy, K. L., Dorn, J. M., Fulton, J. E., Janz, K. F., Lee, S. M., McKinnon, R. A., . . . Lavizzo-Mourey, R. (2015). Opportunities for Public Health to Increase Physical Activity Among

Youths. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*(3), 421-426 426p. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302325

Pinkelman, S. E., McIntosh, K., Rasplica, C. K., Berg, T., & Strickland-Cohen, M. K. (2015). Perceived Enablers and Barriers Related to Sustainability of School-Wide Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports. *Behavioral Disorders*, 40(3), 171-183. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/ login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1072245&site=eds-live&scope=site

http://www.ccbd.net/publications/behavioraldisorders

- Pope, C., & Mays, N. (2006). *Quailtative Research in Health Care* (3rd ed.). Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing, Ltd.
- Postma, J., Peterson, J., Ybarra Vega, M. J., Ramon, C., & Cortes, G. (2014). Latina Youths' Perceptions of Children's Environmental Health Risks in an Agricultural Community. *Public Health Nursing*, *31*(6), 508-516 509p. doi:10.1111/phn.12112
- Powell, L. M., Slater, S., Chaloupka, F. J., & Harper, D. (2006). Availability of physical activityrelated facilities and neighborhood demographic socioeconomic characteristics: a national study. *American Journal of Public Health*, *96*(9), 1676-1680. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.065573
- Powers, B. A., & Knapp, T. R. (2011). Dictionary of Nursing Theory and Research (Vol. 4th ed). New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2010). *Curbing childhood obesity: A Federal, Provincial and Territorial framework for action to promote healthy weights*. Retrieved from http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/hl-mvs/framework-cadre/pdf/ccofw-eng.pdf.

- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2011). Canadian best practices portal for health promotion and chronic disease prevention. Retrieved from http://cbpp-pcpe.phac-aspc.gc.ca/
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2014). Physical activity guidelines. Retrieved from http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/hl-mvs/pa-ap/03paap-eng.php
- Pujadas Botey, A., Bayrampour, H., Carson, V., Vinturache, A., & Tough, S. (2016). Adherence to Canadian physical activity and sedentary behaviour guidelines among children 2 to 13 years of age. *Preventive Medicine Reports, 3*, 14-20. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.11.012

Quarmby, T., & Dagkas, S. (2015). Informal mealtime pedagogies: exploring the influence of family structure on young people's healthy eating dispositions. *Sport, Education & Society, 20*(3), 323-339. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=s3h&AN=100987061&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Rasberry, C. N., Slade, S., Lohrmann, D. K., & Valois, R. F. (2015). Lessons Learned From the Whole Child and Coordinated School Health Approaches. *Journal of School Health,* 85(11), 759-765. doi:10.1111/josh.12307
- Rausch, J. C., Berger-Jenkins, E., Nieto, A. R., McCord, M., & Meyer, D. (2015). Effect of a School-Based Intervention on Parents' Nutrition and Exercise Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behaviors. *American Journal of Health Education, 46*(1), 33-39. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1050194&site=eds-live&scope=site http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2014.977411
- REAL Kids Alberta. (2011). Raising healthy Eating and Active Living Kids in Alberta. Retrieved from http://www.realkidsalberta.ca/

- REAL Kids Alberta. (2015). *REAL Kids Alberta downloadable resource*. Retrieved from http://www.realkidsalberta.ca/files/REAL\_Kids\_Alberta\_downloadable\_resource.pdf
- Reinaerts, E., De Nooijer, J., Candel, M., & De Vries, N. (2007). Explaining school children's fruit and vegetable consumption : The contributions of availability, accessibility, exposure, parental consumption and habit in addition to psychosocial factors (English). *Appetite (Print), 48*(2), 248-258. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=fcs&AN=18539304&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Rey-López, J. P., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., Biosca, M., & Moreno, L. A. (2008). Review:
  Sedentary behaviour and obesity development in children and adolescents. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 18*, 242-251.
  doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2007.07.008
- Reynolds, K. D., Franklin, F. A., Binkley, D., Raczynski, J. M., Harrington, K. F., Kirk, K. A., & Person, S. (2000). Regular Article: Increasing the Fruit and Vegetable Consumption of Fourth-Graders: Results from the High 5 Project. *Preventive Medicine*, *30*, 309-319. doi:10.1006/pmed.1999.0630
- Rhee, K. (2008). Childhood overweight and the relationship between parent behaviors, parenting style, and family functioning. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 12. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl.173372910&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Richards, L., & Morse, J. M. (2007). *User's guide to qualitative methods* (2 ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Ltd.

- Richter, K. P., Harris, K. J., Paine-Andrews, A., Fawcett, S. B., Schmid, T. L., Lankenau, B. H., & Johnston, J. (2000). Measuring the Health Environment for Physical Activity and Nutrition among Youth: A Review of the Literature and Applications for Community Initiatives. *Preventive Medicine, 31*, S98-S111. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsbl&AN=RN082738198&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Riding, R., & Mathias, D. (1991). Cognitive Styles and Preferred Learning Mode, Reading Attainment, and Cognitive Ability in 11-Year-Old Children. *Educational Psychology: An International Journal of Experimental Educational Psychology, 11*(3-4), 383-393.
  Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

```
direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ449313&site=eds-live&scope=site
```

- Roberts, E., Bastian, K., Ekwaru, J. P., Veugelers, P., Gleddie, D., & Storey, K. (2016). The role of the CSH school principal in knowledge sharing and use. *PHEnex*, 8(1).
- Roberts, E., McLeod, N., Montemurro, G., Veugelers, P. J., Gleddie, D., & Storey, K. E. (2015). Implementing Comprehensive School Health in Alberta, Canada: the principal's role. *Health Promotion International*. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=26294754&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Roberts, K. C., Shields, M., de Groh, M., Aziz, A., & Gilbert, J. A. (2012). Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents: Results from the 2009 to 2011 Canadian Health Measures Survey. *health Reports, 23*(3), 37-41. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000314453700005&site=eds-live&scope=site

Roper, J., & Shapira, J. (2000). *Ethnography in Nursing Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Rutten, C., Boen, F., & Seghers, J. (2014). Changes in Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior During the Transition From Elementary to Secondary School. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health, 11*(8), 1607-1613. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=100973260&site=eds-live&scope=site

Rutten, C., Boen, F., & Seghers, J. (2015). Which School- and Home-Based Factors in
Elementary School--Age Children Predict Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in
Secondary School-Age Children? A Prospective Cohort Study. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health, 12*(3), 409-417. Retrieved from
http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
direct=true&db=s3h&AN=102567999&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Sahoo, K., Sahoo, B., Choudhury, A. K., Sufi, N. Y., Kumar, R., & Bhadoria, A. S. (2015). Childhood obesity: causes and consequences. *Journal of Family Medicine & Primary Care, 4*(2), 187-192. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.154628
- Sallis, J. F., & Glanz, K. (2006). The Role of Built Environments in Physical Activity, Eating, and Obesity in Childhood, 89.
- Sallis, J. F., Prochaska, J. J., & Taylor, W. C. (2000). A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 32*(5), 963-975
  913p. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=107119314&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Salmon, J., Timperio, A., Telford, A., Carver, A., & Crawford, D. (2005). Association of family environment with children's television viewing and with low level of physical activity. *Obesity Research, 13*(11), 1939-1951. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=16339126&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Saunders, J., Hume, C., Timperio, A., & Salmon, J. (2012). Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between parenting style and adolescent girls' physical activity. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl.314356614&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Scaglioni, S., Salvioni, M., & Galimberti, C. (2008). Influence of parental attitudes in the development of children eating behaviour. *BRITISH JOURNAL OF NUTRITION*, 99, S22-S25. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000253679700005&site=eds-live&scope=site

Schary, D. P., Cardinal, B. J., & Loprinzi, P. D. (2012). Parental Support Exceeds Parenting Style for Promoting Active Play in Preschool Children. *Early Child Development and Care, 182*(8), 1057-1069. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ992627&site=eds-live&scope=site http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2012.685622 Schoeppe, S., Duncan, M. J., Badland, H., Oliver, M., & Curtis, C. (2013). Associations of children's independent mobility and active travel with physical activity, sedentary behaviour and weight status: A systematic review. *Journal of Science & Medicine in Sport, 16*(4), 312-319. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=89119690&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Schwartz, M., Karunamuni, N. D., & Veugelers, P. J. (2010). Tailoring and implementing comprehensive school health: The Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in schools. *PHEnex*, 2(1), 1-15.
- Schwartz, M. B., & Puhl, R. (2003). Childhood obesity: a societal problem to solve. *Obesity Reviews, 4*(1), 57-71. doi:10.1046/j.1467-789X.2003.00093.x

Seale, C. (1999). The Quality of Qualitative Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Sheridan, S. M. (2007). Conjoint Behavioral Consultation : Promoting Family-School Connections and Interventions: Springer US.
- Shields, M. (2005). Nutrition: Findings from the Canadian Community Health Survey: Measured Obesity: Overweight Canadian children and adolescents. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.ca/english/research/82-620-MIE/2005001/pdf/cobesity.pdf
- Shields, M. (2006). Overweight and obesity among children and youth. *Health Rep, 17*(3), 2742. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citati on&list\_uids=16981484
- Simen-Kapeu, A., & Veugelers, P. J. (2010). Socio-economic gradients in health behaviours and overweight among children in distinct economic settings. *Canadian Journal of Public*

Health, 101, S32-36. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=104861084&site=eds-live&scope=site

Singh, A. S., Mulder, C., Twisk, J. W. R., van Mechelen, W., & Chinapaw, M. J. M. (2008).Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature.*Obesity Reviews*(5). Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsagr&AN=edsagr.US201300924782&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Skafida, V. (2013). The family meal panacea: exploring how different aspects of family meal occurrence, meal habits and meal enjoyment relate to young children's diets (English).
  Sociology of health & illness (Print), 35(6), 906-923. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=fcs&AN=27530921&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Sobol-Goldberg, S., Rabinowitz, J., & Gross, R. (2013). School-based obesity prevention programs: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 21(12), 2422-2428. doi:10.1002/oby.20515
- Sormunen, M., Tossavainen, K., & Turunen, H. (2011). Home-School Collaboration in the View of Fourth Grade Pupils, Parents, Teachers, and Principals in the Finnish Education System. *School Community Journal, 21*(2), 185-211. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ957133&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Sotos-Prieto, M., Santos-Beneit, G., Pocock, S., Redondo, J., Fuster, V., & Peñalvo, J. L. (2015). Parental and self-reported dietary and physical activity habits in pre-school children and

their socio-economic determinants. *Public Health Nutr, 18*(2), 275-285. doi:10.1017/S1368980014000330

Spanier, P. A., Marshall, S. J., & Faulkner, G. E. (2006). Tackling the Obesity Pandemic: A Call for Sedentary Behaviour Research, 255.

Sparling, P. B., Franklin, B. A., & Hill, J. O. (2013). Energy Balance THE KEY TO A UNIFIED MESSAGE ON DIET AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY. JOURNAL OF CARDIOPULMONARY REHABILITATION AND PREVENTION, 33(1), 12-15. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000313453300002&site=eds-live&scope=site

St Leger, L. H. (1999). The opportunities and effectiveness of the health promoting primary school in improving child health - a review of the claims and evidence. *Health Education Research*, 14(1), 51-69. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswss&AN=000078692900007&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Stanley, R. S., Boshoff, K., & Dollman, J. (2013). A Qualitative Exploration of the "Critical Window": Factors Affecting Australian Children's After-School Physical Activity. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health, 10*(1), 33-41. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=84644186&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Starkman, N. (2006). Connecting in Your Classroom : 18 Teachers Tell How They Foster the Relationships That Lead to Student Success. Minneapolis, MN: Independent Publishers Group.

- Statistics Canada. (2015). *Fruit and vegetable consumption, 2014*. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2015001/article/14182-eng.htm
- Steckler, A., Ethelbah, B., Martin, C. J., Stewart, D. D., Pardilla, M. N., Gittelsohn, J., ... Vu,
  M. B. (2002). Lessons Learned from the Pathways Process Evaluation. In L. Linnan & A.
  Steckler (Eds.), *Process evaluation for public health interventions and research* (pp. 268-285). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Sterdt, E., Liersch, S., & Walter, U. (2014). Correlates of Physical Activity of Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review of Reviews. *Health Education Journal*, 73(1), 72-89. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1020483&site=eds-live&scope=site

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0017896912469578

- Stewart-Brown, S. (2006). What is the evidence on school health promotion in improving health or preventing disease and specifically, what is the effectiveness of the health promoting schools approach? Retrieved from http://www.euro.who.int/document/e88185.pdf
- Stolp, S., Wilkins, E., & Raine, K. D. (2015). Developing and sustaining a healthy school community: Essential elements identified by school health champions. *Health Education Journal*, 74(3), 299-311. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=s3h&AN=102120801&site=eds-live&scope=site

Storey, K. E., Cunningham, C., Spitters, H., & Schwartz, M. (2012a). Sustaining comprehensive school health: teachers' perceptions of the APPLE Schools project. Paper presented at the Canadian Public Health Association 2012 Annual Conference, Edmonton.

- Storey, K. E., Cunningham, C., Spitters, H., Schwartz, M., & Veugelers, P. J. (2012b). The Sustainability of APPLE Schools: Teachers' Perceptions. *Physical & Health Education Journal*, 78(3), 16-22. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=92508563&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Storey, K. E., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Schwarts, M., Wright, E., Osler, J., . . . Roberts, E. (under review). Essential conditions for the implementation of comprehensive school health to achieve changes in school culture and improvements in health behaviors of students.
- Storey, K. E., Montemurro, G., Schwartz, M., Farmer, A., & Veugelers, P. (2015). Preparing school health facilitators: building competence and confidence for a new role. *PHENex Journal*, 3(2), 18.
- Storey, K. E., Spitters, H., Cunningham, C., Schwartz, M., & Veugelers, P. J. (2011).
  Implementing Comprehensive School Health: Teachers' perceptions of the Alberta
  Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating APPLE Schools. *PHEnex*, 3(2), 1-18.
- Story, M., Kaphingst, K. M., Robinson-O'Brien, R., & Glanz, K. (2008). Creating Healthy Food and Eating Environments: Policy and Environmental Approaches. *Annual Review of Public Health, 29*(1), 253-272. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090926
- Sweetman, C., McGowan, L., Croker, H., & Cooke, L. (2011). Research: Characteristics of Family Mealtimes Affecting Children's Vegetable Consumption and Liking. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 111, 269-273. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.10.050

Tandon, P., Grow, H. M., Couch, S., Glanz, K., Sallis, J. F., Frank, L. D., & Saelens, B. E.
(2014). Physical and social home environment in relation to children's overall and homebased physical activity and sedentary time. *Preventive Medicine*, *66*, 39-44.
doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.05.019

- Taylor, J. P., Evers, S., & McKenna, M. (2005). Determinants of Healthy Eating in Children and Youth, S20.
- Telama, R., Xiaolin, Y., Leskinen, E., KankaanpÄÄ, A., Hirvensalo, M., Tammelin, T., . . .
  Raitakari, O. T. (2014). Tracking of Physical Activity from Early Childhood through
  Youth into Adulthood. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 46*(5), 955-962.
  Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=s3h&AN=95682617&site=eds-live&scope=site

The Leader in Me. (2016). Retrieved from http://www.theleaderinme.org/

- Tinsley, B. J. (2003). *How Children Learn to Be Healthy*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Tran, B. X., Ohinmaa, A., Kuhle, S., Johnson, J. A., & Veugelers, P. J. (2014). Life Course Impact of School-Based Promotion of Healthy Eating and Active Living to Prevent Childhood Obesity. *PloS one*, 9(7), 1-8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102242
- Tremblay, M. S., Barnes, J., & Janson, K. (2015). The biggest risk is keeping kids indoors : the 2015 ParticipACTION report card on physical activity for children and youth: Toronto, Ontario : ParticipACTION, 2015.
- Tremblay, M. S., Colley, R. C., Saunders, T. J., Healy, G. N., & Owen, N. (2010). Physiological and health implications of a sedentary lifestyle. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition &*

Metabolism, 35(6), 725-740. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=55820649&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Tremblay, M. S., LeBlanc, A. G., Kho, M. E., Saunders, T. J., Larouche, R., Colley, R. C., ...
  Gorber, S. C. (2011a). Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF BEHAVIORAL NUTRITION AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY*, 8. Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
  direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000296499200001&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Tremblay, M. S., LeBlanc, A. G., Kho, M. E., Saunders, T. J., Larouche, R., Colley, R. C., . . . Gorber, S. C. (2011b). Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, 8(1), 98-119. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-8-98
- Trochim, W. M., & Donnelly, J. E. (2007). *Research methods knowledge base*. Mason, OH: Thomson Corporation.
- Trost, S. G., & Loprinzi, P. D. (2011). Parental Influences on Physical Activity Behavior in Children and Adolescents: A Brief Review. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 5(2), 171. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=edb&AN=60978506&site=eds-live&scope=site

Trudeau, F., & Shephard, R. J. (2008). Physical education, school physical activity, school sports and academic performance. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*, 5, 10. doi:1479-5868-5-10 [pii] 10.1186/1479-5868-5-10

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2008). 2008 Physical activity guidelines for Americans. Retrieved from http://health.gov/paguidelines/pdf/paguide.pdf
- van der Horst, K., Ferrage, A., & Rytz, A. (2014). Involving children in meal preparation. Effects on food intake. *Appetite*, *79*, 18-24 17p. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2014.03.030

Van Der Horst, K., Oenema, A., Ferreira, I., Wendel-Vos, W., Giskes, K., Van Lenthe, F., & Brug, J. (2007). A systematic review of environmental correlates of obesity-related dietary behaviors in youth. *Health Educ Res*, 22(2), 203-226. Retrieved from http://www.scopus.com/scopus/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-33947305611&partnerID=40

- van Sluijs, E. M. F., McMinn, A. M., & Griffin, S. J. (2008). Effectiveness of interventions to promote physical activity in children and adolescents: systemic review of controlled trials. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 42(8), 653-657. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=34257995&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Vander Ploeg, K., Maximova, K., McGavock, J., Davis, W., & Veugelers, P. (2014a). Do school-based physical activity interventions increase or reduce inequalities in health? *Social Science & Medicine*, 80. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.04.032
- Vander Ploeg, K., McGavock, J., Maximova, K., & Veugelers, P. J. (2014b). School-based health promotion and physical activity during and after school hours. *Pediatrics*, 133(2), e371-e378. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-2383
- Vander Ploeg, K. A., Kuhle, S., Maximova, K., McGavock, J., Biao, W., & Veugelers, P. J. (2013). The importance of parental beliefs and support for pedometer-measured physical
activity on school days and weekend days among Canadian children. *BMC Public Health, 13*(1), 1-16. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-1132

Vander Ploeg, K. A., Maximova, K., Kuhle, S., Simen-Kapeu, A., & Veugelers, P. J. (2012). The importance of parental beliefs and support for physical activity and body weights of children: a population-based analysis. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*(4), 277.
Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsggo&AN=edsgcl.305660774&site=eds-live&scope=site

Vaughan, C., Gack, J., Solorazano, H., & Ray, R. (2003). The Effect of Environmental Education on Schoolchildren, Their Parents, and Community Members: A Study of Intergenerational and Intercommunity Learning. *Journal of Environmental Education, 34*(3), 12-21. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=10608320&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Ventura, A. K., & Birch, L. L. (2008). Does parenting affect children's eating and weight status? International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity, 5, 1-12. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-5-15
- Verloigne, M., Van Lippevelde, W., Maes, L., Brug, J., & De Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2012). Familyand school-based correlates of energy balance-related behaviours in 10-12-year-old children: a systematic review within the ENERGY (EuropeaN Energy balance Research to prevent excessive weight Gain among Youth) project. *Public Health Nutr, 15*(8), 1380-1395. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=000307187000009&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Veugelers, P., Sithole, F., Zhang, S., & Muhajarine, N. (2008). Neighborhood characteristics in relation to diet, physical activity and overweight of Canadian children. *Int J Pediatr Obes*, 3(3), 152-159. doi:10.1080/17477160801970278
- Veugelers, P. J., & Fitzgerald, A. L. (2005). Effectiveness of School Programs in Preventing Childhood Obesity: A Multilevel Comparison. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(3), 432-435. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=s3h&AN=16260707&site=eds-live&scope=site

Veugelers, P. J., & Schwartz, M. E. (2010). Comprehensive school health in Canada. Can J Public Health, 101 Suppl 2, S5-8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citati on&list\_uids=21133195

- Vine, M. M., & Elliott, S. J. (2014). Exploring the School Nutrition Policy Environment in Canada Using the ANGELO Framework. *Health Promotion Practice*, 15(3), 331-339 339p. doi:10.1177/1524839913498087
- Walker, R. E., Keane, C. R., & Burke, J. G. (2010). Disparities and access to healthy food in the United States: A review of food deserts literature. *Health & place, 16*(5), 876-884. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.04.013
- Wang, C. (2006). Youth participation in photovoice as a strategy for community change. *Journal of Community Practice, 14*(1/2), 147-161. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=apn&AN=ALTP542497&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Wang, C., & Burris, M. A. (1994). Empowerment through Photo Novella: Portraits of Participation. *Health Education & Behavior*, 21(2), 171. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edb&AN=53601913&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Wang, C., & Burris, M. A. (1997). Photovoice: Concept, methodology, and use for participatory needs assessment. *Health Education & Behavior*, 24(3), 369. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=9710051431&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Wang, C., Burris, M. A., & Ping, X. Y. (1996). Chinese village women as visual anthropologists: a participatory approach to reaching policymakers. *Social Science & Medicine*(10), 1391. Retrieved from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl.18506426&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Wang, Y., Wu, Y., Wilson, R. F., Bleich, S., Cheskin, L., Weston, C., . . . Segal, J. (2013).
  Childhood Obesity Prevention Programs: Comparative Effectiveness Review and Meta-Analysis. Retrieved from
  http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
  direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=23865092&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Webber, K. J., & Loescher, L. J. (2013). A systematic review of parent role modeling of healthy eating and physical activity for their young African American children. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, 18(3), 173-188 116p. doi:10.1111/jspn.12033

- Weber, K., Story, M., & Harnack, L. (2006). Internet food marketing strategies aimed at children and adolescents: a content analysis of food and beverage brand Web sites. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 106*(9), 1463-1466. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=106212244&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Wilson, N., Minkler, M., Dasho, S., Wallerstein, N., & Martin, A. C. (2008). Getting to social action: the Youth Empowerment Strategies (YES!) project. *Health Promotion Practice,* 9(4), 395-403 399p. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=105568349&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Wit, J. B. F., Stok, F. M., Smolenski, D. J., Ridder, D. D. T., Vet, E., Gaspar, T., . . .
  Luszczynska, A. (2015). Food Culture in the Home Environment: Family Meal Practices and Values Can Support Healthy Eating and Self-Regulation in Young People in Four European Countries. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*(1), 22. doi:10.1111/aphw.12034
- Woodruff, S. J., & Hanning, R. M. (2008). A review of family meal influence on adolescents' dietary intake. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice & Research, 69*(1), 14-22 19p.
   Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

direct=true&db=rzh&AN=105734555&site=eds-live&scope=site

World Health Organization. (1986a). *Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion*. Retrieved from Geneva:

- World Health Organization. (1986b). Ottawa charter for health promotion: an International Conference on Health Promotion, the move towards a new public health. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/
- World Health Organization. (1997). The Jakarta declaration on leading health promotion into the 21st century. *Health Promotion International*, 12(4), 261. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=her&AN=4484475&site=eds-live&scope=site
- World Health Organization. (1998). Health-promoting schools: a healthy setting for living, learning and working. Retrieved from http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/1998/WHO HPR HEP 98.4.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2016a). The determinants of health. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/hia/evidence/doh/en/
- World Health Organization. (2016b). Global school health initiative. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/school\_youth\_health/gshi/en/
- World Health Organization. (2016c). Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/childhood\_why/en/
- World Health Organization. (2016d). What is a health promoting school? Retrieved from http://www.who.int/school\_youth\_health/gshi/hps/en/
- Xin, W., Qing-Min, L., Yan-Jun, R., Jun, L., & Li-Ming, L. (2015). Family influences on physical activity and sedentary behaviours in Chinese junior high school students: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), 1-9. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-1593-9
- Yannakoulia, M., Lykou, A., Kastorini, C. M., Saranti Papasaranti, E., Petralias, A., Veloudaki, A., . . . Team, D. P. R. (2016). Socio-economic and lifestyle parameters associated with

diet quality of children and adolescents using classification and regression tree analysis: the DIATROFI study. *Public Health Nutr, 19*(2), 339-347. doi:10.1017/S136898001500110X

Yuen, L. H. (2011). Enhancing home-school collaboration through children's expression.
 *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 19(1), 147-158.
 doi:10.1080/1350293X.2011.548963

Zenk, S. N., Lachance, L. L., Schulz, A. J., Mentz, G., Kannan, S., & Ridella, W. (2009).
Neighborhood Retail Food Environment and Fruit and Vegetable Intake in a Multiethnic
Urban Population. *American Journal of Health Promotion, 23*(4), 255-264. Retrieved
from

http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=her&AN=36986857&site=eds-live&scope=site

# **APPENDIX A: Project Information Letter for Teachers and Administrators**

# ALBERTA

SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

**Title of Study: Using Photographs to Explore the Reach of APPLE Schools** Study Coordinator: Christine McKernan, MSc Student, 780-492-2565 Principal Investigator: Dr. Kate Storey, PhD., RD, 780-492-9609

Required Class Time: 3 visits for a total of 1 hour of class time, plus individual interview time



#### **Research Project Overview:**

The purpose of this project is to explore students' perceptions of their involvement in APPLE Schools, and to identify what APPLE Schools looks like to them at home. This will be achieved using a method called Photovoice. Photovoice will involve students taking pictures which demonstrate the presence of Comprehensive School Health (more specifically, APPLE Schools) in their home. These photos will be used to supplement a subsequent one-on-one interview. After parent and student consent forms have been completed, the project will require the Study Coordinator's facilitation in the classroom over three separate stages (see curricular links document for more information):

#### Stage 1: Class time required: approximately 30 minutes (all students):

The study coordinator (Christine McKernan) will introduce and explain the research project to the class. During this initial meeting, students will have an opportunity to brainstorm and share their experiences of being part of an APPLE School to orient them to the research. Each student will receive a disposable camera and written instructions on proper photo-taking etiquette. These instructions will be reiterated orally.

- To maximize student involvement in stages 1 and 3 of this project, cameras will be given to all students. However, we anticipate that not all students will return their parent consent forms. Thus only students with signed and completed consent forms will partake in Stage 2.
- Students will have one week to take their photos. They will then be asked to return their cameras to their classroom teacher and the Study Coordinator will collect the cameras.
- Each student will receive a copy of their photos to keep.

#### Stage 2: Time required: approximately 20-30 minutes/ interview (only students with signed consent forms):

The second stage involves individual one-on-one interviews with students who returned their signed consent forms. These interviews will be conducted individually with students at school either during class time (pulled out individually), at lunch, during recess, or before or after school. Interviews will take place in a quiet classroom or office, and will be audio recorded. Students will be reminded that their participation is completely voluntary, and that they can withdraw their involvement at any point in time.

#### Stage 3: Class time required: approximately 30 minutes (all students):

The third stage of this project involves a classroom discussion to get students' feedback on the phototaking activity. This collective discussion may bring forward new ideas and plans for action, and aligns well with inquiry-based learning. Students will have an opportunity to provide their opinions on whether or not the findings from the individual interviews were reflected in the collective thoughts, values and opinions shared by others in the class. This meeting will also be an opportunity to brainstorm a creative way for students to share the results of this photovoice activity with their school community (e.g.; poster or PowerPoint presentation).

# **APPENDIX B: Grade 5 Curricular Links**

# ALBERTA

# Title of Study: Using Photographs to Explore the Reach of APPLE Schools

Concurrent Grade 5 Learning Objectives

General Outcome	Specific Outcomes	Relevance to Research Project		
HEALTH AND LIFE SKILLS				
W- 5.7 Safety and Responsibility	<ul> <li>Identify personal boundaries, and recognize that boundaries vary depending on the nature of relationship, situation and culture</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students will follow photo-taking instructions and will be respectful and safe throughout the photo-taking process. Students will be mindful not to take photos of people.</li> </ul>		
R- 5.4 Understanding and Expressing Feelings	<ul> <li>Practise effective communication skills; e.g., active listening, perception checks</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students will effectively brainstorm and share their ideas about APPLE Schools in a group setting</li> <li>Students will use visual methods (photographs) in a meaningful manner in order to communicate their ideas</li> </ul>		
R-5.9 Group Roles and Processes	• Explore respectful communication strategies that foster group/team development; e.g., encourage participation of all group members	<ul> <li>Students will be encouraged to brainstorm ideas in an inclusive manner to ensure all voices and ideas are heard</li> </ul>		
	PHYSICAL EDUCAT	ION		
<b>B5- Functional</b> Fitness	<ul> <li>B5-1: Explain the relationship between nutritional habits and physical activity</li> </ul>	• Students will explore the healthy eating and active living habits learned within their school, and share their understandings of the significance of these behaviours during brainstorming session		
B5- Well-being	<ul> <li>B5-6: Infer positive benefits gained from specific physical activities</li> </ul>	• Students will verbally communicate the importance of daily physical activity, using examples learned in school		

Stage 1 - Brainstorming and H	Reflective Photo-taking
-------------------------------	-------------------------

#### Stage 2 – Individual Interviews

Subject	Specific Outcomes	Relevance to Research Project	
LANGUAGE ARTS			
1.1 Discover and Explore	Express ideas and develop understanding		
Lapore	<ul> <li>Use appropriate prior knowledge and experiences to make sense of new ideas and information</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students will be asked to explore and identify how their understandings of the APPLE Schools are present in their home environment by taking photos in their home and discussing the</li> </ul>	



	<ul> <li>Read, write, represent and talk to explore personal understandings of new ideas and information</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>photographs in one-on-one interviews</li> <li>Students will link their ideas and verbal responses to the photos they have taken</li> </ul>
2.2 Respond to Texts	<ul> <li>Use own experiences as a basis for exploring and expressing opinions and understanding</li> <li><i>Experiment with language and forms</i></li> <li>Select from provided forms of oral, print and other media texts those that best organize ideas and information and develop understanding of topics</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Individual interviews will encourage students to draw on personal experiences and opinions about the presence of APPLE Schools in their home</li> <li>Throughout the discussion, students will be asked to identify the photos which best represent the ideas that they are verbally sharing</li> </ul>
1.4 Share and Review	<ul> <li>Construct meaning from texts</li> <li>Compare characters and situations portrayed in oral, print and other media texts to those encountered in the classroom and community</li> <li>Support own interpretations of oral, print and other media texts, using evidence from personal experiences and the texts</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students will compare and contrast experiences they have in their school with the photos and ideas taken from their home environment</li> <li>Anecdotal stories and personal opinions will explored in the interview process in order to understand the students' perceptions of APPLE Schools and its influence within the home</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Share ideas and information</li> <li>Communicate ideas and information in a variety of oral, print and other media texts, such as illustrated reports, charts, graphic displays and travelogues</li> <li>Select visuals, print and/or other media to inform and engage the audience</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students will be asked to respond to questions orally, while utilizing the visual aid of their photographs to provide evidence of these topics</li> <li>Students select appropriate photographs to support their ideas throughout the discussion</li> </ul>
	HEALTH AND LIF	ESKILLS
W-5 Personal Health	• Various	• It is to be expected that various themes involving personal health, particularly relating to healthy eating and active living, will be explored
L-5.4 Learning Strategies	<ul> <li>Analyze factors that affect the planning and attaining of goals;</li> <li>e.g., personal commitment, habits</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students will have the opportunity to explore how their school and home environments shape their lifestyle choices</li> </ul>

Page 2 of 4



#### SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Specific Outcomes	Relevance to Research Project
<ul> <li>Consider others' ideas</li> <li>Seek others' viewpoints to build on personal responses and understanding</li> <li>Combine ideas</li> <li>Use talk, notes, personal writing and representing to explore relationships among own ideas and experiences, those of others and those encountered in oral, print and other media texts</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students will engage in a group discussion regarding the photos that they and their classmates have taken in order to identify and confirm themes that exist</li> <li>Photos taken by a variety of students will be explored and organized in order to determine which pictures best represent the oral responses and themes</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Extend Understanding</li> <li>Search for further ideas and information from others and from oral, print and other media texts to extend learning</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Brainstorming of a creative way to share the findings of this project with family, teachers and school community</li> <li>Once the final project is completed, students will be encouraged to share the project and its findings with others</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Organize Information</li> <li>Organize ideas and information to emphasize key points for the audience</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Students will collaboratively match photos to the themes that have verbally been identified</li> <li>Students will organize their ideas by identifying the major themes which exist</li> </ul>
Add, delete or combine ideas to communicate more effectively	<ul> <li>Selected findings from interviews may be combined, removed or added based on group discussions in order to ensure results are accurately displayed</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Evaluate information</li> <li>Connect gathered information to prior knowledge to reach new conclusions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Discussion will conclude with students reflecting on findings and brainstorming the implications of their results</li> </ul>
HEALTH AND WEL	LBEING
Various	<ul> <li>It is to be expected that various themes involving personal health, particularly relating to healthy eating and active living, will be explored in the group discussion</li> </ul>
	LANGUAGE ARI         Consider others' ideas         • Seek others' viewpoints to build on personal responses and understanding         Combine ideas         • Use talk, notes, personal writing and representing to explore relationships among own ideas and experiences, those of others and those encountered in oral, print and other media texts         Extend Understanding         • Search for further ideas and information from others and from oral, print and other media texts to extend learning         Organize Information       • Organize ideas and information to emphasize key points for the audience         • Add, delete or combine ideas to communicate more effectively         Evaluate information       • Connect gathered information to prior knowledge to reach new conclusions

Page **3** of **4** 



# All students will be given a copy of their photos to keep. Some creative ideas for using photos in the classroom include:

- · Creating a poster or bulletin board on healthy eating and active living at home
- Putting photos in a Venn diagram to answer the question of "Where are you the healthiest? School or home? Why?"
- Have students pretend to be a news reporter and creating a newspaper article about their photos
- Making a collage with the photos
- Having students choose their favourite photo(s) and narrate a story or create a journal about the pictures. Links to larger language arts project.
- Building a cartoon or comic by cutting out photos and incorporating them into the cartoon about health

Page 4 of 4

# **APPENDIX C: Parent Information Letter**



#### To the Parents or Guardians of Grade 5 Students

**Title of Study: Using Photographs to Explore the Reach of APPLE Schools** Study Coordinator: Christine McKernan, MSc Student, 780-492-2565 Principal Investigator: Dr. Kate Storey, PhD., RD, 780-492-9609

#### <u>Background</u>

Your child is invited to participate in a research project involving photo-taking and one-on-one interviews. Your child has been chosen to participate because he or she is a student at an APPLE School. The results of this research will be used in support of Ms. McKernan's Master's thesis research.

#### <u>Purpose</u>

Students have an important role in APPLE Schools, and we would like to gain a better understanding of their views. The home environment is shown to play a large role in health outcomes. The purpose of this study is to increase our knowledge of student perceptions of APPLE Schools in the home environment. These findings are important because they can inform us of the effectiveness of APPLE Schools.

#### Study Procedures

Participation in this research involves three steps:

- 1. First, the whole class will meet with the researcher and get verbal instructions about the project. The students' role and the project goals will be explained. Each child will receive a camera and written instructions about its proper use. Your child will be asked to take photos of what APPLE Schools looks like in their home environment. Children may take as many photos as they wish but they will be asked to not include photos of themselves or other people. Students will have one week to take their photos, then the cameras will be collected by the researcher and photos will be developed. Students will get a copy of their own photographs to keep.
- 2. The second part of this project involves a one-on-one interview with your child at the school. The photos that your child has taken will be used in the interview as topics for discussion. Your child will be asked to describe the photos they have taken and how these photos relate to APPLE Schools. The interview will take 20-30 minutes. Students may be asked to complete interviews before or after school, during lunchtime or recess break, or during class time (with teacher permission).
- 3. Lastly, a meeting will be held with the whole class to talk about the interview findings as a class. This final meeting will ensure that the research results are true to the students' beliefs.

#### <u>Benefits</u>

Sharing the ideas your child has will give us a better understanding of their experiences in an APPLE School. The information they provide will help guide future project success and improve the services provided. The information we gather will also be useful to understand the project's impact beyond the school environment. All students will receive a copy of their own photographs to keep. This project fits within multiple objectives in the Grade 5 Alberta Education curriculum.



#### <u>Risks</u>

There are no known risks associated with participating in this study. If any of the questions asked in the interview make your child feel uncomfortable, they can choose not to answer them. You or your child may ask for a copy of their photographs at any time. Any information you wish not to be included will be removed.

#### Voluntary Participation

Taking part in this project is completely voluntary. There will be no negative effects if your child does not want to participate. Students who do not participate in this research will still be given a camera to take photos, however these photos and views will not be included in any official research findings. Once parental consent is given, verbal student assent will also be given before students can participate. Interviews will be audio recorded and your child will have a clear understanding that they can request to shut off the audio recording and end the interview at any point in time. Your child's information will be removed from the study without consequences if you and/or your child decide later that they do not want to participate. If you or your child wishes to withdraw or have any other questions, you may contact Christine McKernan at the email address or phone number listed below.

#### Confidentiality & Anonymity

Your child's privacy will be maintained. To protect your child's identity, the photos will not be linked with any names. Your child will be given a false name for interview transcription and publishing purposes. We want to emphasize that any information provided throughout the interview will be kept confidential and will not be shared with any other individual. We will not record any personal information in the written records and to protect against personal information being released, we will ensure that your child's participation in this study, and any information that they provide, remains confidential. All information will be stored in a locked file cabinet in a locked office at the University of Alberta. Electronic copies of transcripts will be stored on a password protected secure server. Only members of the research team will have access to this information. The photographs, audio recordings and transcripts are kept for five years after the data are published, after which they will be destroyed.

#### Further Information

If you have any further questions regarding this study, please do not hesitate to contact:

Christine McKernan, MSc Student: cmckerna@ualberta.ca, (780) 492-2565 Dr. Kate Storey, PhD, RD: kate.storey@ualberta.ca, (780) 492-9609

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

# **APPENDIX D: Parental Consent Form**

# ALBERTA

#### Title of Study: Using Photographs to Explore the Reach of APPLE Schools

Study Coordinator	Principal Investigator
Christine McKernan	Dr. Kate Storey, PhD, RD
MSc Health Promotion Student	Assistant Professor
School of Public Health	School of Public Health
University of Alberta	University of Alberta
Tel (780) 492-2565	Tel (780) 492-9609
E-mail: cmckerna@ualberta.ca	E-mail: kate.storey@ualberta.ca

Do you understand that your child has been asked to participate in a research	h study?	Yes	No
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in allowing your child to in this research study?	take part	Yes	No
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study with yo	our child?	Yes	No
Do you understand that your child is free to refuse to participate, or to withd the study at any time, without consequence, and that their information withdrawn at either your child's or your own request?		Yes	No
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you? Do you understand have access to your child's information?	who will	Yes	No

I agree to allow my child to take part in this study:

Child's name

Signature of Students' Parent or Legal Guardian Date

Witness

Printed Name

Printed Name

I believe that the person signing this form understands what is involved in the study and voluntarily agrees to participate.

Signature of Investigator or Designee

Date

#### **Contact Information:**

If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research participant, please contact the University of Alberta Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615 (collect calls are accepted)

# **APPENDIX E: Classroom Brainstorming Session Overview**



#### Session 1: Brainstorming

#### 1. Introductions

- From the University of Alberta and doing a research project
- "Before we get to the cameras, I need your help with some brainstorming..."
- 2. We want to learn more about APPLE Schools
  - "Do you know that you're part of an APPLE School?"
  - Share your experiences/past activities
  - What makes APPLE Schools special/different?
  - Reference SHF
- 3. Individual brainstorming (3 minutes)
  - Everyone gets a piece of paper
  - Brainstorm what APPLE looks like at (school)
- 4. Introduce the word web
  - Example re: winter
    - Activities: sledding, skating, making snowman
    - Clothes: mittens, coat, snow pants, toque
    - Weather: cold, snow, windy, icy
  - o Groups of 4-5; one paper and marker
  - 5 minutes to make a word web of "What does APPLE Schools look like at (school name)?"
- 5. Go around to groups and listen to conversation and suggestions
- 6. Group Discussion: Popcorn sharing
  - Groups share their responses
  - Write on the white board/paper
- 7. Introduce research
  - "We just talked about what APPLE looks like at (school name). Now I need your help to learn what APPLE looks like at home"
  - Each student will get 1 camera to take home and take pictures of what APPLE Schools looks like in their home

#### Brainstorm 3 things that we can take pictures of at home

- 8. Hand out photo-taking instructions
  - Go through as a class
- 9. Camera DEMO
  - i. Hold flash button until light shines
  - ii. Wind the dial until number goes down
  - iii. Look through the window
  - iv. Press button at the top of the camera (demo)
- 10. Give out consent forms and reiterate the importance of participation
- 11. Give students a camera- practice holding down the flash but DONT wind the dial!
- 12. Everyone writes their names on their cameras

# **APPENDIX F: Photo-taking Instructions**

Your mission is to use your camera to take photos that answer the following question:

# What does APPLE Schools look like in your home?

#### Please remember the following rules:

- Take at least 20 photos.
- Do take pictures of anything that is not a person. Do not take photos of people.
- Stay safe when taking your pictures! For example, don't stand on a wobbly chair to take a picture.
- Photos should be clear (not blurry!) and thoughtful. Remember, you will be asked to explain the reason why you took your photos!

There are no wrong answers or ideas. Be creative and have fun taking your photos! It is your job to ensure your camera is returned to your teacher by (date).



# **APPENDIX G: Interview Guide**

#### Photovoice Interview Guide

Recording Number	
Child Name	
School Name	
Grade Level	
Male/Female	
Age	
How long have you been at this school?	
Home Demographics	
Who lives there (# and type)	
Type of dwelling	

#### 1. <u>SELECTING</u>:

- a. Ask: "Select 5 or 6 photos which best represent what APPLE Schools looks like in your home"
  - Interviewer: please label these photos 1-6 with post-it notes accordingly, in order to correctly references photos during data analysis

### <u>CONTEXTUALIZING/STORY-TELLING</u>: Students explain each of the photos and are encouraged to tell a story to describe the situation and why they took the pictures

- a. Guiding questions (for each photo):
  - Why did you take this photo?
  - What do you see here?
  - What's happening in your home?
  - How does this relate to Belmead School?
  - How does this relate to APPLE Schools and what we talked about as a class?
  - Why do you have/do this in your home?
  - Has something you learned in school influenced this behaviour?

#### 3. CODIFYING/THEMING

- a. Group ideas together with the help of the student, if possible
  - Are any of these pictures similar? How so?
- b. Have students give their selected photos a name or title

#### General Discussion Questions:

- Does this picture remind you of something you have done at school?
- How is your home like an APPLE School? How is it different?
- How could we make your home more like an APPLE School?
- What kinds of things do you learn at school and share with your family at home?
- What's an important thing you have learned as an APPLE School that you remember to do at home?

### **APPENDIX H: School Newsletter with Project Results**



www.appleschools.ca www.twitter.ca/appleschools www.facebook.ca/appleschools.ca www.youtube.com/appleschools



SCHOOLS | Alberta Project Promoting active Living & healthy Eating

# Finding #2: Students are driving change to create a healthy home environment for themselves and their families!



Thank you to all the Grade 5 & 6 students, teachers, administrators and APPLE Schools staff for your help with this project. To see even more photos and findings, check out the "Healthy Schools and Healthy Homes" photobooks in your child's school! For more information, please contact: Christine McKernan, MSc Student: cmckerna@ualberta.ca Dr. Kate Storey, PhD, RD: kate.storey@ualberta.ca

R014Kids Return on Investment for Kids' Health





# **APPENDIX I: Photobooks**















<section-header>Students know that they are in charge<br/>of their health at homeImage: the state of the





...and this gives them confidence to drive change to create a healthy home!

Page 9





"We have some (healthy snacks at school) because our teacher usually asks us to help her and that. And then we have some at home 'cause you want to be healthy and all that."

Page 11





"At school IVe desided to try some new food because we were at the store and I saw (the honeydew melon) and then my parents were like frow about we just get this? and we went home and it was my first time trying it and it was healthy."

"(I like) learning all the fun new games I could do at home with my family."



"Cause mostly I would eat not as healthy but when I came to this school they had came to this school they had healthy snacks and I decided to start liking them... (my parents) buy healthy snacks more now."



Page 14









Students monitor unhealthy behaviours in their homes

"We need like- not to stay and play video games all day. We need to go outside and play"



Page 18







# **APPENDIX J: Teacher Information Letter and Consent Form**



SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Tel: 780 492 6408

Fax: 780.492.036

www.publichealth.ualberta.ca

#### INFORMATION LETTER

Project Title: Using Photographs to Explore the Reach of APPLE Schools

3-50 University Terrad

Edmonton, AB T6G 2T4

Principal Investigator	Study Coordinator
Dr. Kate Storey, PhD, RD	Christine McKernan
Assistant Professor	MSc Student
School of Public Health	School of Public Health
Tel (780) 492-9609	Tel (780) 492-2565
E-mail: kate.storey@ualberta.ca	E-mail: cmckerna@ualberta.ca

#### May 16, 2016

#### Dear Teachers:

You are being asked to participate in a structured interview in order to increase our understanding of teachers' perceptions of the APPLE Schools photo project that took place in your classroom. Based upon the research literature, one of the emerging themes to investigate is the transfer of school behaviours into the home environment. Considering how critical it is to understand your perceptions, we want to further deepen our knowledge of how this project could be informally implemented in the classroom setting as a student-centered tool to determine if behaviours fostered in school are reaching the home.

Participation involves a one-on-one structured interview in person, lasting approximately 30 minutes. During the interview you will be asked a series of questions about your experience with the photovoice project. Interviews will be recorded to ensure that the discussion is captured accurately. All interviews will be audio-recorded and transcribed immediately following.

#### Benefits & Risks

Sharing perceptions and observations you and your fellow colleagues have in regards to work you do and your perception of the photovoice project will give a better understanding of the benefits of being an APPLE School. The information you provide may help inform future project effectiveness and improve the services provided. Additionally, the information we gather will be useful for understanding more about the project's process evaluation.

There are no known risks associated with participating in this study. However, if any questions asked in the interview make you feel uncomfortable, you can choose not to answer them. You may ask for a copy of the interview at any time. Any information that you do not wish to be included will be removed.

#### Confidentiality

Your confidentiality will be maintained. To protect your identity, you will be given a false name. We want to emphasize that any information provided throughout the interview should be kept confidential and not shared with any other individual. We will not record any personal information in the written records. To protect against personal information being released, we

www.publichealth.ualberta.ca



3-50 University Terrace Edmonton, AB T6G 2T4

се !Т4 Tel: 780.492.6408 Fax: 780.492.0364

will ensure that your participation in this study, and any information that you provide, remains confidential. Furthermore, all information will be stored in a locked file cabinet in a locked office at the University of Alberta. Electronic copies of transcripts will be stored on a password protected secure server. Only members of the research team will have access to this information. The information is kept for five years after the data are published, after which it will be destroyed.

#### Freedom to withdraw

Taking part in the project is completely voluntary. There will be no negative consequences if you do not want to participate. Your information will be removed from the study without consequences if you decide later that you do not want to participate. If you wish to withdraw or have any other questions, you may contact Kate Storey at the phone number or email address listed below.

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approved by the Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

Sincerely,

K.Str

Kate Storey, PhD, RD School of Public Health University of Alberta Tel (780) 492-9609 kate.storey@ualberta.ca

Page 2 of 2

Page 3 of 3

www.publichealth.ualberta.ca

3-50 University Terrace Edmonton, AB T6G 2T4

### INFORMED CONSENT FORM

#### Project Title: Using Photographs to Explore the Reach of APPLE Schools

Principal Investigator	Study Coordinator			
Dr. Kate Storey Christine McKernan				
Department of Public Health Sciences, MSc Student				
School of Public Health	chool of Public Health School of Public Health			
Tel (780) 492-9609	Tel (780) 492-2565			
E-mail: kate.storey@ualberta.ca	E-mail: cmckerna@ual	berta.ca		
Do you understand that you have been asked to	participate in a research	study?	Yes	No
Have you read and received a copy of the attached Information Sheet?			Yes	No
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this research study?			Yes	No
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?			Yes	No
Do you understand that you are free to refuse to participate, or to withdraw from the study at Yes No any time, without consequence, and that your information will be withdrawn at your request?				No
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you? Do you understand who will have Yes No access to your information?				No
This study was explained to me by:				
I agree to take part in this study:				
Signature of Research Participant	Date	Witness		
Printed Name		Printed Name		
I believe that the person signing this form u participate.	nderstands what is invo	lved in the study and	voluntaril	y agrees to

Signature of Investigator or Designee

Date

#### **Contact Information:**

If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research participant, please contact the University of Alberta Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615 (collect calls are accepted).

Tel: 780.492.6408 Fax: 780.492.0364

ALBERTA

# **APPENDIX K: Teacher Interview Guide**

#### **Guide for Teacher Interviews**

- 1. Get verbal consent to audio record interview:
  - a. "First, I would like to confirm that you are aware this conversation is being audio recorded, and that you can request to have the recorder turned off or end the interview at any time"
- 2. Tell me about the research project that took place in your classroom.
- 3. What other student-centered approaches have you used to understand how students bring school lessons home?
- 4. Is it valuable for your teaching to understand how students bring learning into the home?
- 5. Do you think this approach is an effective way to determine if school behaviours are being transferred home? Why or why not?
- 6. (What worked about this approach? What didn't?)
- 7. Did you receive any student feedback about the project? If so, what?
- 8. Tell me about how your student used the photographs.
  - a. Were there any "surprises" that you observed from your students or the photos?
- 9. Tell me about how you used the Grade 5 curricular links.
  - a. Was there a subject or link that you utilized in particular?
- 10. Is this something you would try again independently in your classroom?
  - a. Why would you try this project again?
  - b. What are some reasons why you might not re-do this project independently?

\*Discuss research findings at the end\*